
 
A meeting of the CABINET will be held in COUNCIL CHAMBER, 
PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, HUNTINGDON PE29 3TN 
on THURSDAY, 12 JUNE 2008 at 11:30 AM and you are requested to 
attend for the transaction of the following business:- 
 
 

APOLOGIES 
 
 (((( 

Contact 
(01480) 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 6) 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of 
the Cabinet held on 15th May 2008. 
 

Mrs H Taylor 
388008 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or 
prejudicial interests and the nature of those interests in relation 
to any agenda item.  Please see Notes 1 and 2 below. 
 

 

3. TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2007/08  
(Pages 7 - 16) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Financial Services 
reviewing the performance of Investment Fund Managers. 
 

S Couper 
388103 

4. BUDGET AND MTP PROCESS 2009-2014  (Pages 17 - 22) 
 

 

 To receive a report by the Head of Financial Services 
 

S Couper 
388103 

5. THE EAST OF ENGLAND PLAN - REVISION OF THE 
REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR THE EAST OF 
ENGLAND  (Pages 23 - 26) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Planning Services 
regarding the East of England Plan – Revision of the Regional 
Spatial Strategy for the East of England issued by the 
Secretary of State. 
 

S Ingram 
388400 

6. LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK - THE CORE 
STRATEGY FOR SUBMISSION TO THE SECRETARY OF 
STATE  (Pages 27 - 406) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Planning Policy Manager 
 

R Probyn 
388430 

7. PROSPEROUS PLACES: TAKING FORWARD THE SUB 
NATIONAL REVIEW OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND 
REGENERATION CONSULATION DOCUMENT  (Pages 407 - 
416) 

 

 



 With the assistance of a report by the Head of Policy and 
Strategic Services, to consider a response to the consultation 
document “Prosperous Places: Taking Forward the Sub 
National Review of Economic Development and Regeneration” 
produced by the Department for Business Enterprise and 
Regulatory Reform.  
 

Ms C Garbett 
388459 

8. ECO-TOWNS: LIVING A GREENER FUTURE - RESPONSE 
TO THE DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES & LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION  (Pages 417 - 420) 

 

 

 With the assistance of a report by the Head of Planning 
Services – to consider a response to the Government’s 
proposal to develop an eco-town site at Hanley Grange in 
South Cambridgeshire as part of their Eco-Towns Initiative. 
 

S Ingram 
388400 

9. EARITH CONSERVATION AREA: BOUNDARY REVIEW 
AND CHARACTER ASSESSMENT STATEMENT  (Pages 421 
- 426) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Planning Policy Manager on 
consultation responses received in respect of the draft 
Conservation Area Boundary Review and Character 
Assessment Statement for Earith. 
 

R Probyn 
388430 

10. THE HEMINGFORDS CONSERVATION AREA: BOUNDARY 
REVIEW AND CHARACTER ASSESSMENT STATEMENT  
(Pages 427 - 434) 

 

 

 By way of a report by the Planning Policy Manager to consider 
the consultation responses received in respect of the draft 
Conservation Area Boundary Review and Character 
Assessment Statement for the Hemingfords. 
 
 

R Probyn 
388430 

11. GROWING SUCCESS - PERFORMANCE MONITORING  
(Pages 435 - 458) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Policy and Strategic 
Services on the Council’s performance against its priority 
objectives over the ensuing year. 
 

H Thackray 
388035 

12. CORPORATE EQUALITY POLICY: ACTION PLAN 
PROGRESS  (Pages 459 - 496) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Policy and Strategic 
Services on progress made to date in respect of the Corporate 
Equality Policy Action Plan. 
 

Mrs L Sboui 
388032 

13. BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION POLICY AND 
PROCEDURES  (Pages 497 - 508) 

 

 



 To consider a report by the Head of Customer Services on the 
outcome of a review of the existing procedure for the sanction 
and prosecution of those persons found to be committing 
benefit fraud.  
 

Mrs J Barber 
388105 

14. REPRESENTATIVES ON ORGANISATIONS 2008/09  (Pages 
509 - 516) 

 

 

 To consider a report by the Head of Administration in relation 
to the appointment/nomination of representatives to serve on a 
variety of organisations.  
 

Mrs H Taylor 
388008 

 Dated this 5 day of June 2008  
 

 

 

 Chief Executive  
 

 
Notes 
 
1.  A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a 

greater extent than other people in the District – 
 

(a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the 
Councillor, their family or any person with whom they had a close 
association; 

 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a 

partner and any company of which they are directors; 
 
 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial 

interest in a class of securities exceeding the nominal value of 
£25,000; or 

 
 (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of 

the public (who has knowledge of the circumstances) would reasonably 
regard the Member’s personal interest as being so significant that it is 
likely to prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 
 

Please contact Mrs H Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer, Tel No. 
01480 388008/e-mail Helen.Taylor@huntsdc.gov.uk /e-mail:   if you have 
a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender your apologies for 
absence from the meeting, or would like information on any decision 
taken by the Cabinet. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed 
towards the Contact Officer.  

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers 



except during consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
 

Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 
www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 

 
 

If you would like a translation of 
Agenda/Minutes/Reports or would like a  
large text version or an audio version  

please contact the Democratic Services Manager 
and we will try to accommodate your needs. 

 
 

Emergency Procedure 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the 
Meeting Administrator, all attendees are requested to vacate the building via 
the closest emergency exit and to make their way to the car park adjacent to 
the Methodist Church on the High Street (opposite Prima's Italian 
Restaurant). 

 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the CABINET held in the Council 

Chamber, Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon PE29 3TN 
on Thursday, 15 May 2008. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor I C Bates – Chairman. 
   
  Councillors P L E Bucknell, K J Churchill, D B 

Dew, A Hansard, C R Hyams, Mrs D C 
Reynolds, T V Rogers and L M Simpson 

   
   
 
 

1. COUNCILLOR K J CHURCHILL   
 
 The Chairman welcomed Councillor Churchill to his first meeting of 

the Cabinet. 
 

2. MINUTES   
 
 The Minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 24th April 2008 

were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

3. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 
 No declarations were received. 

 

4. APPOINTMENT OF EXECUTIVE COUNCILLORS   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
(a) that executive responsibilities for the Municipal Year 

2008/09 be allocated as follows – 
 

Finance and 
Environment 

- Councillor T V Rogers 

Planning Strategy and 
Transport 
Leisure  

- Councillor P L E Bucknell 
 
- Councillor D B Dew 

Resources and Policy  - Councillor A Hansard 

Housing and Public 
Health 

- Councillor D C Reynolds 

Customer Services 
and Information 
Technology  

- Councillor L M Simpson 

Operational and 
Countryside Services 
Special Advisor to 
Cabinet 

- Councillor C R Hyams 
 
 
- Councillor K Churchill 

 
(b) that the Leader of the Council be appointed to serve as 

an ex-officio Member of the Employment Panel; and 
 

Agenda Item 1

1



(c) that Executive Councillors be appointed to serve as ex-
officio Members of Panels as follows – 

 

Executive Councillors 
for - 

Ex-Officio for – 

  

Resources and Policy  Licensing and 
Protection 
Panel/Licensing 
Committee 

Planning Strategy and 
Transport 

Development Control 
Panel 

 
 

5. LEISURE CENTRE MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that for the Municipal Year 2008/09, Members be appointed to 
serve on the Leisure Centre Management Committees as 
follows – 
 
• Huntingdon Leisure Centre Management Committee 

Councillors K Baker, J J Dutton, Miss S Kemp, D J 
Priestman, T D Sanderson and L M Simpson 
 

• St Neots Leisure Centre Management Committee 
Councillors R W Eaton, B Farrer, A Hansard, Mrs M J 
Thomas and R J West 
 
St Ivo Leisure Centre Management Committee 
Councillors J D Ablewhite, J T Bell, S J Criswell, J W 
Davies, D B Dew, and C J Stephens 
 

• Ramsey Leisure Centre Management Committee 
Councillors E R Butler, D B Dew, I R Muir, R Powell and P 
A Swales 
 

• Sawtry Leisure Centre Management Committee 
Councillors Mrs M Banerjee, D B Dew, J E Garner, P G 
Mitchell and J S Watt  

 
 

6. HINCHINGBROOKE COUNTRY PARK JOINT LIAISON GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors M Baker, Mrs M Banerjee, C R Hyams and 
Mrs M J Thomas be appointed to serve on the Hinchingbrooke 
Country Park Joint Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

7. HUNTINGDONSHIRE TRAFFIC MANAGEMENT AREA JOINT 
COMMITTEE   

 
 RESOLVED 

 

2



that Councillors M Baker, P L E Bucknell, D B Dew, R S 
Farrer, M F Newman and T D Sanderson be appointed to 
serve on the Huntingdonshire Traffic Management Area Joint 
Committee for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

8. CUSTOMER FIRST AND ACCOMMODATION ADVISORY GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors P L E Bucknell, S J Criswell, P J Downes, T V 
Rogers, L M Simpson, G S E Thorpe and Mrs M J Thomas be 
appointed to serve on the Customer First and Accommodation 
Advisory Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

9. MEMBERS' ADVISORY GROUP FOR PUBLIC CONVENIENCES   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
 that membership of the Members’ Advisory Group for Public 

Conveniences remain in abeyance until further notice. 
 
 

10. DEVELOPMENT PLAN POLICY ADVISORY GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors I C Bates, P L E Bucknell, P J Downes, P G 
Mitchell, J M Sadler, P A Swales and G S E Thorpe be 
appointed to serve on Development Plan Policy Advisory 
Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

11. SAFETY ADVISORY GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors Mrs B E Boddington, J W Davies, A Hansard, 
Mrs P A Jordan and L M Simpson be appointed to serve on 
the Safety Advisory Group for the ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

12. ENVIRONMENT STRATEGY WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that Councillors M G Baker, I C Bates, P L E Bucknell, D B 
Dew, J A Gray, T V Rogers and R G Tuplin be appointed to 
serve on the Environment Strategy Working Group for the 
ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

13. MEMBERS' CAR PARKING WORKING GROUP   
 
 RESOLVED 

 

3



that Councillors P L E Bucknell, K J Churchill,  Mrs J Dew, J E 
Garner, C R Hyams, D J Priestman, J M Sadler be appointed 
to serve on the Members’ Car Parking Working Group for the 
ensuing Municipal Year. 

 
 

14. NATIONAL  AIR  TRAFFIC  SERVICE  (NATS)  CONSULTATION: 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO TERMINAL CONTROL NORTH 
AIRSPACE OVER CAMBRIDGESHIRE   

 
 Consideration was given to a report by the Heads of Environmental & 

Community Health Services, of Planning Services and of 
Environmental Management (a copy of which is appended in the 
Minute Book) which described the key elements of a proposal by the 
National Air Traffic Service (NATs) to change the use of terminal 
control north, an area of airspace extending from London to 
Huntingdon. 
 
By way of background, Members were advised that Luton and 
Stansted airports currently shared two holds in the vicinity of Royston 
and Sudbury. With the continued growth in air traffic, NATs had 
proposed that the current holds be relocated to new airspace and a 
new third hold created, which would result in two holds dedicated to 
Stansted and one for Luton.  It was explained that the proposed new 
hold for Luton would lead to a number of aircraft stacking over the 
south of the district.   
 
In reviewing the issues involved, Executive Councillors questioned 
the need to change existing holds and expressed the view that their 
retention, together with the creation of an additional new hold would 
better address the issues identified. Whilst discussing NATs 
proposals, Members expressed general concern about the impact of 
noise from aircraft stacking, the threat to tranquillity from noise and 
visual intrusion and the general detriment to the environment and 
well-being of the populations in rural areas. 
 
Having raised concerns over NATs failure to take into account the 
population growth factor predicted for Cambridgeshire and the 
potential effects from the growth of air traffic, the Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the Director of Environmental and Community Services, 
after consultation with the Executive Councillor for Finance 
and Environment, be authorised to respond to the consultation 
along the lines described in paragraphs 4.1 - 4.3 of the report 
now submitted. 

 

15. LOCAL AREA AGREEMENT   
 
 By way of a report by the Head of Policy and Strategic Services (a 

copy of which is appended in the Minute Book) Members were 
acquainted with the content a new Local Area Agreement for 
Cambridgeshire. The Agreement reflected the Government’s intention 
to streamline funding, encourage partnership working and direct 
investment towards local priorities. 
 

4



Having discussed the Agreement together with a schedule of 34 
performance indicators and 5 local targets, the Cabinet  
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the contents of the proposed new Local Area Agreement 
for Cambridgeshire be supported. 

 

16. THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION: SCHEME OF DELEGATION 
AND MONITORING OFFICER:INTERIM ARRANGEMENTS   

 
 With the assistance of a report by the Head of Administration (a copy 

of which is appended in the Minute Book) the Cabinet considered 
interim arrangements in relation to the Council’s scheme of delegation 
following the impending retirement of the Director of Central Services. 
 
Whereupon, it was 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that with effect from 27th June 2008 and pending a decision on 
and the recruitment of a new Director, the Chief Executive be 
authorised to undertake the executive and other powers 
delegated to the Director of Central Services by virtue of the 
Scheme of Delegation and otherwise. 

 

17. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 
 RESOLVED 

 
that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
because the business to be transacted contains exempt 
information relating to the financial affairs of particular 
persons. 

 

18. DOCUMENT CENTRE - PURCHASE OF INSERTER   
 
 By means of a report by the Head of Administration (a copy of which 

is appended in the Minute Book) the Cabinet considered the 
circumstances in which the acceptance of a tender other than the 
lowest received had been recommended for the purchase of inserting 
equipment. 
 
Having considered the information contained in the report, the 
Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 

that the second lowest tender as referred to in the report now 
submitted, for the supply of inserting equipment be accepted 
in accordance with paragraph 11.4 of the Council’s Code of 
Procurement. 

 
 

19. FLEXIBLE WORKING: REMOTE ACCESS PROJECT: 
AUTHENTICATION SYSTEM   

 

5



 By means of a report by the Head of Information Management (a 
copy of which is appended in the Minute Book), the Cabinet were 
apprised of the outcome of the tendering process for a two factor 
authentication system as part of the remote access project. 
 
Having been advised of the circumstances surrounding the 
acceptance of a quotation other than the lowest received, the Cabinet 
 
RESOLVED 
 
 that the contents of the report now submitted be noted. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

6



1 

 . 
  
CABINET 12th JUNE 2008 
 

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT 2007/08 

(Report by the Head of Financial Services) 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1. During 2007/08 the Council continued to have significant investments 
but during the year the funds were withdrawn from Investec and 
managed as medium term investments in the in-house portfolio 

Manager April 2007 
£m 

March 2008 
£m 

Investec Asset Management 21.5 Nil 
City Deposit Cash Managers (CDCM)   31.5 26.5 
In-house medium term           Nil      12.0 
In-house for cash flow           Nil 1.8 

 
1.2         This report reviews the performance during 2007/08, considers if the 

strategy that the Council has adopted has been effective, and 
addresses any issues of risk and compliance with statutory and 
regulatory requirements. It also explains the reasons for reducing the 
number of fund managers from two to one and the preparations taken 
to borrow in advance should the right market conditions prevail. 

 
 
2. PERFORMANCE OF FUNDS 

2.1. Investec continued its run of poor performances into 2007/08 by not 
achieving its benchmark and the actual performance being 
significantly below that of CDCM.  

PERFORMANCE FOR THE QUARTER  APRIL 2007 – JUNE 2007 

 Performance 
% 

Benchmark  
% 

Variation 
from 

benchmark 

Industry average 
% 

Variation from 
average 

% 

Investec 0.92 0.93 * -0.01 1.16 -0.24 

CDCM 1.28 1.42 ** -0.14 1.16 +0.12 

 

2.2. The Capital Receipts Advisory Group met on 30th July 2007 with 
Chris Anthony from Butlers, our Treasury Management advisers. With 
market rates being above 6% and bearing in mind that the financial 
plan shows that the Authority will need funds in 1 to 2 years, it was 
considered to be the right time to bring funds managed by Investec 
back in-house. Investec accordingly returned £21.5m on 3 September 
2007 and these funds were invested for periods between March 2008 
and February 2009 at rates between 6.24% and 6.3%. 

2.3. The performance of the funds with CDCM and managed in-house, for 
the whole year, are shown below:  

Agenda Item 3

7



2 

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR APRIL 2007 – MARCH 2008 

 
Performance 

% 
Benchmark 

% 
Variation from 

benchmark 

CDCM 5.40 5.85 -0.45 

In-house 6.23 5.74 +0.49 

2.4. The excellent performance of the in-house funds reflects the good 
rates available in September 2007 when the funds were returned 
from Investec and invested in time deposits.  

2.5. CDCM did less well due to the rise in interest rates. Thus, whilst 
investments taken out in previous years have been providing good 
returns they have now fallen below market rates. Investments 
therefore need to be considered over their whole life to judge their 
true return. Over a longer time frame, CDCM has had a very 
satisfactory track record. 

 
3. IN-HOUSE INVESTMENT OF FUNDS 

3.1. In September 2007 the in-house portfolio included £20m invested 
until March 2008 and beyond. In March 2008 £8m matured and was 
used to finance the expenditure of the Authority.  

3.2. In addition there are short term ‘in-house’ funds that fluctuate on a 
daily basis due to the volatility of the cash flow to and from the 
Authority. The cash position varied from total investments of £7.1m 
(excluding the £20m medium-term investments) to net borrowings of 
£1.9m.  

 

4. STRATEGY 

4.1. The Council agreed new broader mandates with the three Fund 
Managers in July 2000.  The size of its reserves meant that the 
Authority could take the view that the Fund Managers should 
maximise the returns in the medium term, three years, rather than on 
an annual basis. To the end of March 2007 it can be seen that this 
strategy has been effective.   

 CUMULATIVE PERFORMANCE SINCE START OF MANDATES 

JULY 2000* – MARCH 2007 
 

 Performance 
 
% 

Benchmark 
 

% 

Variation 
from 

benchmark 
% 

Industry 
Average 

 
% 

Variation 
from 

Average 
% 

Investec 37.0 36.6 +0.4 35.3 +1.7 

Alliance 37.7 36.0 +1.7 34.6 +3.1 

CDCM 39.2 35.3 +3.9 35.3 +3.9 

*   The mandate with Alliance Capital started in August 2000 
Returns are not compounded. 

 

8



3 

4.2. The above table of cumulative returns shows that the performance of 
Alliance Bernstein and Investec was quite close after nearly 7 years.  

4.3. In March 2007 Alliance Bernstein wished to withdraw from the Local 
Government market and those funds not immediately needed were 
placed with CDCM. 

4.4. The performance of Investec in 2007/08 resulted in their funds being 
withdrawn and managed in-house. However the reduction of fund 
managers from three to two to one was in-line with the strategy as it 
was recognised that investments would reduce as the reserves are 
need to fund capital expenditure. 

4.5. The Annual Treasury Management Strategy includes the mandates 
for Fund Managers and in-house investments; copies of the 
mandates, in place as at March 2008, are attached at Annex A. No 
changes were made during the year to the mandates. 

 

5. BORROWING IN ADVANCE 

5.1 The 2006/07 MTP showed that from 2008/09 the Council would need 
to borrow to finance capital expenditure. Following discussion with 
external auditors, it was agreed, and included within the Treasury 
Management Strategy, that the Council would borrow in advance a 
maximum of the forecast borrowing during the MTP period as long as 
it was considered that the rates were attractively low, compared with 
future expectations of long term rates. 

5.2 Advice was taken as to a target low level for this borrowing. However 
during both 2006/07 and 2007/08 rates had not fallen to that level but 
the rates continue to be monitored daily. 

 

6. RISK IMPLICATIONS 

6.1 The Treasury Management Policy approved by the Cabinet on 27th 
February 2002, emphasises the importance of controlling risk i.e. 
returns should be maximised but only at an acceptable level of risk.   

6.2 There are three main elements of risk: 

• that the borrower will be unable to return the loan when it is 
due 

• that the Fund Managers will take the wrong view on interest 
rate movements leading to poor returns 

• that the investments are not sufficiently liquid to be able to be 
sold to meet the cash flow needs of the Authority.  

These were important considerations when the mandates were first 
agreed in 2000.   

9



4 

 

6.3 The Authority has minimised these risks in the following ways: 

Risk of the borrower being unable to repay the investment  
A rigid system of credit rating ensures that only the very safest 
organisations (those with high credit ratings) are dealt with, together 
with limits on the value placed with one issuer.  CDCM is highly 
attuned to any market intelligence that might suggest a borrower is 
likely to have their credit rating reduced in the future and the Treasury 
Management Advisers provide regular updates on changes to credit 
rating. That said, the credit rating agencies did not predict the 
problems faced by Northern Rock in the summer of 2008. The 
Council already had £5m of investments with Northern Rock which 
matures between February and November 2009, however as they are 
now backed by the Government they actually have the highest credit 
rating of all counterparties. None of the treasury management 
transactions during the year have compromised the rules that have 
been set. 

Risk of the wrong view on interest rates being taken 
All CDCM investment recommendations are referred to the Council 
before the deal is made so the authority can question the proposal if 
they have any concerns. Advice from the Council’s advisers ensures 
that reasonable views are taken. 

All investments are, since September, in time deposits rather than 
gilts and CDs which had higher volatility and hence higher risk. 

The mandates limit the duration of the investments which reduces the 
impact on the value if the interest rate view turns out to be incorrect. 

Risk of the funds not being available to be returned to the 
Council 
The mandate for CDCM allows it to invest a maximum of 25% of the 
fund, (currently £5m) for longer than 3 years and requires 50% to be 
repayable within 12 months.  The 2008/09 Treasury Management 
Strategy introduces a change whereby the amount that needs to be 
available each year is clearly stated to reflect the fact that most of the 
funds will need to be returned in a staged manner over the coming 
years. 

Seeking Professional Advice 
Butlers were employed as our Treasury Management Consultants 
until December 2007 and their advice was sought before it was 
decided to withdraw Investec’s funds. Sterling Consultancy Services 
were appointed from 1 January 2008. 

Active monitoring 
As well as reports to Cabinet, your officers monitor returns each 
month. 

10



5 

 

7. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS AND CODES 

7.1 All the treasury management transactions have been carried out in 
accordance with the legislation and regulations concerning treasury 
management. 

7.2 The Council met the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice on 
Treasury Management by adopting a Policy Statement in February 
2002 and Treasury Management Practices in 2003/04. These assist 
both Members and Officers in the effective management and control 
of treasury management activities.   

7.3 In 2003/4 CIPFA introduced the Prudential Code for Capital Finance 
and the DCLG brought out new guidance on Local Government 
investments.  Both of these became effective from 1 April 2004. 
These require the Council to approve Prudential Indicators and an 
annual Treasury Management Strategy. Those for 2007/08 were 
approved at the Council meeting on 21st February 2007. Annex B 
shows the relevant indicators and the actual results.  

7.4 One prudential indicator monitors the limit on investments that cannot 
be redeemed within 364 days; this is to manage the risk of funds not 
being returned when required. The limit was £14m based on funds 
invested by CDCM some of which were not repayable within a year.  
When Investec returned its funds, the dates on which funds would be 
required were re-assessed and accordingly some monies were 
invested for more than 1 year to maximise returns. This meant that 
£21.5m matured in excess of 1 year in September 2007 and thus the 
limit was exceeded. However there was no increase in risk to the 
Authority as funds were invested to ensure they were available when 
needed. As at 31 March 2008 £10m will mature after 364 days. 

8. CONCLUSION  

8.1   Investec’s performance was disappointing and their funds were 
withdrawn and added to the in-house portfolio in September 2007. 
CDCM’s performance was below the benchmark but their investment 
decisions may prove to be sound over the life of the investments. 

8.2   Due to the nature of the Authority’s strategy, performance cannot be 
judged on the basis of a single year. The results from the start of the 
new broader mandates show that the Authority has adopted a sound 
strategy and selected Fund Managers that have exceeded their 
benchmarks and the industry average over the seven years.   

8.3   The Authority has carried out its treasury management activities with 
due regard to minimising risk, and in accordance with legislation.  It 
has adopted the CIPFA Code on Treasury Management, the 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance and the DCLG’s guidance on 
Local Government investments.   

 

11



6 

9. RECOMMENDATION 

9.1   It is recommended that the content of this report be noted 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2006/07 cash management files and working papers 

Quarterly reports to the Cabinet 

 

CONTACT OFFICER 

Mrs Eleanor Smith         Accountancy Manager        Tel. 01480 388157 

12



7 

 

ANNEX A 
EXTERNAL FUND MANAGER MANDATE 

CDCM 

Duration of 
investments 

50% must be repayable within 12 months 
Up to and including 5 years maximum maturity 
No more than 25% may be invested for longer than 3 years 

Types of 
investments 

Fixed Deposits 
Deposits at call, two or seven day notice 

Credit Ratings F1+ by FITCH IBCA or equivalent 

Maximum 
limits 

£5m per institution and group for English and Scottish Clearing 
Banks and their subsidiaries, and Overseas Banks on list of 
authorised counterparties. 
Building Societies 
With assets more than £2,000m           £5m 
With assets more than £1,000m           £3m 
Other building societies in the top 25    £2m 

Benchmark 3 month LIBID 

 

IN-HOUSE FUND MANAGEMENT 

Duration of 
investments 

Fixed deposits up to and including 1 year 

Types of 
investments 

Fixed Deposits 
Deposits at call, two or seven day notice 
Money Market Funds 

Credit Ratings and 
Maximum limits 

See below 
The credit rating is the short-term rating issued by FITCH 
unless otherwise indicated 

Benchmark LGC 7 day rate 

 
 
COUNTER-PARTY LIST 
 

LIMIT £2.5M 

BANKS (Rated F1 or better) 
 

SHORT TERM  
RATINGS 

Abbey National plc F1+ 
Alliance and Leicester F1+ 
Barclays F1+ 
Bradford and Bingley F1 
Co-Operative F1 
HBOS F1+ 
HSBC F1+ 
Kleinwort Benson  P1* 
Lloyds TSB Group   F1+ 
Northern Rock F1 
Royal Bank of Scotland F1+ 

13



8 

LIMIT £2.5M  

BUILDING SOCIETIES (Assets over £5 billion – Rated F1 or 
better) 

SHORT TERM 
RATINGS 

Britannia F1 
Chelsea F1 
Coventry F1 
Leeds  P1* 
Nationwide F1+ 
Portman F1 
Skipton F1 
West Bromwich F1 
Yorkshire F1 

  
ALL LOCAL AUTHORITIES, POLICE AND FIRE AUTHORITIES N/A 

* Moody’s equivalent credit rating 
 

LIMIT £1.5M SHORT TERM  
RATINGS 

BANK SUBSIDIARIES  Wholly owned by F1 Rated banks  
RBS Trust Bank Ltd F1+ 
Ulster Bank Limited   A1** 
Ulster Bank Ireland A1** 
  
OTHER BANKS  
Allied Irish Bank F1+ 
Anglo-Irish F1 
Bank of Ireland F1+ 
Bank of Scotland (Ireland) F1+ 
Bristol and West F1 
Close Brothers F1 
DePfa Bank F1+ 
Dexia Banque Internationale a Luxembourg A1+** 
HFC Bank F1 
Irish Intercontinental Bank F1 
KBC Bank NV F1+ 
Singer and Friedlander F1 
  
OTHER INSTITUTIONS    
3i Group Limited A1** 
Irish Life and Permanent plc              F1   

BUILDING SOCIETIES (Assets over £2 billion)  
Cheshire  
Dunfermline  
Newcastle  
Norwich and Peterborough  
Nottingham  
Principality  
Stroud and Swindon  

 

LIMIT £1M 
 

SHORT TERM 
RATINGS 

BUILDING SOCIETIES (Assets over £1 billion)  
Scarborough  

 
** Standard and Poor’s credit rating 

14



9 

Annex B 
 

Prudential Indicators for 2007/08 relating to Treasury Management 
Comparison of actual results with limits 

 
 

The authorised limit for external debt.   
This is the maximum limit for borrowing and is based on a worst-case 
scenario.  
 

2007/8 
Limit 
£000 

2007/8 
Actual  
£000 

41,700 3,400 

 
 
 
The operational boundary for external debt. 
This reflects a less extreme position. Although the figure can be exceeded 
without further approval it represents an early warning monitoring device to 
ensure that the authorised limit (above) is not exceeded.  

 
2007/8 
Limit 
£000 

2007/8 
Actual 
£000 

36,700 3,400 

 
 
Both of these items reflect the fact that long term rates were not considered 
low enough to borrow long-term in advance. 

 
Adoption of the CIPFA Code 
The Prudential Code requires the Authority to have adopted the CIPFA Code 
of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services. 
This has been adopted.  

 
 

Exposure to investments with fixed interest and variable interest.  
These limits are given as a percentage of total investments. 
 

 2007/8 
Limit 

Upper limit on fixed rate exposure 100% 

Upper limit on variable rate exposure 84% 
 

The limit is based on the mandates for the Fund Managers. As they did 
not breach the mandates, this prudential indicator has been within the 
limits 

 

15



10 

 
Borrowing Repayment Profile 
The proportion of 2007/8 borrowing that will mature in successive periods.  

 
 Upper limit Actual Lower 

limit 
Actual 

Under 12 months 100% 100% 100% 100% 

12 months and within  
24 months 

0% 0% 0% 0% 

24 months and within  
5 years 

0% 0% 0% 0% 

5 years and within 10 years 0% 0% 0% 0% 

10 years and above 0% 0% 0% 0% 

 
In 2007/8 all the borrowing was temporary for cash flow purposes 
 
 
 
Investment Repayment Profile 
Limit on the value of investments that cannot be redeemed within 364 days.   

 
2007/8 
Limit 
£000 

2007/8 
Actual- maximum 

£000 

2007/8 
Actual – 31/3/08 

£000 

14,000 21,500 10,000 

 
This reflects time deposits invested by CDCM and ‘in-house’. The limit 
was exceeded in September 2007 when some of the funds returned from 
Investec were invested for longer than 364 days to match the projected 
need for funds in future years. 
 
 
 
 

16



  
 

  
CABINET 12 JUNE 2008 
  

BUDGET AND MTP PROCESS 2009-2014 
 

(Report by the Head of Financial Services) 

 
1 PURPOSE 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to propose the approach, stages and timing 

for the review and approval of the financial strategy, the 2009/10 budget 
and the 2010/14 Medium Term Plan. 

 
 
2 BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The Medium Term Plan approved in February 2008 provides a detailed 

budget for 2008/9 and detailed variations for the following 4 years. The 
financial strategy, also approved in February, forecasts the financial 
position through to 2018/9. This data forms the starting point for the 
creation of a new budget each year. 

 
2.2 Whilst the budget for 2008/9 is balanced (in the sense that Council Tax 

and Government Grant is sufficient to cover the Council’s net 
expenditure after an approved £1.6m is used from reserves) with no 
need to identify further spending adjustments, this is not true of the 
following years. In the last two years there has been a target to propose 
a balanced budget with necessary spending adjustments already 
identified and this has been achieved. In order to produce the same 
balanced budget position for 2009/10 there is a need to identify £0.5m of 
additional income or reduced spending.  The situation for subsequent 
years is more onerous in that further additional income or reduced 
spending of £0.5m, £1m and then £1.6m will be required although there 
is a longer time period for this to be achieved. 

 
2.3 The process of finalising our financial result for 2007/8 is currently 

underway, however recent forecasts suggest that our performance has 
been considerably better than originally budgeted in February 2007. 
Whilst the budget was based on using £1.5m from reserves it is now 
expected that a small surplus will be achieved. This improvement has 
been reported to Cabinet quarterly along with the causes of the 
continuing improvement.  

 
2.4 Members will be aware of the Council’s track record of beating the 

budget. A detailed analysis of the variances on this year’s budget will be 
presented to Cabinet with the final results in July. We can, however, 
already anticipate that some of the improvements can be built into next 
year’s budget although others, such as the significant LABGI receipt will 
not be repeated on the same scale and additional grants of £250k are 
already assumed. Thus some improvement in next year’s budget can be 
anticipated without having to introduce changes to service plans. Whilst 
it is likely that this improvement could make a useful contribution 
towards identifying the £0.5m ‘gap’ for 2009/10, it is unlikely to contribute 
to the increasing gap in subsequent years.  

Agenda Item 4

17



 
2.5 The shortfall for the MTP period is shown below: 
 

Forecast Total 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

 £M £M £M £M 

Net Expenditure 22.7 25.3 26.9 28.7 

Funding from Government Grants and Council Tax 19.6 20.4 21.2 22.2 

Shortfall 3.1 4.9 5.7 6.5 

To be met from: 
Spending Adjustments not yet identified 
Reserves 

 
0.5 
2.6 

 
1.0 
3.9 

 
2.0 
3.7 

 
3.6 
2.9 

 
2.6 The latest forecast of revenue reserves at the end of 2008/09 is about 

£18.5m and so by the end of 2012/13 they will already have fallen to 
£5.4m. £3m is considered to be a minimum level for a Council of our 
size and hence planning further significant drawings is not advised. 

 
2.7 The table below summarises the key reasons as to why the funding gap 

is increasing from the position in this year’s budget. Further detail is 
provided in Annex A 

 

Forecast variations from 2008/09 

 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

 £M £M £M £M 

COSTS RISING     

Pay inflation 1.5 3.1 4.4 5.8 

Other expenditure inflation 0.4 0.8 1.2 1.7 

Planned MTP variations -0.6 -0.7 -0.8 -1.1 

Falling interest and growing 
borrowing 

1.3 2.3 3.0 3.6 

 2.6 5.5 7.8 10.0 
     

INCOME RISING MORE SLOWLY     

RSG and Council Tax -0.8 -1.6 -2.5 -3.4 

Income inflation -0.3 -0.7 -1.3 -1.6 

 -1.1 -2.3 -3.8 -5.0 
     

SHORTFALL RISING 1.5 3.3 4.1 5.0 
     

FUNDED FROM     

Additional use of Reserves -1.0 -2.3 -2.1 -1.3 

Savings Target -0.5 -1.0 -2.0 -3.6 

 
 
 
3 PROCESS AND TIMETABLE 
 

3.1 As in previous years, the first stage of the process is to review the 
Council’s longer term financial strategy. This will adjust the figures 
approved by the Council in February for inflation, interest rates, the 
2007/08 outturn and any other unavoidable significant issues. It will thus 
enable the Council to confirm or revise the existing spending adjustment 

18



targets and set any criteria for the review of existing MTP schemes and 
the inclusion of additional ones. 

 
3.2 It is anticipated that this stage will address some of the £0.5m gap in the 

2009/10 forecast but that some further work will be necessary to balance 
this budget and substantially more for later years. 

 
3.3 The resulting Financial Forecast report will be considered on the 

following dates 
 

 
 
3.4 The second stage will be to review the service budgets implied by the 

financial forecast whilst also incorporating proposed changes to service 
plans. The report will set out the changes (including efficiencies) to be 
introduced to service budgets and any proposals for enhancements to 
the level of provision which will require additional funding. 

 
3.5 Cabinet Members will be involved in the production of the proposed 

service budgets and financial plans relating to their portfolios over the 
August to October period in order that they are able to comment to 
Cabinet upon their proposed service budgets. 

 
3.6 The resulting Draft budget, MTP and Financial Strategy report will be 

considered on the following dates: 
 

 
 
3.7 The final stage will take account of any, presumably minor, adjustments 

to the grant settlement figures together with any other necessary final 
adjustments required. It will show the final budget by service and will 
allow the Council to formally adopt the budget and set the level of 
Council Tax for 2009/10.  

 
3.8 This report will be considered on the following dates 
 

 
 
 
4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 The budget/MTP process will need to be increasingly challenging due to  

the significant value of spending adjustments (additional income or 
reduced spending) that must be identified over the coming years.  

 

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

2 September 4 September 24 September 

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

11 November 20 November 3 December 

Scrutiny Cabinet Council 

27 January 29 January 18 February 

19



 
5. RECOMMENDATION 
 

The Cabinet is recommended to: 
 

• approve the timetable and stages for considering 
amendments to service plans, the financial strategy, budget 
and MTP 

 

• confirm the importance of identifying efficiency savings 
 

 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION ACT 1985 
2008/09 Revenue Budget and the 2009/013 MTP 
 
Contact Officer:  
Steve Couper, Head of Financial Services     ( 01480 388103  

20



ANNEX A 
 

  Forecast Variations from 2008/09 Approved Budget   

  2009/ 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018   

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019   

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000   

Refuse and Recycling -35 -43 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 Mainly additional recycling credits 
Public Conveniences -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 -32 Removal of APCs 
Planning Policy and Conservation -195 -356 -358 -381 -381 -381 -381 -381 -381 -381 Mainly removal of one-off spending that had been funded by 

grants received in earlier years 
Economic Development -50 -50 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 Mainly net rent income on Units 
Joint Leisure Centres -9 -174 -211 -267 -283 -283 -283 -283 -283 -283 Mainly net additional income from developments 
Parks and Open Spaces -11 -29 4 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 -51 Mainly net additional income from Hinchingbrroke Park café 

development 
Housing Benefits 23 68 114 160 160 160 160 160 160 160 Mainly reduction in Benefits admin grant 
Car Parks -71 -71 -68 -72 -72 -72 -72 -72 -72 -71 Mainly extra net car park income 
Environmental Improvements -2 -1 -51 -52 -52 -52 -52 -52 -52 -52 Drop out of Environment Strategy Funding after 3 years 
Offices -38 157 242 242 242 242 242 242 242 242 Additional running costs of new buildings - mainly NNDR 
IT related 70 38 50 50 50 50 50 50 50 50   
Other -49 11 -40 -98 -154 -87 -87 -88 -88 -87   
Spending adjustments identified -494 -594 -708 -708 -708 -567 -708 -708 -708 -567 Spending adjustments already planned 
Technical 275 336 387 388 388 388 388 388 388 388 Mainly schemes b/f, reduction in staff recharges to capital and 

phasing out of commutations 
  -618 -740 -774 -923 -994 -787 -928 -928 -928 -787   
Major items             
Cost of borrowing 418 1,099 1,608 2,003 2,295 2,594 2,895 3,199 3,509 3,821   
Interest 902 1,216 1,392 1,557 1,671 1,714 1,708 1,702 1,694 1,685 Loss of interest due to use of revenue and capital reserves 
Inflation (details on next page) 1,593 3,259 4,345 5,688 7,056 8,235 9,697 11,205 12,492 14,135   

TOTAL INCREASE 2,295 4,834 6,571 8,326 10,028 11,756 13,372 15,178 16,766 18,855   

              

TO BE FUNDED FROM              

RSG -415 -782 -1,235 -1,704 -2,189 -2,691 -3,211 -3,749 -4,305 -4,882   

Council Tax -375 -771 -1,189 -1,630 -2,096 -2,589 -3,109 -3,659 -4,239 -4,852   

Collection Fund Deficit -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28 -28   

Use of Revenue Reserves -977 -2,252 -2,119 -1,322 264 1,622 1,622 1,622 1,622 1,622   
Spending Adjustments still to be identified -500 -1,000 -2,000 -3,642 -5,979 -8,070 -8,646 -9,365 -9,816 -10,715   

TOTAL FUNDING -2,295 -4,833 -6,571 -8,326 -10,028 -11,756 -13,372 -15,178 -16,766 -18,855   

 

2
1



 
 

 INFLATION Forecast Variations from 2008/09 Approved Budget 

  2009/ 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Pay and Pensions 1,514 3,135 4,435 5,798 7,227 8,725 10,295 11,942 13,668 15,478 

Electricity and Gas 41 85 130 178 228 281 336 394 455 519 

Vehicle fuel and mileage allowances 39 79 122 165 211 259 309 361 415 471 

All other expenditure items 320 648 984 1,329 1,682 2,045 2,416 2,796 3,186 3,586 

Car Park Income   -118 -118 -118 -248 -248 -248 -391 -391 

Planning Income   -115 -115 -115 -241 -241 -241 -380 -380 

Rents -46 -93 -142 -192 -244 -298 -353 -409 -468 -528 

All other income -289 -586 -890 -1,203 -1,524 -1,853 -2,190 -2,537 -2,893 -3,258 

sub total 1,579 3,268 4,405 5,842 7,348 8,669 10,323 12,057 13,592 15,497 

Add inflation on Revenue MTP 
schemes 14 24 40 46 42 68 81 94 108 123 
Less inflation on spending 
adjustments  -33 -101 -201 -334 -503 -708 -946 -1,209 -1,485 

TOTAL 1,593 3,258 4,345 5,687 7,055 8,234 9,697 11,204 12,491 14,134 

2
2



 

  
 

CABINET 
DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL 

 12TH JUNE 2008 
 19TH JUNE 2008 

 
THE EAST OF ENGLAND PLAN – THE REVISION TO THE REGIONAL 

SPATIAL STRATEGY FOR THE EAST OF ENGLAND 
 

(Report by Head of Planning  Services ) 
 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Secretary of State has now issued the East of England Plan - 

The Revision to the Regional Spatial Strategy for the East of England 
and that document now forms part of the statutory Development Plan 
for Huntingdonshire. 

 
2. THE REVISION TO THE REGIONAL SPATIAL STRATEGY 
 
2.1 The Government considers that this review of the Regional Spatial 

Strategy embeds, within the statutory planning system, a sustainable 
long term vision for delivering new development in a region faced with 
dealing with particularly strong growth pressures.  It outlines a 20 
year vision in terms of how the Government intends to tackle climate 
change, address housing shortages, strengthen the region’s 
economy, improve the quality of life for the people of the region and 
improve and conserve the region’s environment.  The RSS covers the 
period to 2021 buts sets out a vision, objectives and a core strategy 
for the longer term. 
 
THE SPATIAL STRATEGY 

 
2.2 The regional spatial strategy strongly reflects the Governments desire 

to put into place a strategy which promotes, rather than constrains, 
medium and longer term growth.  The spatial strategy directs most of 
the strategically significant growth to the region’s major urban areas 
where public transport accessibility is at its best and there is the 
potential to use the proposed growth as a means of enhancing 
physical and social infrastructure.  It is proposed that 60% of the 
proposed new development would be on previously developed land.  
Cambridge and Peterborough are defined as being Key Centres for 
Development and Change whilst the strategy also considers that 
other growth should be directed towards the market towns in order to 
increase their economic and social sustainability.  

 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 
2.3 The economic development strategy aims to ensure the continued 

growth of the regions economy and to deliver a better alignment 
between the location of homes and jobs.  The plan states that Local 
Development Documents should also take into account the outcomes 
of the on-going review of the Regional Economic Strategy; which is to 
be published in the summer.  Therefore significant growth in jobs is 
proposed, with an indicative 452,000 for the whole region up to 2021, 

Agenda Item 5

23



with 75,000 new jobs being proposed for Cambridgeshire and 20,000 
in Peterborough. The strategic employment policies designate the 
Cambridge Sub-Region as a centre for world-class research and 
development whilst Peterborough, to achieve regeneration, is 
advocated as a centre for the growth of environmental services.  The 
cluster development policy goes on to outline support for a life-
science regional super-cluster with concentrations at locations 
including in the Cambridge sub-region, an environmental 
technologies cluster stretching from Essex to Cambridgeshire with a 
particular focus on Peterborough and a strong ICT cluster in the 
Cambridge area. 

 
              HOUSING 
 
2.4 The housing strategy proposes a further increase in the planned 

overall housing numbers for the region so that local planning 
authorities should facilitate the delivery of at least 508,000 net 
additional dwellings over the period to 2021.  District allocations 
should be regarded as being minimum targets to be achieved, rather 
than ceilings which should not be exceeded. Within Cambridgeshire 
the proposed overall minimum dwelling provision is set at some 
98,300 new dwellings with the spread of provision being 11,200 for 
Huntingdonshire, 19,000 for Cambridge City, 8,600 for East Cambs, 
11,000 for Fenland, 23,500 for South Cambs and 25,000 for 
Peterborough.  

 
2.5 The Plan states that all the local planning authorities should plan for 

the delivery of housing for at least 15 years from the date of adoption 
of relevant development plan documents. When bringing forward land 
for housing, planning authorities should take account of the regional 
spatial strategy, the need for the co-ordination and consistency of 
approach between neighbouring authorities and the need to co-
ordinate development with necessary transport and other 
infrastructure provision. 

 
2.6 With regard to affordable housing provision the Secretary of State has 

clarified the policy position by setting a regional target for 35% 
affordable housing provision. 
 

 THE REGIONAL TRANSPORT STRATEGY 
 
2.7 The regional transport strategy encourages a significant change in 

travel behaviour, encourages a reduction in distances travelled and a 
shift towards more sustainable modes of travel. The strategy states 
that demand management measures should be used to tackle 
congestion. The strategic and regional road network should be 
improved, managed and maintained and priority should be given to 
the efficient and sustainable movement of freight.   

 
 ENVIRONMENT 
 
2.8 The Plan includes policies to protect the countryside and to promote 

diversity and the Great Fen Project is defined as being a regionally 
strategically significant green infrastructure project. Other policies 
seek to conserve the regions natural and historic environments and 
encourage high quality built environments. 

 

24



CARBON DIOXIDE EMISSIONS AND RENEWABLE ENERGY 
 
2.9 The Plan strongly outlines that the regional strategy should seek to 

locate and design new developments in order to optimise its carbon 
performance and that local authorities should encourage the supply of 
energy from decentralised, renewable and low carbon energy 
sources. Proposals for the generation of renewable power should be 
supported in order to ensure that by 2020 17% of the region’s energy 
comes from renewable sources. Water efficiency and integrated 
water management are also advocated. 

           
 SUB-AREAS AND KEY CENTRES FOR DEVELOPMENT AND 

CHANGE 
 
 The Cambridge Sub-Region 
 
2.10 The strategy for the Cambridge sub-region, as previously defined by 

the Structure Plan, is carried forward largely unchanged into this 
RSS.  The Plan advocates that a comprehensive approach to growth 
should be adopted to secure the necessary infrastructure and the 
previously adopted sequential approach to accommodating growth 
(within Cambridge, on the periphery of Cambridge, at Northstowe and 
then within, or on the peripheries of, the sub-region’s market towns) 
has been reiterated.   

 
             Peterborough 
 
2.11 Peterborough is also defined as a Key Centre for Development and 

Change, at the centre of a sub-region which includes parts of 
Huntingdonshire, with the aim of the policy being to strengthen 
Peterborough’s role as a major regional centre and focus for the 
northern part of the London-Stansted-Cambridge-Peterborough 
Growth Area.   

 
3. CONCLUSIONS 
 
3.1 The East of England Plan will set the strategic planning framework for 

this region for the period up to 2021.  It will be the fundamental aspect 
of regional and local policy, it will guide and influence all strategic 
development and planning decisions, and therefore the application of 
its policies will have a pronounced material impact on the future 
character of Huntingdonshire.   

 
3.2 The East of England Plan now forms part of the statutory 

Development Plan for Huntingdonshire. Accordingly this Council, 
when acting in respect of its role as the local planning authority, will 
have to pay due regard to the Plan and its policies in respect of its 
decision making. 

 
4. RECOMMENDATION 
 
4.1 That the Cabinet notes that the Secretary of State has now issued the    

East of England Plan and that this revision to the RSS will form part 
of the statutory Development Plan for Huntingdonshire. 

 
 
 

25



BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The East of England Plan – The Revision to the Regional Spatial Strategy for 
the East of England – May 2008 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Ingram, Head of Planning Services  
Tel: 01480 388400 

26



 

 
 

  
 

COMT 27TH MAY 2008 
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 10TH JUNE 2008 
CABINET 12TH JUNE 2008 

 

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT FRAMEWORK 
THE CORE STRATEGY - 

SUBMISSION DOCUMENT 
(Report by Head of Planning Services) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is for the Cabinet to endorse the submission 

document for the Core Strategy before it is approved by Council for 
formal submission to the Secretary of State.  

 
 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.1 The Core Strategy is the primary, over-arching document that guides 

and enables the strategy for the future growth and development of 
Huntingdonshire. Once submitted to the Secretary of State it will be 
subject to examination by an independent Inspector to assess whether it 
meets the tests of soundness.   

 
2.2 The Council consulted on Issues and Options (the Regulation 25 stage) 

for the Core Strategy during May, June and July 2007 and on the 
Preferred Option ( the Regulation 26 ) stage in December 2007 and 
January 2008.  In addition to engaging with stakeholders (such as Parish 
Councils, the County Council, Primary Care Trust, Highways Agency, 
Environment Agency etc), the general public were also invited to 
comment.  The Documents were made widely available at Pathfinder 
House and in libraries and local access points across the District and 
through an interactive on-line version on the Council’s website.  The 
representations made on the Issues and Options, the document 
‘Towards a Spatial Strategy’ which discussed a number of strategic 
options and the Preferred Option Document have been taken into 
account in formulating this Submission Document. 

 
2.3 The Core Strategy specifically takes account of the existing adopted 

Community Strategy and its emerging replacement, the Sustainable 
Community Strategy.  The Core Strategy also has been prepared taking 
into account the emerging polices in the East of England Plan (which 
has now been published) and current and emerging Government 
Guidance. 

 
2.4 The Core Strategy has been set out in two volumes (see appendix).  

Volume 1 takes the form of a draft strategy document outlining the key 
policies and their reasoned justification.  Volume 2 records how each 
policy was assessed and evaluated and thus forms the necessary audit 

Agenda Item 6

27



trail outlining the development of the policies.  It also includes, in an 

appendix, a schedule of responses to the preferred option and 
changes made to reflect the concerns raised. 

 

2.5 When the Core Strategy is submitted a number of supporting 
documents will accompany it. These are available on the Members 
page of the intranet for Members to inspect and note their contents.  
The supporting documents are: 

• Statement of Pre-Submission Consultation 

• Final Sustainability Appraisal of the Core Strategy (including Equalities 
Impact Assessment) 

• Habitats Regulations Assessment of the Huntingdonshire LDF Core 
Strategy 

• Amendments to the Proposals Map 

• Core Strategy DPD Soundness Self-Assessment 

 
 

3. EVIDENCE BASE 
 
3.1 The Core Strategy has been informed by a wide range of technical 

documents (the Evidence Base). A full list is set out in the Core Strategy 
Volume 1, Appendix 2. The most influential of these include: 

• Huntingdonshire Community Strategy 

• Sustainable Community Strategy (emerging) 

• Cambridgeshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment 

• Huntingdonshire Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

• Employment Land Review 

• Huntingdonshire Retail Assessment 2005 and Update 2007 

• Green Infrastructure Strategy 
 
 
4. THE CORE STRATEGY 
 
4.1 It is proposed that the Core Strategy will deliver at least 5,450 new 

dwellings, 85ha of employment land and up to 24,000sq m of retail 
development during the period 2006 - 2026. These figures are over and 
above what is already proposed in existing plans and in commitments 
and are considered as a minimum target to reach the challenging new 
levels of provision which are being advocated in the East of England 
Plan. 

  
4.2 Until the time that the Core Strategy is adopted significant weight must 

be given to the policies in the approved East of England Plan together 
with the Huntingdonshire Interim Planning Policies and the saved 
policies from the Huntingdonshire Local Plan and Structure Plan.  

 
5. CHANGES ARISING FROM DPAG 

 
5.1 The Development Plans Advisory Group met on 2 June to discuss the 

draft Volume 1 of the Core Strategy.  The following changes to the 
copies circulated with this report resulted from that meeting.  

 

Reference Change made 

Foreword Re-written in simpler language 

Para 2.9 Last sentence appended to para 2.6, rest deleted as 
repetition 

28



Para 2.10 Relationship between Sustainable Community Strategy and 
Local Development Framework clarified 

Para 2.12 Paragraph split after 3rd sentence 

Para 3.32 Penultimate sentence re-worded for clarity 

Para 4.9 Paragraph split after 5th sentence 

Para 5.2 Clarification added that the key Diagram does not show 
current allocations or existing planning permissions that have 
not been built 

Para 5.29 Last sentence amended to refer to rural exceptions sites 

Para 5.31 Requirements for affordable housing re-worded for clarity 

Para 5.49 Workforce internalization re-phrased to ‘proportion of 
residents working within the town’ 

Para 5.56 ‘Qualitative’ in last sentence replaced with 1) ‘increasing 
choice’ and 2) ‘increasing the diversity of choice’ 

Para 5.73 Sentence added referring to the future expansion of Paxton 
Pits nature reserve 

Para 6.45 Paragraph split after 4th sentence 

Throughout Document titles displayed in italics 

Throughout Minor grammatical corrections 

 
 
6. RECOMMENDATION(S) 
 
6.1 Cabinet is recommended to agree that, subject to a legal audit of the 

document, the Core Strategy as set out in the Appendix (as Volume 1 
and Volume 2) and the documents listed in paragraph 2.5 above  be 
submitted to Council for approval  and to agree that any minor additional 
editing and updating which may be needed prior to publication be 
delegated to the Head of Planning Services after consultation with the 
Executive Councillor for Planning Strategy and Transport. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
As stated in paragraph 3 of the text. 
 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Ingram, Head of Planning Services 
 (((( 01480 388400 
 

29



30

This page is intentionally left blank



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98

This page is intentionally left blank



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



113



114



115



116



117



118



119



120



121



122



123



124



125



126



127



128



129



130



131



132



133



134



135



136



137



138



139



140



141



142



143



144



145



146



147



148



149



150



151



152



153



154



155



156



157



158



159



160



161



162



163



164



165



166



167



168



169



170



171



172



173



174



175



176



177



178



179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290



291



292



293



294



295



296



297



298



299



300



301



302



303



304



305



306



307



308



309



310



311



312



313



314



315



316



317



318



319



320



321



322



323



324



325



326



327



328



329



330



331



332



333



334



335



336



337



338



339



340



341



342



343



344



345



346



347



348



349



350



351



352



353



354



355



356



357



358



359



360



361



362



363



364



365



366



367



368



369



370



371



372



373



374



375



376



377



378



379



380



381



382



383



384



385



386



387



388



389



390



391



392



393



394



395



396



397



398



399



400



401



402



403



404



405



406



 

 

CABINET                                                                                12TH JUNE 2008 
 

“PROSPEROUS PLACES: TAKING FORWARD THE SUB NATIONAL 
REVIEW OF ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION” 

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 

(Report by Head of Policy and Strategic Services) 
 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek the Cabinets endorsement of a 

response to the consultation document “Prosperous Places: Taking 
forward the Sub National Review (SNR) of Economic Development 
and Regeneration” produced by the Department for Business 
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform (BERR). 

 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1  This consultation follows the publication of the results of the Sub 

National Review of Economic Development and Regeneration in July 
2007 and provides details on the implementation of the 
recommendations raised in that review. 

 
2.2  The consultation seeks views on the proposals designed to: 
 

♦ streamline the regional tier, introducing integrated strategies and 
giving regional development agencies lead responsibility for 
regional planning; 

 

♦ strengthen the (first tier) local authority role in economic 
development, including a new statutory duty to assess local 
economic conditions; and 

 

♦ support collaboration by local authorities across economic areas. 
 
2.3 The closing date for the consultation is 20th June 2008.  It is possible 

that Regional Development Agency delegated powers could come 
into force by Autumn 2009, with the role of regional planning body 
being transferred  by Spring 2010 and the first joint regional strategy 
being published by Spring 2011. 

 
3. KEY POINTS IN CONSULTATION PAPER  
 
3.1 Preparation of a Single Regional Strategy 
 
3.1.1 A key proposal is a Single Regional Strategy (SRS) to replace the 

existing Regional Spatial Strategies (RSSs) and Regional Economic 
Strategies (RESs) with the result of a single strategy for each region. 

 
3.1.2  The precise nature of the working arrangements for developing the 

SRS will be left for each region to determine, though the consultation 
clearly indicates that the Regional Development Agency will have 
overall responsibility for the SRS.  

 

Agenda Item 7

407



 

 

3.1.3    A new streamlined process is proposed to replace the existing 
Regional Spatial Strategy process with two stages of examination in 
public and one formal consultation period.  It is suggested that this 
process would take two years however this sounds ambitious as it is 
less than half the time it currently takes to complete the current 
Regional Spatial Strategy which only has one examination in public. 

 
3.2 Enhanced Partnership arrangements 
 
3.2.1  The consultation document makes a clear commitment to the 

establishment of a Local Authority Leader’s Forum in each region to 
work with the Regional Development Agencies (RDAs). No definitive 
guidance on the relationship between the RDA and the Leader’s 
Forum exists and the document advocates flexibility on the adoption 
of a structure to best suit each region. However, forums must be: 

 

♦ ‘Streamlined, manageable…and able to engage effectively with 
the RDA’ 

 

♦ representative of local government in the region (including 
involving both upper and lower tier authorities); 

 

♦ comprised of Leaders and have sufficient authority to agree the 
Single Regional Strategy on behalf of all authorities in the region. 

 
3.2.2     The anticipated role for these regional forums includes signing off the 

Single Regional Strategy and undertaking an economic assessment 
of their local area.  

 
3.2.3    Although the SNR proposals will involve significant changes to the 

regional structures, RDAs will remain accountable to central 
government while local authorities are encouraged to develop and 
strengthen their new scrutiny arrangements of RDAs, although no 
further detail is provided.    

   
3.2.4 Local Authorities and Sub-regions are seen as having an enhanced 

role in promoting economic development and Multi-Area Agreements 
(MAAs) will increasingly replace Local Area Agreements (LAAs) with 
the express purpose of enhancing and promoting sub-regional 
collaboration. 

 
 3.3  Duty to undertake an economic assessment 
 
3.3.1 Integral to the SNR proposal is the potential for a statutory economic 

assessment duty for county and unitary authorities. This would:  
 

♦ be carried out in consultation with  district authorities, RDAs, and 
other partners; and 

 

♦ contribute to the analysis which underpins local, county/sub-
regional and regional strategies. 

3.3.2 This economic assessment will complement PPS4 on planning for 
sustainable economic development.  Three options for the 
assessment are set out:  

408



 

 

♦ legislation to establish the statutory duty with statutory guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State; 

♦ primary legislation setting out the topics to be covered in the 
assessment but no statutory guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State; or 

♦ no new duty to be introduced.   

3.3.3    The first economic assessments will need to be prepared in 2010/11, 
in time to inform the 2011/12 LAA targets and Single Regional 
Strategy.  

 
4. CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 There is a strong economic case for concentrating economic 

decision- making and devolving funding powers to the sub-regional 
level.  It is widely acknowledged that administrative boundaries of 
towns, cities and districts do not necessarily reflect the reality of 
economic markets in which businesses trade goods, services and 
labour.  Also regional boundaries reflect local economies even less 
well as they bring together a number of micro economies.  The real 
level at which economies operate below the national level is the sub-
regional level.  Therefore it is right that decisions that affect those 
economies are taken at that level by democratically elected bodies.  

 
4.1 In view of this, it is important that the Sub-National Review: 
 

♦ allows district councils to be at the centre of economic 
development for their areas; 

 

♦ gives a statutory economic development duty to district councils; 
 

♦ aligns national and local targets for economic development; 
 

♦ streamlines current regional strategies so that it prevents overlap 
and conflicting priorities; 

 

♦ enables Councils to work sub-regionally via bottom-up structures; 
and  

 

♦ ensures regional roles are genuinely strategic  
  
4.2 Therefore the introduction of a Single Regional Strategy and a duty to 

undertake an economic assessment should be welcomed.  However, 
a concerted approach should be made to ensure that the local input 
at district level is an integral element within the process.   

 
5. RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 Cabinet is requested to approve the response to the consultation on 

the proposals set out in Appendix 1 on the Sub National Review of 
Economic Development and Regeneration. 

409



 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Prosperous Places: Taking forward the Sub National Review of Economic 
Development (March 2008) 
Taking Forward the Sub National Review of Economic Development and 
Regeneration (December 2007) 
Sub National Review of Economic Development and Regeneration (July 2007) 
LGA Prosperous Communities  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Corrine Garbett 
 (((( 01480 388459 
 

410



 

 

APPENDIX 1 
 

  
RESPONSE TO THE CONSULTATION ON THE SUB-NATIONAL REVIEW 
 
Q1.  How should RDAs satisfy themselves that sufficient capacity exists 
for programme management and delivery at local or sub-regional level?  
 
Suggested Response:  In the East of England a comprehensive performance 
management and assessment process has been used by EEDA to monitor 
programme management and delivery at both the local and sub-regional level. 
This has identified where both the capacity and capability exists within sub-
regional partnerships to deliver and should be used as the basis of 
reassurance for the RDAs. 

 
Q2.  Do you agree that local authorities should determine how they set 

up a local authority leaders’ forum for their region, and that the 
Government should only intervene if the required criteria are not 
met or if it failed to operate effectively? If not, what would you 
propose instead?  

 
Suggested Response:  Yes, this approach will engage local partners and 
enable an effective mechanism to accurately reflect the local picture and 
requirements.  It is important that there is flexibility so that the structure and 
form of the Forum can reflect individual region’s needs.   
 
Q3.  Are the proposed regional accountability and scrutiny proposals 

proportionate and workable? 
 

Suggested Response:  Further clarity will be needed as to possible changes to 
the existing scrutiny procedures at local level, particularly as the RDA will be 
assuming greater responsibility with the adoption of a Single Regional 
Strategy. It is essential that the scrutiny process is clearly distinguished from 
the local authority role in agreeing and implementing the Single Regional 
Strategy. 
 
 
Q4.  Do you agree that the regional strategy needs to cover the 

elements listed at paragraph 4.13? Are there other matters that 
should be included in the regional strategy to help in the delivery of 
key outcomes?  
 

Suggested Response: Environmental matters should be given due recognition 
and prominence within the Single Regional Strategy (SRS). The protection 
and enhancement of the environment therefore should be included in the list 
of elements to be included in the regional strategy. 
 
Regional Spatial Strategies (RSSs) are required to provide a clear spatial 
strategy based upon a vision for the Region’s future which is illustrated by a 
key diagram. To enable the strategy to be clearly expressed both a vision and 
key diagram should form part of the regional strategy. 
 
There is also no reference to the consideration of sub-regional issues other 
than housing as part of the SRS. It is considered that the regional strategy 
should address all relevant sub-regional issues.  
 

411



 

 

The existing RSS process emphasised the need for both delivery mechanisms 
and a clear link between objectives and policies and monitoring. It is therefore 
considered that both delivery mechanisms and the monitoring of the regional 
strategy through the preparation of an Annual Monitoring Report should be 
included in the list of elements. 
 
The existing national planning guidance relating to Regional Planning sets out 
a detailed topic based list of the relevant material to be taken into account in 
the preparation of Regional Spatial Strategies. A similar list of appropriate 
topics for the Single Regional Strategy should be prepared. It is suggested 
that this list should include the following:  
 

♦ Government Policy 

♦ National Policy Statements required by the Planning Bill 

♦ Planning Policy Guidance and Planning Policy Statements  

♦ Advice provided by the National Housing and Planning Advice Unit 

♦ Local Economic Assessments 

♦ Local evidence relating to housing need and delivery as set out in PPS 3 
 
 

Q5.  Do you agree with the way in which we propose to simplify the 
preparation of the regional strategy, in particular allowing flexibility 
for regions to determine detailed processes? If not what other 
steps might we take?  

 
 Suggested Response:  There is merit in the proposal to merge RSS and RES 
into a single regional strategy. However we remain concerned that the 
consultation document does not provide appropriate safeguards to ensure 
democratic accountability. For example it is proposed to allow RDAs to submit 
a draft strategy for determination by Ministers in the event of a failure to agree 
it with local authorities.  
 
We welcome the recognition that local authorities at all levels should be 
closely involved in the process of agreeing Regional Strategies and its 
submission to the Secretary of State. However the suggested process makes 
no reference to the requirement of Local or Strategic Planning Authorities to 
provide advice to the Regional Planning Body.   It is considered essential that 
the requirement for Authorities to provide advice to the RPB is retained as part 
of any changes to primary legislation as a result of this consultation document. 
 
Reference is made to the preparation of policies for specific sub regions and 
cooperation at the sub regional level on economic development matters. 
However, no reference is made to the existing role of the Local and Strategic 
Planning authorities in preparing the initial draft of sub regional strategies 
within their area as part of the current RSS process.    It is considered 
essential that this role is retained as part of any changes to primary legislation 
as a result of this consultation document. 
 
Flexibility for RDAs and local authorities to agree the detailed working 
arrangements for the preparation of the regional strategy are welcomed.  
However local authorities should be formally consulted on the content of the 
project plan and proposed working structures. 
 
The Council considers that there is need for a firm commitment from 
Government to require the RPB to prepare a delivery plan setting out actions 
and investment priorities as previously set out in the Review of Sub-national 

412



 

 

economic development and regeneration. This should be prepared in parallel 
with the regional strategy. 
 
It is essential that Government Agencies together with local authorities are 
fully involved with the preparation of the delivery plan and that its content is 
agreed by the proposed local authorities leader forums.  The proposed 
timescale for the preparation of the Single Regional Strategy may be 
unrealistic given the recent experience of the emerging East of England Plan. 
 
 
Q6.  Do you think that the streamlined process would lead to any 

significant changes in the costs and benefits to the community and 
other impacts?  

 
Suggested Response:  While the function of the Local Authority Leader’s 
Forum will ensure significant input to the new process, there would appear to 
be, superficially, a somewhat reduced overall opportunity for partners and the 
public to comment on the strategy as it develops.   This is evidenced by only 
one formal public consultation and no comeback following any Secretary of 
State amendment.  It is therefore considered that both Local Authorities and 
the wider public are disadvantaged as a result of the new process given that 
there are fewer opportunities to comment on the emerging regional strategy. 

 
Currently the RPB is required to prepare a Statement of Public Participation to 
demonstrate the way in which stakeholders and the wider public will be 
involved in the preparation of the RSS. This existing requirement should be 
retained as part on any new legislation. 
 
Q7.  Which of the options for the local authority economic assessment 

duty (or any other proposals) is most appropriate?  
 
Suggested Response:   Option 2, the Non – statutory guidance would be the 
most favoured approach as it offers guidance but without being too 
prescriptive.  The ‘no new duty option’ (3) is not appropriate. 
 
 
Q8.  What additional information or support do local authorities 

consider valuable for the purpose of preparing assessments?  
 
Suggested Response: In the first year, elements of the possible guidance 
suggested in Option 1 could be utilised as a template for local authorities but 
without being too prescriptive. Equally, as mentioned in the document, utilising 
the National Improvement and Efficiency Strategy for capacity building should 
be welcomed particularly in light of the Audit Commission indicating that 
assessments would be taken into account as part of future Comprehensive 
Area Assessments.  
 
Q9.  How should lead local authorities engage partners, including 

district councils, in the preparation of the assessment?  
 
Suggested Response: Unitaries and District Authorities have the best 
knowledge of their area and need to be engaged fully in the new structure and 
development of the regional strategy. 
 
Lead authorities should utilise existing networks of partners both for data and 
information in compiling the assessments but also for consultation on drafts. 

413



 

 

Most counties operate a forum of economic development agencies and 
planning officers with regular meetings and this should be used to share tasks 
and oversee the preparation of the assessment.   
 

 
Q10.  Which partner bodies should be consulted in the preparation of the 

assessment? 
 
Suggested Response: Partners should include all those currently involved in 
the preparation of existing district, county or sub-regional economic 
development strategies. This will range from locally based organisations such 
as business fora and chambers of commerce representing the private sector, 
through county level agencies to regionally organised bodies such as 
Business Link and LSC. It will be necessary to ensure that agencies consulted 
reflect the broad range of areas to be covered in the assessment including (to 
be confirmed) transport, housing and land and property issues. This would 
include the potential delivery partners listed in Par 5.20 of the consultation 
document 
 
 Q11. Should any duty apply in London and, if so, which of the proposed 

models is most appropriate?  
 
Suggested Response: Not applicable to comment. 
 
 
Q12.  Do you agree that there is value in creating statutory arrangements 

for sub-regional collaboration on economic development issues 
beyond MAAs? What form might any new arrangements take?  

 
Suggested Response: Until some assessment of the benefits and 
effectiveness of the dozen pilot MAAs is undertaken, it is considered 
premature to create statutory arrangements for further sub regional 
collaboration on economic development issues. If they are proposed at this 
stage it should be on an informal basis only. 
 
Q13.  What activities would you like a sub-regional partnership to be able 

to carry out and what are the constraints on them doing this under 
the current legislation?  

 
Suggested Response:  Given the limited degree of devolved funding and 
responsibility for sub-regional partnerships in this region, it is premature to 
consider significant additional devolvement of activities particularly in areas 
such as transport and planning where there is limited or no experience. In 
addition existing sub-regional partnerships have limited democratic 
accountability and this will be important for some areas of devolvement 
suggested in the consultation document, such as planning and transport. 
 

Q14.  How would a sub-regional economic development authority fit into 
the local authority performance framework?  

 
Suggested Response: If significant powers and responsibilities were to be 
devolved to a sub regional partnership or authority the same performance 
requirements that apply to local authorities through the LAA should be applied. 
Indicators and targets relating to the devolved activities should be negotiated 
and the sub-regional partnership required to report on achievement. 
 

414



 

 

 
Q15.  Should there be a duty to co-operate at sub-regional level where a 

statutory partnership exists? To whom should this apply?  
 
Suggested Response:  Yes, the requirement to cooperate should apply to the 
same range of agencies that applies to the LAA currently, otherwise the 
potential status and influence of the partnership could be significantly 
undermined. 
 
Other Issues 
 
Suggested Response: There is a strong economic case for concentrating 
economic decision- making and devolving funding powers to the sub-regional 
level.  It is widely acknowledged that administrative boundaries of towns, cities 
and districts do not necessarily reflect the reality of economic markets in which 
businesses trade goods, services and labour.  Also regional boundaries reflect 
local economies even less well as they bring together a number of micro 
economies.  The real level at which economies operate below the national 
level is the sub-regional level.  Therefore it is right that decisions that affect 
those economies are taken at that level by democratically elected bodies.  
 
In view of this, it is important that the Sub-National Review: 
 

♦ allows district councils to be at the centre of economic development for 
their areas; 

♦ gives statutory economic development duty to district councils; 

♦ aligns national and local targets for economic development; 

♦ streamlines current regional strategies so that it prevents overlap and 
conflicting priorities; 

♦ enables Councils to work sub-regionally via bottom-up structures; and 

♦ ensures regional roles are genuinely strategic  

415



416

This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
 

CABINET 12TH JUNE 2008 
 

ECO-TOWNS: LIVING A GREENER FUTURE – RESPONSE TO THE 
DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT 

CONSULTATION 
 

(Report by Head of Planning  Services ) 
 

 
1.   INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 In July 2007 the Housing Green Paper announced the Government’s 

intention to deliver 10 new ‘eco-towns’ as part of its ambitious initiative to 
build an additional 3 million new homes by 2020. At the same time the 
Government published the ‘Eco-Town Prospectus’ setting out specific 
criteria that would be applied to consideration of these proposals and 
invited landowners and developers to make appropriate submissions for 
further consideration. The Government received a total 57 bids in 
response to this initiative and it has subsequently reduced those down to a 
current short-list of 15 proposals from which 10 ‘winning’ bids will be 
selected later this year. 

 
1.2 The Government is now consulting in respect of the short-listed proposals 

and as one of the short-listed sites is within Cambridgeshire, on a 
Greenfield site at Hanley Grange near Hinxton in South Cambridgeshire, it 
is important that this Council now considers the strategic planning issues 
related to the initiative and responds to the consultation on that basis. 

 
1.3 Because of the potential implications of the proposals for the adopted 

planning strategy for Cambridgeshire, and for the delivery of growth within 
the Cambridgeshire Sub-Region, all of the Cambridgeshire Council’s, and 
Cambridgeshire Horizons, have worked in partnership to prepare a joint 
response to the consultation. 

 
 
2.   BACKGROUND TO THE CONSULTATION 
 
2.1 The Government considers that eco-towns initiative will deliver increased 

housing numbers in sustainable ways. The specific criteria for eco-towns 
stated that; 

 

• They must be new, identifiably separate, settlements that 
can deliver, in addition to existing plans, at least 5,000 new 
homes; 

 

• The overall eco-town development should reach zero-
carbon standards and be considered to be an exemplar in 
at least one aspect of environmental sustainability; 

 

• ‘Affordable’ housing should make up at least 30 to 50% of 
the total range and distribution of new home tenures; 

 

Agenda Item 8

417



 

• The development should deliver a good mix of other 
associated and related uses (including retail, business, 
leisure and educational facilities); and; 

 

• A dedicated management body should be established to 
help develop the eco-town and support and co-ordinate the 
delivery of community based services. 

 
2.2 Overall 57 national ‘bids’ for new eco-towns were submitted, 20 of which 

were located in the East of England, 6 were located in Cambridgeshire 
(including proposed sites at Hanley Grange, Six-Mile Bottom, Mereham 
and Waterbeach) and 2 were located in Huntingdonshire (in respect of 
proposed sites at Alconbury Airfield and Connington Airfield). This Council, 
and in partnership with the other Cambridgeshire Council’s and 
Cambridgeshire Horizons, made representations to the Government 
regarding the potential unsuitability of all of these ‘bids’ and those 
submissions have mostly been successful with only the Hanley Grange 
proposal being taken forward to the short-listing stage.  

 
2.3 Accordingly, whilst none of the short listed sites are located in 

Huntingdonshire, it is considered important that this Council continues to 
be aware of the progress of the eco-town selection process, in case 
subsequent further or previously rejected ‘proposals’ should come forward 
in Huntingdonshire, and to continue to work in partnership with our 
colleagues within Cambridgeshire in order to effectively respond to this 
consultation and to take forward the delivery of a more coherent strategy 
for longer-term sustainable growth within Cambridgeshire. 
 

 
3.   ISSUES IN RESPECT OF THE SHORTLISTED PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 Whilst the proposed site at Hanley Grange is located in South 

Cambridgeshire it is considered that its potential designation as an ‘eco-
town’ would have related negative implications for Huntingdonshire in 
terms of the impacts of that upon the planning strategy for Cambridgeshire 
and growth strategy for the Cambridge Sub-Region. 

 
3.2 It is considered that the designation of Hanley Grange as an eco-town 

would; 

• Unacceptably undermine the basis of the current and 
emerging regional, sub-regional and local planning 
processes. Because of the scale and scope of the 
development pressures facing Cambridgeshire all of the 
authorities in the area have combined to take forward 
coherent strategies for assessing and delivering sustainable 
forms of growth. The proposed by-passing of this ‘plan-led’ 
sustainably focussed approach, and in particular the 
forthcoming review of the Regional Spatial Strategy, would 
seriously devalue that joint approach and create 
unacceptable uncertainty about the strategic planning 
process. It is considered that the upcoming early review of 
the RSS will be the appropriate vehicle, within which, all of 
the various competing sub-regional new town and 
settlement proposals can be realistically evaluated.  

 
 

418



 

• Inappropriately divert scarce public and private resources 
away from the delivery of the already committed and 
extremely challenging strategy for delivering sustainable 
growth within the Cambridge Sub-Region. Whilst significant 
progress is already being made in terms of meeting the 
challenges associated with the delivery of the required scale 
of new growth in Cambridgeshire there are both limited 
capacities within the local authorities and indeed with the 
housing market itself. The risk of non-delivery of the already 
agreed upon/committed growth strategy would obviously 
have serious knock-on effects, in terms of housing delivery 
and development viability issues, for all of the local 
authorities within the area. 

 

• It is considered, that to date, a particular positive feature 
related to the issues of further large scale growth within 
Cambridgeshire has been the overall ‘public acceptance’ of 
the need for that further growth and a desire to deliver that 
growth in the most environmentally friendly and sustainable 
ways. Therefore the potential imposition of unwarranted 
eco-town developments, against the expressed opinions of 
the host community, would seriously damage and 
undermine that consensus. 

 
3.3 All of the Cambridgeshire authorities, strongly supported by 

Cambridgeshire Horizons, have worked together in preparing a suggested 
joint response to this consultation (copy to follow). 

 
 
4.   CONCLUSIONS 
 

 4.1 The Government’s stated twin policy objectives for the eco-town initiative 
are to deliver additional housing growth in demonstrably sustainable 
ways. Having regard to the situation currently pertinent in Cambridgeshire 
it is considered that this rather hap-hazard response to dealing with 
issues of delivery would both undermine confidence in the adopted local 
plan-led approach, negatively impact upon existing delivery programs and 
therefore actually be unsustainable because of those impacts. 

 
 4.2 Whilst Huntingdonshire has, to date, been successful in terms of fighting 

off inappropriate and unsustainable proposals for ‘eco-towns’ it is 
important that this Council continues to positively address all of the 
pertinent issues because it is considered likely that those unwarranted 
development proposals may at some point in the future resurface. 

 
 4.3 It is important that Huntingdonshire continues to work with its partners in 

order to present a robust Cambridgeshire wide response to these 
important strategic planning issues. 

 
5.    RECOMMENDATION 
 
5.1 That the Cabinet notes the current situation in respect of the eco-towns 

selection process and endorses the suggested joint Cambridgeshire 
response to this consultation. 

 
 

419



 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Eco-Towns Prospectus – DCLG July 2007 
HDC response to DCLG – February 2008 
Eco-towns: Living a Greener Future – DCLG April 2008 
Proposed Joint Cambridgeshire Response – May 2008 
 
Contact Officer: Steve Ingram, Head of Planning Services  
     01480 388400 

420



 

                             
 
 
COMT 
CABINET 

                        27TH MAY 2008 
                        12TH JUNE 2008 

 
 

EARITH CONSERVATION AREA:  
CHARACTER STATEMENT AND BOUNDARY REVIEW 

 
(Report by Planning Policy Manager) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the responses to 

the Earith Character Statement and Boundary Review consultation 
documents and to consider the Council’s response.  

  
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The District Council is committed to the production of Conservation Area 

Character Statements to provide an analysis of the special interest of all 
the District’s 60 Conservation Areas. These documents will be used to 
guide decisions on planning matters and other changes to the fabric of 
Conservation Areas to ensure that the character and appearance of 
Conservation Areas is not diminished.  It is also hoped that the 
publication of these documents will help to increase the general public’s 
awareness of the special qualities that make the District’s Conservation 
Areas unique. 

 
2.2 The existing Earith Conservation Area Character Statement was 

adopted in March 1979 following a period of public consultation. Under 
the new Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs), all character 
statements should be reviewed in a five year rolling programme to 
ensure that the advice being offered is relevant and up-to-date.  

 
3. THE BOUNDARY REVIEW 
 
 The original boundary of the Earith Conservation Area was very tightly drawn 

around building groups and did not reflect a thorough or justified 
examination of the area’s historic merit or development. Best and current 
practice expects Conservation Area boundaries to be drawn on the basis 
of thorough research and analysis.  

 
 Following the methodology for Boundary Review adopted in 2003, it is 

proposed that the Conservation Area is enlarged. This would better 
reflect the historic relationship between the village and the surrounding 
area. The proposed boundary also includes some of the earlier urban 
extensions within the village. 

 
 The rationale for the proposed boundary changes is explained and illustrated 

in the attached document, the Earith Conservation Area Boundary 
Review. 

 

Agenda Item 9

421



 

  
 
 
4. THE CHARACTER ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 The contents of the Character Statement follow a previously-agreed 

pattern, which conveys the special architectural and historical interest of 
the Conservation Area through maps, photographic illustrations and 
written text.  Specific references are made to:- 

 

• The historical development of Earith  

• The essential characteristics of the Conservation Area including 

important views, focal points and landmark buildings 

• The green open spaces, trees and gardens in the Conservation 

Area 

• The architectural styles within the village 

• The distribution of construction materials 

• Examples of traditional local detailing 

 
4.2 This approach conforms with English Heritage’s recent publication 

Guidance on conservation area appraisals 2006. 
 

  
5. THE CONSULTATION RESPONSE 
 
5.1 13 written responses have been received from the statutory agencies, 

local organisations and members of the public consulted. The comments 
received are presented within Appendix 1 and the Council’s response to 
them is also indicated.  

 
5.2 Many comments related to minor issues of fact or detail, or issues beyond 

the scope of the document.  
 
5.3 On 25th February 2008, the Development Control Panel endorsed the 

Character Assessment and Boundary Review. 
 
 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 That the Cabinet considers the responses to comments presented in 

Appendix 1 and agrees to: 
 

1. Adopt the revised Earith Conservation Area Character Assessment 
and Boundary Review (as previously circulated) with the 
amendments contained in Appendix 1 of this paper, which will 
become a material consideration in planning decisions.  

 
 

2. Authorise the Head of Planning Services to make any minor 
consequential amendments to the text and illustrations necessary 
as a result of these changes, after consultation with the Executive 
Member for Planning Strategy. 

422



 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Earith Draft Character Assessment and Boundary Review 
 
 
Contact Officer: Susan Smith 

Assistant Conservation Officer 
 (((( 01480 388416 
 

423



424

This page is intentionally left blank



E
A
R
IT
H
 C
H
A
R
A
C
T
E
R
 A
S
S
E
S
S
M
E
N
T
 &
 B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y
 R
E
V
IE
W
: 
S
U
M
M
A
R
Y
 O
F
 R
E
S
P
O
N
S
E
S
 

 
A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 O
N
E
 

 1
 –
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

2
 –
 n
o
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
it
 o
f 
th
is
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

3
 –
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

  
R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

C
o
m
m
e
n
t 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 1
 

 S
te
w
a
rt
 P
a
ti
e
n
c
e
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

B
o
x
 E
T
 1
0
1
0
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
(i
) 

It
 i
s
 n
o
te
d
 t
h
a
t 
it
 i
s
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 t
o
 e
x
te
n
d
 t
h
e
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 L
it
tl
e
 F
e
n
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

B
u
lw
a
rk
. 
T
h
e
 M
in
e
ra
ls
 a
n
d
 W
a
s
te
 S
it
e
 S
p
e
c
if
ic
 

P
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 p
la
n
 (
P
re
fe
rr
e
d
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 s
ta
g
e
) 
h
a
s
 t
h
is
 

a
re
a
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
 M
in
e
ra
ls
 S
a
fe
g
u
a
rd
in
g
 a
re
a
. 
 

 
(i
) 

N
o
te
d
 

 

 3
 

 2
 

 E
liz
a
 G
o
re
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
t 
A
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
is
t 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 

A
d
v
ic
e
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
(i
) 

T
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ts
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
 a
 w
e
lc
o
m
e
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 
It
 t
a
k
e
s
 i
n
to
 a
c
c
o
u
n
t 
th
e
 

im
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
E
a
ri
th
’s
 s
e
tt
le
m
e
n
t 
m
o
rp
h
o
lo
g
y
. 
 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 H
is
to
ri
c
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
is
 c
o
n
c
is
e
 i
n
 

te
rm
s
 o
f 
m
e
d
ie
v
a
l 
a
n
d
 p
o
s
t-
m
e
d
ie
v
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t,
 

b
u
t 
is
 p
ro
v
id
e
s
 a
 r
a
th
e
r 
lim
it
e
d
 s
u
m
m
a
ry
 o
f 
a
 

la
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 t
h
a
t 
is
 v
e
ry
 r
ic
h
 i
n
 a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
s
it
e
s
. 

T
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
e
v
e
ra
l 
R
o
m
a
n
 f
in
d
s
p
o
ts
 a
n
d
 p
re
h
is
to
ri
c
 

q
u
a
rr
y
in
g
. 

 

 
(i
i)
 

N
o
te
d
 

  
(i
ii)
 

N
o
te
d
 

    
 

 

 3
 
  3
 
    

 3
 

 N
a
tu
ra
l 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 

E
a
s
tb
ro
o
k
 

S
h
a
ft
e
s
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 

 (i
) 

T
h
e
 r
e
v
is
e
d
 s
it
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
B
e
rr
y
 F
e
n
 S
S
S
I 

a
n
d
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
 s
o
u
th
e
rn
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 O
u
s
e
 W
a
s
h
e
s
 

S
S
S
I,
 S
A
C
, 
S
P
A
 a
n
d
 R
a
m
s
a
r.
 N
a
tu
ra
l 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 w
ill
 n
e
e
d
 

to
 b
e
 i
n
fo
rm
e
d
 i
f 
th
is
 i
m
p
o
s
e
s
 a
n
y
 o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 

la
n
d
o
w
n
e
rs
 o
r 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 l
ik
e
ly
 t
o
 c
o
n
fl
ic
t 
w
it
h
 t
h
e
 

in
te
re
s
ts
 o
f 
n
a
tu
re
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
. 

 

 
(i
) 

N
o
te
d
 

   
 

 

 3
 

 4
 

 P
e
te
r 
B
ra
c
e
 

E
a
ri
th
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 (i
) 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 w
it
h
 r
e
g
a
rd
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

B
la
n
k
e
t 
a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 e
x
c
e
s
s
iv
e
. 
N
o
 p
ro
b
le
m
 w
it
h
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
 

T
h
e
 B
u
lw
a
rk
 a
n
d
 B
la
c
k
 F
e
n
. 
T
h
e
re
 a
re
 s
o
m
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 

a
n
d
 s
it
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 
N
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 

o
b
je
c
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 i
n
 H
ig
h
 S
tr
e
e
t,
 C
o
ln
e
 R
o
a
d
 a
n
d
 

C
h
a
p
e
l 
R
o
a
d
. 

 

 
(i
) 

M
e
e
ti
n
g
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a
n
d
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 r
e
d
ra
w
n
 

    

 1
 

425



 5
 

 L
e
tt
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 l
o
c
a
l 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

 (i
) 

C
h
a
p
e
l 
R
o
a
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 a
s
 i
t 
h
a
s
 a
 m
ix
tu
re
 

o
f 
p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
, 
a
 l
o
t 
o
f 
w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 m
o
d
e
rn
. 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
C
o
ln
e
 R
o
a
d
 i
s
 b
e
s
t 
c
o
n
s
e
rv
e
d
 w
it
h
o
u
t 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
re
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 b
e
in
g
 i
m
p
o
s
e
d
 u
p
o
n
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
. 

(i
ii)
 

T
h
e
 N
e
w
 L
o
d
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 r
e
m
a
in
 a
s
 a
 c
a
r 
p
a
rk
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

p
a
rk
in
g
 r
e
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 H
ig
h
 S
tr
e
e
t.
 

(i
v
) 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 i
n
 B
ri
d
g
e
 E
n
d
 n
o
t 
to
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

(v
) 

R
e
q
u
e
s
t 
fo
r 
p
ro
p
e
rt
y
 i
n
 W
h
y
b
ro
w
s
 l
a
n
e
 n
o
t 
to
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 

in
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

(v
i)
 

C
o
n
c
e
rn
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 

p
u
tt
in
g
 g
re
a
te
r 
re
s
tr
ic
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 o
w
n
e
rs
. 

 

 
(i
) 

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 r
e
d
ra
w
n
 

 (i
i)
 

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 r
e
d
ra
w
n
 

 
(i
ii)
 

N
o
te
d
 

 
(i
v
) 

N
o
te
d
 

 
(v
) 

B
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 r
e
d
ra
w
n
 

 
(v
i)
 

N
o
te
d
 

 1
 
 1
 
 3
 
 3
 
 1
 
 3
 
 

    

426



 

                             
 
 
COMT 
CABINET 

                        27TH MAY 2008 
                        12TH JUNE 2008 

 
 

THE HEMINGFORDS CONSERVATION AREA:  
CHARACTER STATEMENT AND BOUNDARY REVIEW 

 
(Report by Planning Policy Manager) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the responses to 

The Hemingfords Character Assessment and Boundary Review 
consultation documents and to consider the Council’s response.  

  
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The District Council is committed to the production of Conservation Area 

Character Statements to provide an analysis of the special interest of all 
the District’s 60 Conservation Areas. These documents will be used to 
guide decisions on planning matters and other changes to the fabric of 
Conservation Areas to ensure that the character and appearance of 
Conservation Areas is not diminished.  It is also hoped that the 
publication of these documents will help to increase the general public’s 
awareness of the special qualities that make the District’s Conservation 
Areas unique. 

 
2.2 The existing Hemingfords Conservation Area Character Statement was 

adopted in October 1974 following a period of public consultation. Under 
the new Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs), all character 
statements should be reviewed in a five year rolling programme to 
ensure that the advice being offered is relevant and up-to-date. It was 
last reviewed in 1994. 

 
3. THE BOUNDARY REVIEW 
 
 The original boundary of The Hemingfords Conservation Area was very tightly 

drawn around building groups and did not reflect a thorough or justified 
examination of the area’s historic merit or development. Best and current 
practice expects Conservation Area boundaries to be drawn on the basis 
of thorough research and analysis.  

 
 Following the methodology for Boundary Review adopted in 2003, it is 

proposed that the Conservation Area is enlarged. This would better 
reflect the historic relationship between the villages and the surrounding 
area. The proposed boundary also includes some of the earlier urban 
extensions within the villages. 

 
 The rationale for the proposed boundary changes is explained and illustrated 

in the attached document, The Hemingfords Conservation Area 
Boundary Review. 

Agenda Item 10

427



 

 
  
 
 
4. THE CHARACTER ASSESSMENT 

 
4.1 The contents of the Character Assessment follow a previously-agreed 

pattern, which conveys the special architectural and historical interest of 
the Conservation Area through maps, photographic illustrations and 
written text.  Specific references are made to:- 

 

• The historical development of Hemingford Abbots and Hemingford 

Grey 

• The essential characteristics of the Conservation Area including 

important views, focal points and landmark buildings 

• The green open spaces, trees and gardens in the Conservation 

Area 

• The architectural styles within the villages 

• The distribution of construction materials 

• Examples of traditional local detailing 

 
4.2 This approach conforms with English Heritage’s recent publication 

Guidance on conservation area appraisals 2006. 
 

  
5. THE CONSULTATION RESPONSE 
 
5.1 15 written responses have been received from the statutory agencies, 

local organisations and members of the public consulted. The comments 
received are presented within Appendix 1 and the Council’s response to 
them is also indicated. Some comments were received after the final draft 
was sent to printing. Changes were made to the documents and the 
relevant pages have been printed separately as an addendum to the 
Character Assessment. 

 
5.2 Many comments related to minor issues of fact or detail, or issues beyond 

the scope of the document.  
 
5.3 On 25th February 2008, the Development Control Panel endorsed the 

Character Statement and Boundary Review. 
 
 
6. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 That the Cabinet considers the responses to comments presented in 

Appendix 1 and agrees to: 
 

1. Adopt the revised Hemingfords Conservation Area Character 
Assessment and Boundary Review (as previously circulated) with 
the amendments contained in Appendix 1 of this paper, which will 
become a material consideration in planning decisions.  

428



 

 
 

2. Authorise the Head of Planning Services to make any minor 
consequential amendments to the text and illustrations necessary 
as a result of these changes, after consultation with the Executive 
Member for Planning Strategy. 

 
 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Hemingfords Draft Character Assessment and Boundary Review 
 
 
Contact Officer: Susan Smith 

Assistant Conservation Officer 
 (((( 01480 388416 
 

429



430

This page is intentionally left blank



T
H
E
 H
E
M
IN
G
F
O
R
D
S
 C
H
A
R
A
C
T
E
R
 A
S
S
E
S
S
M
E
N
T
 &
 B
O
U
N
D
A
R
Y
 R
E
V
IE
W
: 
S
U
M
M
A
R
Y
 O
F
 R
E
S
P
O
N
S
E
S
  

A
P
P
E
N
D
IX
 O
N
E
 

 1
 –
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

2
 –
 n
o
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 r
e
m
it
 o
f 
th
is
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t 

3
 –
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
 t
a
k
e
n
 

  
R
e
s
p
o
n
d
e
n
t 

C
o
m
m
e
n
t 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 

 1
 

 W
e
s
t 
H
ig
h
w
a
y
s
 D
iv
is
io
n
 

B
o
x
 E
T
 1
0
3
1
 

S
ta
n
to
n
 W
a
y
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

 

 
(i
) 

N
o
 C
o
m
m
e
n
t 

 N
o
te
d
 

   

 3
 
  

 2
 

 C
h
ri
s
 B
la
c
k
m
a
n
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r 

B
o
x
 E
T
 1
0
1
0
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
(i
) 

In
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
te
rm
s
 C
C
C
 a
re
 h
a
p
p
y
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 t
h
e
 

p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

e
n
h
a
n
c
e
m
e
n
t 
th
a
t 
s
h
o
u
ld
 f
o
llo
w
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
. 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 E
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 O
ff
ic
e
r 
h
o
p
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 

in
c
lu
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
 v
ill
a
g
e
 s
c
h
o
o
l 
w
ill
 

n
o
t 
fr
u
s
tr
a
te
 a
n
y
 l
e
g
it
im
a
te
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

n
e
e
d
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
 s
it
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 f
u
tu
re
. 

(i
ii)
 

T
h
e
 p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
fl
ic
t 
w
it
h
 a
n
y
 s
it
e
-

s
p
e
c
if
ic
 p
ro
p
o
s
a
ls
 f
o
r 
th
e
 P
re
fe
rr
e
d
 O
p
ti
o
n
s
 f
o
r 
th
e
 

M
in
e
ra
ls
 a
n
d
 W
a
s
te
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
. 

 N
o
te
d
 

 3
 

431



 3
 

 H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 A
b
b
o
ts
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
le
rk
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

M
rs
 P
a
t 
C
h
a
te
r 

6
2
 C
o
m
m
o
n
 L
a
n
e
 

H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 A
b
b
o
ts
 

 
(i
) 

O
v
e
ra
ll 
th
e
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
re
 v
e
ry
 p
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
e
 

re
v
is
io
n
. 
H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
th
e
re
 w
e
re
 s
o
m
e
 s
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 

c
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 a
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
. 

(i
i)
 

S
u
g
g
e
s
te
d
 e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 t
h
e
 

w
e
s
te
rn
 a
re
a
 o
f 
T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
, 
W
e
s
tm
e
a
re
 a
n
d
 L
a
n
g
le
y
 

W
a
y
, 
a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
a
s
te
rn
 s
id
e
 o
f 
T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
, 
M
a
n
o
r 

R
o
a
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
B
ra
g
g
s
 L
a
n
e
. 

(i
ii)
 

A
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
e
x
te
n
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 t
o
 

th
e
 s
o
u
th
 o
f 
H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 A
b
b
o
ts
. 

(i
v
) 

G
ra
m
m
a
r 
a
n
d
 p
u
n
c
tu
a
ti
o
n
 c
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

(v
) 

P
h
o
to
g
ra
p
h
s
 –
 c
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
. 

(v
i)
 

C
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
n
 t
e
x
t.
 

(v
ii)
 

T
h
e
 T
h
a
tc
h
e
d
 C
o
tt
a
g
e
 i
s
 a
 r
e
b
u
ild
 o
f 
a
 l
is
te
d
 b
u
ild
in
g
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 l
is
ti
n
g
 i
n
fo
rm
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 u
p
d
a
te
d
. 

(v
iii
) 

W
h
a
t 
c
ri
te
ri
a
 d
o
 B
u
ild
in
g
s
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
In
te
re
s
t 
h
a
v
e
?
 C
a
n
 

o
th
e
r 
b
u
ild
in
g
s
 b
e
 n
o
m
in
a
te
d
?
 

(i
x
) 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 v
e
ry
 l
it
tl
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
iv
e
r 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 

e
s
s
e
n
ti
a
l 
to
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
th
e
 v
ill
a
g
e
s
 

(x
) 

F
o
o
tp
a
th
s
, 
b
ri
d
le
w
a
y
s
 a
n
d
 c
y
c
le
w
a
y
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
t.
 

(x
i)
 

G
o
d
m
a
n
c
h
e
s
te
r 
E
a
s
ts
id
e
 C
o
m
m
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 n
o
te
d
 

a
s
 a
 s
it
e
 o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
l 
a
rc
h
a
e
o
lo
g
ic
a
l 
in
te
re
s
t.
 

(x
ii)
 

R
id
e
a
w
a
y
 D
ri
v
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
 a
s
 u
n
iq
u
e
 i
n
 

te
rm
s
 o
f 
L
o
c
a
l 
A
u
th
o
ri
ty
 H
o
u
s
in
g
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 t
h
a
tc
h
e
d
 

ro
o
fs
. 

(x
iii
) 

P
le
a
s
e
d
 t
o
 s
e
e
 t
h
a
t 
Q
u
ie
t 
W
a
te
rs
 C
a
ra
v
a
n
 P
a
rk
 h
a
s
 

b
e
e
n
 k
e
p
t 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

(x
iv
) 

T
h
e
 S
p
la
s
h
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
e
d
. 

(x
v
) 

D
o
e
s
 t
h
e
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 o
ff
e
r 
a
n
y
 p
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 f
o
r 

ri
d
g
e
 a
n
d
 f
u
rr
o
w
?
 C
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 l
a
n
d
 b
e
 t
u
rn
e
d
 i
n
to
 

a
ra
b
le
?
 

(x
v
i)
 

T
h
e
 a
re
a
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
e
a
r 
o
f 
R
o
y
a
l 
O
a
k
 C
o
rn
e
r 
s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

s
h
o
w
n
 w
it
h
 a
 s
ig
n
if
ic
a
n
t 
tr
e
e
s
 s
y
m
b
o
l.
 

(x
v
ii)
 

W
h
a
t 
d
o
e
s
 m
in
o
r 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
w
o
rk
s
 r
e
fe
r 
to
. 
T
h
e
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 v
ig
ila
n
t 
in
 w
o
rk
in
g
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
 h
ig
h
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 o
f 
d
e
ta
il 
fo
r 
b
o
u
n
d
a
ri
e
s
, 

s
ig
n
a
g
e
, 
ro
a
d
s
 a
n
d
 p
a
v
e
m
e
n
ts
. 

 

 
(i
) 

N
o
te
d
 

  
(i
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

   
(i
ii)
 

N
o
t 
th
o
u
g
h
t 
n
e
c
e
s
s
a
ry
 

 (i
v
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(v
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(v
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(v
ii)
 

N
o
te
d
 

 
(v
iii
) 

N
o
te
d
 

 
(i
x
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 
(x
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 
(x
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 
(x
ii)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

  
(x
iii
) 

N
o
te
d
 

 (x
iv
) 

N
o
te
d
 

(x
v
) 

N
o
te
d
 

  
(x
v
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 (x
v
ii)
 
N
o
te
d
 

 
 

 

 3
 
  1
 
   3
 
1
 
1
 
1
&
3
 

1
&
3
 

2
 
 2
 
 1
 
 1
 
 1
 
 1
 
  3
 
 3
 
3
 
  1
 
 3
 

432



 4
 

 H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
 P
a
ri
s
h
 

C
o
u
n
c
il 

C
le
rk
 t
o
 t
h
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

M
rs
 G
 S
to
e
h
r 

3
0
 W
e
s
t 
D
ri
v
e
 

H
ig
h
fi
e
ld
s
 

C
a
ld
e
c
o
te
 

 (i
) 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 o
n
ly
 r
e
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 o
n
e
 s
id
e
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
e
e
t,
 

fo
r 
e
x
a
m
p
le
 S
t 
Iv
e
s
 R
o
a
d
, 
w
o
u
ld
 t
h
e
 o
th
e
r 
s
id
e
 b
e
 

s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 n
o
rm
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 l
a
w
?
 

(i
i)
 

T
h
e
 w
e
s
t 
o
f 
T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
 a
n
d
 i
ts
 e
a
s
te
rn
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 s
h
o
u
ld
 

b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 
P
lu
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 a
re
a
 n
o
rt
h
 o
f 
M
a
n
o
r 
R
o
a
d
 

a
n
d
 t
h
e
 s
o
u
th
e
rn
 e
d
g
e
 o
f 
V
ic
a
ra
g
e
 F
ie
ld
s
. 

(i
ii)
 

T
e
x
t 
c
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

(i
v
) 

F
o
o
tp
a
th
s
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 a
d
d
e
d
. 

(v
) 

P
re
fe
r 
ri
v
e
rs
id
e
 m
e
a
d
o
w
s
 t
o
 b
e
 r
e
fe
rr
e
d
 t
o
 a
s
 ‘
fl
o
o
d
 

m
e
a
d
o
w
s
’ 
ra
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 ‘
w
a
te
r 
m
e
a
d
o
w
s
’.
 

(v
i)
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
w
o
u
ld
 a
g
re
e
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 p
ro
b
le
m
s
 w
it
h
 

th
e
 p
a
rk
in
g
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 i
n
 t
h
e
 H
ig
h
 S
tr
e
e
t 
a
n
d
 C
h
u
rc
h
 

S
tr
e
e
t.
 H
o
w
e
v
e
r 
to
 s
ta
te
 t
h
a
t 
‘r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 

o
u
g
h
t 
to
 b
e
 a
b
le
 t
o
 s
o
rt
 o
u
t 
m
o
re
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
to
ry
 

a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
’ 
is
 n
o
t 
h
e
lp
fu
l.
 

(v
ii)
 

It
 w
o
u
ld
 b
e
 h
e
lp
fu
l 
if
 t
h
e
 m
a
p
 s
h
o
w
e
d
 t
h
e
 p
a
ri
s
h
 

b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 f
o
r 
H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
. 

(v
iii
) 

T
h
e
 r
id
g
e
 a
n
d
 f
u
rr
o
w
 n
e
e
d
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 k
e
y
. 

(i
x
) 

T
h
e
 A
p
e
x
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
h
o
w
n
 a
s
 a
 c
o
rn
e
r 
b
u
ild
in
g
 a
n
d
 i
t 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
h
o
w
n
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 g
lim
p
s
e
 v
ie
w
s
 o
f 
S
t 
Iv
e
s
 

p
a
ri
s
h
 c
h
u
rc
h
 s
p
ir
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 g
ra
s
s
la
n
d
 i
n
 H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 

R
o
a
d
. 

(x
) 

It
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
h
o
w
n
 t
h
a
t 
‘s
id
e
w
a
y
s
 s
a
s
h
 w
in
d
o
w
s
’ 
a
re
 

c
o
m
m
o
n
 i
n
 t
h
e
 v
ill
a
g
e
. 

(x
i)
 

T
h
e
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
s
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 o
f 
th
e
 

H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
 P
re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 S
o
c
ie
ty
 t
o
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 

C
o
u
n
c
il,
 e
s
p
e
c
ia
lly
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
o
rt
a
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
e
 r
iv
e
r.
 

 
(i
) 

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
e
 i
n
 w
ri
ti
n
g
 

  
(i
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 (i
ii)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(i
v
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(v
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 (v
i)
 

N
o
te
d
 

    
(v
ii)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 (v
iii
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(i
x
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

   
(x
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

  
(x
i)
 

N
o
te
d
 

 
 

 

 3
 
  1
 
 1
 
1
 
1
 
 3
 
    1
 
 1
 
1
 
   1
 
  3
 

433



 5
 

 H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
 

P
re
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 S
o
c
ie
ty
 

C
h
a
ir
 D
a
v
id
 d
e
 G
a
ri
s
 

1
 M
e
a
d
o
w
 C
lo
s
e
 

H
e
m
in
g
fo
rd
 G
re
y
 

 (i
) 

W
h
e
re
 r
o
a
d
 f
o
rm
s
 b
o
u
n
d
a
ry
 o
f 
C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
, 
th
e
re
 

s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 r
u
le
s
 t
o
 p
re
v
e
n
t 
d
e
s
p
o
ili
n
g
 t
h
e
 

a
re
a
. 

(i
i)
 

It
 i
s
 n
o
t 
c
le
a
r 
if
 V
ic
to
ri
a
 T
e
rr
a
c
e
 a
n
d
 L
im
e
s
 P
a
rk
 a
re
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

(i
ii)
 

M
a
n
o
r 
R
o
a
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 e
a
s
t 
s
id
e
 o
f 
T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 

in
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
. 

(i
v
) 

W
it
h
 t
h
e
 c
ri
ti
c
is
m
 o
f 
th
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 o
f 
p
a
v
in
g
, 
s
tr
e
e
t 

fu
rn
it
u
re
 a
n
d
 s
ig
n
a
g
e
, 
p
e
rh
a
p
s
 t
h
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
c
o
u
ld
 

e
n
lis
t 
th
e
 h
e
lp
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
to
 o
b
ta
in
 

im
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t.
  

(v
) 

T
h
e
re
 i
s
 m
in
im
a
l 
re
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 r
iv
e
r 
w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 a
 f
o
c
a
l 

p
o
in
t 
fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 v
ill
a
g
e
. 

(v
i)
 

T
e
x
t 
c
o
rr
e
c
ti
o
n
s
. 

(v
ii)
 

D
o
e
s
 D
a
in
tr
e
e
 G
re
e
n
 a
s
 a
n
 o
p
e
n
 s
p
a
c
e
 m
e
ri
t 
a
 m
e
n
ti
o
n
?
 

 

 
(i
) 

N
o
te
d
 

  
(i
i)
 

N
o
te
d
 

 
(i
ii)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 
(i
v
) 

N
o
te
d
 

   
(v
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

 
(v
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(v
ii)
 

N
o
te
d
 

  

 2
 
  3
 
 1
 
 3
 
   1
 
 1
 
3
 

 6
 

 C
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
rm
s
 a
n
d
 

le
tt
e
rs
 f
ro
m
 l
o
c
a
l 

re
s
id
e
n
ts
 

 (i
) 

T
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
B
ra
g
g
s
 L
a
n
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 

(i
i)
 

M
a
n
o
r 
R
o
a
d
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
  

(i
v
) 

T
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 

(v
) 

T
h
e
 T
h
o
rp
e
 s
h
o
u
ld
 n
o
t 
b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
. 
T
h
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 o
f 
n
o
te
 

a
re
 c
o
v
e
re
d
 b
y
 L
is
te
d
 B
u
ild
in
g
 l
e
g
is
la
ti
o
n
. 

 

 
(i
) 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(i
i)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(i
ii)
 

A
m
e
n
d
m
e
n
ts
 m
a
d
e
 

(i
v
) 

N
o
te
d
 

 1
 
1
 
1
 
3
 

    

434



 
CABINET                                                                       12th June 2008 
                                                                                         
    
   
 

PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
(Report by the Head of Policy and Strategic Services) 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Members performance 

management information on “Growing Success” – the Council’s Corporate 
Plan – to Cabinet. 

 
2. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
2.2 In January 2007 the Council adopted a revised Corporate Plan “Growing 

Success”.  The plan includes around 50 short, medium and long term 
objectives to help achieve aims and ambitions for Huntingdonshire’s 
communities and the Council itself. In addition the Council have identified a 
small number, 12, objectives which were considered to be a priority for the 
immediate future. 

3. Performance Management  

3.1 Progress against all 50 or so objectives are reported to Chief Officer 
Management Team quarterly on a service basis. A progress report from 
each Division includes performance data in the form of achievement 
against a target for each of the objectives that those services contributes 
towards and is supported by narrative on achievements and other issues or 
risks. 

 
3.2 Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Panel have an important role in the 

Council’s comprehensive Performance Management framework and the 
process of regular review of performance data has been established.  In 
adopting the updated version of Growing Success, and in particular in 
prioritising objectives, it was intended that members should concentrate 
their monitoring on a small number of objectives to enable them to take a 
strategic approach which in turn would build confidence that the Council 
priorities are being achieved.  

 

3.3 Executive members at the November Cabinet meeting requested that the 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel’s deliberations were summarised and 
appended to this report.  However, due to the timing of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel’s meeting and the distribution of the Cabinet agenda the 
Panels comments will now be circulated separately. 

 

4 PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 

The following performance data is appended for consideration: 
Annex A - a summary of achievements, issues and risks relating to the 
objectives identified by the Heads of Service 
Annex B - Performance data from services which contribute to the Council 
objectives.  For each measure there is a target, actual performance against 

Agenda Item 11

435



target, forecast performance for the next period and a comments field.  The 
data is colour coded as follows: 

• green – achieving target or above; 

• amber – between target and an “intervention level (the level at which 
performance is considered to be unacceptable and action is required); 

• red – the intervention level or below; and 

• grey - data not unavailable 
Annex C – Council Improvement Plan – a rolling plan of actions identified 
following internal or external reviews such as the Comprehensive 
Performance Assessment, Use of Resources Assessment, Direction of 
Travel Statement and the Annual Governance Statement. 

 
5.  REVIEW OF GROWING SUCESSS 

In line with the agreed process the annual review of Growing Success 
(objectives/targets etc) was intended so that an updated version could be 
presented to members by end of June.  However, the preparation of a new 
Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) and Local Area Agreement (LAA) for 
Cambridgeshire presents an opportunity for the Council to examine our 
organisational objectives and targets so that we can demonstrate our 
contribution to these broader outcomes for the benefit of Huntingdonshire.  
The timing of these documents mean the review of Growing Success will take 
place in late summer and be submitted to the Council in September.  It is 
proposed this will be adopted as the timetable for the review of Growing 
Success in future years as this provides a better fit with the Councils 
business planning, budget, MTP and service planning process. 

 
6. RECOMMENDATION 
 

It is recommended that Cabinet consider the results of performance for priority 
objectives. 

 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Performance Management reports produced from the Council’s CPMF software 
system 
 
Growing Success: Corporate Plan 
 
Contact Officer: Howard Thackray, Policy & Research Manager 
 (((( 01480 388035 

436



SERVICE DELIVERY (up to 31st March 2008) ANNEX A 
 

Objective  Comments from appropriate Head of Service 

Achievements: Environmental Management :Tackling climate change and Using resources efficiently 
Planning - LDF Core Strategy being taken forward with the requirement to deliver sustainable 
development being a cornerstone of that whole policy initiative. All planning decisions being made 
with positive regard to sustainable development as a material planning consideration 

Issues: Planning - New Government guidance issued in December 2007 (updated PPS1 – Planning and 
Climate Change) which has again amended the requirements in terms of ‘local’ policy developments. 
Draft local policies to be reconsidered in light of this amended guidance. 

To lower carbon 
emissions 

Risks: Environmental Management -Financial forecast included in SEA Revue scenarios reduce enthusiasm 
for activity intended to reduce carbon emissions. Sensitivity needed in terms on information 
interpretation 
Planning - Uncertainty regarding the basis of what can be considered as ‘local’ policy (and the 
specifics of its content and what evidence base will be needed to support it) needs to be clarified via 
inputs from Go-East and the Planning Inspectorate 

Achievements: Leisure Development overall has experienced a 22% increase in throughput in 2007/08 compared 
to 2006/07.  In particular the Health Walks Scheme, the Cardiac Rehabilitation Phase IV Scheme and 
the Community Sports Programme (disability and equity related) have had exceptional growth and 
success.  The service has won two new lottery funding awards during the year which will come into 
effect during 2008/09 – these include a new project for older people – ‘Active at 50’ and the second 
for adults but specifically the 16-34 year olds, ‘Community Sports Network – Sports Activator’    
Health Improvement Service HDC awarded The Food Standards Agency Regional  Food Champion 
Award for the hunts for Good Project. Currently Nominated for National Champion 

Issues: Arts Service 
Art attack sessions still proving popular with high customer satisfaction levels although numbers 
fluctuate according to weather and availability of other local half term activities. New summer school 
activities planned 

To promote healthy 
lifestyle choices 

Risks: Leisure Development Short term funding arrangements for the health and physical activity 
programmes. The short term temporary nature of some of the staff positions means that the risk of 
staff turnover is high. The positions are highly specialised in nature and recruiting to a similar 
standard is difficult and training new staff can be expensive and takes a significant amount of time (at 
least 6 months) Smoke Free Services DH grant funding for Smoke Free Officer runs out at end of 
this financial year 

To achieve a low level 
of homelessness  

Achievements: The number of households prevented from becoming homeless was 29 for the quarter, giving a total 
of 138 households from April 07 to March 08. 
Despite an increase in the number of households threatened with homelessness in the last quarter of 
the year compared to the same period last year, the overall number of households becoming 
homeless in 2007/08 saw a reduction on the previous financial year (146 households in 07/08 
compared to 160 in 06/07).   

4
3
7



6 self contained flats were completed at Coneygear Ct.  Whilst this will not reduce homelessness it 
will provide a better quality alternative to the use of B&B. 
The sub-regional Home-Link Choice Based Lettings scheme went live at the end of February as 
planned.  This transparency of available properties should lessen the sometimes unrealistic 
expectations of sought after locations by some applicants. 

Issues: Monitor the impact of the Register’s new priority ‘banding’ system to ensure that it does not have an 
impact on the prevention of homelessness or restrict homeless households from moving on from 
temporary accommodation.   
Currently waiting to see the outcome of the introduction of the Local Housing Allowance to see if this 
makes settled homes (in the private sector) a more affordable proposition to implement 
Awaiting outcome of LAA reward grant bids to increase emergency homelessness provision as an 
alternative to the use of B&B 

Risks: Major incident resulting in high levels of homelessness.  
Recent interest rate rises and wider economic factors could increase demand. 
Failure of LAA reward grant bids. 

Achievements: Spent £1,390,092 of HDC affordable housing grant 
Completed village needs survey for Bluntisham and Colne 
Secured £1,217,038 social housing grant from Housing corporation (08/11). 
Completed 69 Affordable Homes and 27 HomeBuy  (for the year 07/08) 
Planning - Through the successful application of policy and via suitably robust negotiations we have 
been able to deliver a higher overall % level of affordable housing 

Issues: Complete village needs survey for Needingworth (subject to Rural Housing enabler post being filled 
[not a HDC employee]). 
Review HDC grant programme and commit funding for Huntingdon Town Centre site.  
Project manage the delivery of the exemplar high energy efficient scheme on HDC land (Mayfield 
Road). 
Receive the results of the New Development Survey research project and arrange a seminar for 
feedback to Officers/Members 
Planning - Changes in national planning policy now allows for a greater degree of commercial viability 
to be considered in respect of S106 negotiations. Therefore we will need to appropriately reinforce 
our in-house (or retained) skills base in order for us to remain as successful in terms of delivering the 
required outcomes. 

To enable the provision 
of affordable housing 
 

Risks: RSLs and developers not performing to timescales.  
Availability of Housing Corporation funding via the bidding process. 
Planning - further amendments to the ‘balance’ of national policy and specifically in respect of the 
amount of grant potentially available could put pressure on the preferred mix of affordable housing. 
Reductions in grant could reduce the ability to deliver social rented housing and increase other forms 
of provision e.g. shared equity. Delays on developments, outside of HDC control, may result in under 
or overspend of budget. 

 

4
3
8



 
 
 
 
SERVICE DELIVERY (up to 31st March 2008) ANNEX B 
 

 Community/Council Aim: A Clean, Green and Attractive place 

Objective: To Lower Carbon Emissions 

Division: Planning 

Divisional Objective: To encourage sustainable forms of development  

Key activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective 

Key Measure 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Include sustainable policies within LDF 
(to set a sustainable policy framework) 

Core Strategy – Adherence to LDF timetable on 
target 

1 1 1 1= on target QRT 

To make appropriate planning 
decisions (to encourage sustainable 
forms of development) 

Developing a policy in accordance with the Local 
Development Scheme timetable to encourage 
improved on-site energy efficiency levels (10% 
reduction in CO2 emissions) by Sep 2009 

1 1 1 

On target , however, 
national policy will 
supersede this 
requirement, measure 
will be deleted from 
April 08 

QRT 

To positively encourage sustainable 
development via UDF’s etc (to give 
targeted guidance) 

Developing a policy in accordance with the Local 
Development Scheme timetable to encourage 10% 
improvement in on-site renewable energy 
generation target by Sep 2009 

 
1 

1 1 

On target , however, 
national policy will 
supersede this 
requirement, measure 
will be deleted from 
April 08 

QRT 

Division: Technical Services 

Divisional Objective: To Lower Carbon Emissions 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Encourage implementation by service 
management of measures intended to 
reduce overall corporate consumption 
of energy from non-renewable sources 

Achieve 1% annual reduction in the Council’s 
consumption of non-renewable energy 

1 1 1 

1 = on target. The 
Council switched to 
renewable energy 
Tariff in April 2007 
which alone enabled 
the 1% carbon 
reduction target to be 
achieved.  Detailed 
energy use monitoring 

QRT 

4
3
9



system to be 
introduced in 2008 in 
conjunction with the 
Carbon Trust. Energy 
Savings identified 
through this process 
will result in future 
reductions 

Extend Travel Plans to all of the 
Council’s employment sites and 
promote implementation of their 
associated action plans. 

 
Annual targets in approved Travel Plans on target 

1 1 1 

1 = on target.  Target 
for reduction in car use 
being monitored via 
the annual travel for 
work survey. Travel 
plans introduced for 
Speke house, Eastfield 
House and 
Headquarters. 

QRT 

Promote energy efficiency and use of 
renewable energy to householders.  

For properties built before 1997 reduce energy 
consumption to 70% of 1996 consumption by April 
2011. 

1 1 1 

1 = on target.  Home 
Energy Conservation 
Act HECA report for 
2006/07 completed 
November 2007. 
4.18% improvement in 
2006/07. Cumulative 
energy saving from 
1995 to 2007(27.57%) 
so in line for achieving 
30% target by 2010/11 

QRT 

Promote implementation of 
Environment Strategy’s action plan 

Annual targets in approved Environment Strategy 
achieved – 2008/09 and beyond. 

1 1 1 

1 = on target.  
Environment strategy 
year one action plan 
approved.  Full 
baseline figures and 
targets for year 1 to be 
published Sept 2008 

QRT 

Secure initial adoption of Environment 
Strategy by March 2008 and 
subsequent annual review/update to 
ensure that any necessary MTP annual 
funding commitment is made by the 

Initial Environment Strategy approved in March 
2008 for implementation from 2008/09 

1 1 1 

1 = on target.  
Environment strategy 
adopted by Council in 
April 2008, year one 
action plan also 

QRT 

4
4
0



council to deliver on-going carbon 
dioxide reduction. 

approved 

Community/Council Aim: Healthy Living 

Objective: To Promote healthy lifestyle choices 

Division: Administration  

Divisional Objective: To Increase participation in healthy physical activities   

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Maintain and improve standard of 
facilities and match facility provision 
with usage demand. 

Number of visits for physical activity to Leisure 
Centres by March 2008 (1.5 million) 

16870
00Up 
to Q4 

1659
38 

 

Actual = cumulative 
total for Q4. 
Attendance levels up 
1.25% on last year 
despite St Neots 
swimming pool being 
closed for 6 months of 
the year 

QRT 

Promotion and marketing of available 
activities  

Number (18400) of active card holders by March 
2008 

18400 
For 
Q4 

1708
9 

 

target of 18400 by 
March 2008 not 
achieved , main reason 
was due to the closure 
of St Neots swimming 
pool for 6 months 

QRT 

Division: Lifestyles 

Divisional Objective: To promote healthy lifestyle choices 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Diet: Supporting the Hunts for Good 
Food Programme in establishing a 
healthy eating culture 

Number of Food projects supported and promoted 4 6   QRT 

Offering training for smoking cessation 
and helping workplaces become 
smoke-free 

Number of businesses participating in smoking 
cessation programme 

5 6 5  QRT 

Provide a range of accessible leisure 
opportunities such as: a Holiday 
Activity Programme for <17 years 

Total throughput of school, outreach and holiday 
activity Programmes 

300 398  
 Annual result 4,441 = 
14% increase on 
2006/07 

QRT 

Provide under-represented groups with 
the opportunity to participate in sport 
and active recreation  

Total throughput of activity programme for disabled 
participants and under-represented groups 

350 908  

Increase due to the 
success of street 
sports initiative in 
Yaxley and Huntingon 

QRT 

4
4
1



Support Vulnerable People to be more 
active, Cardiac Rehabilitation 
programme and Health Walks 

Total throughput of the Cardiac Rehabilitation 
programme and Health walks in Huntingdonshire  

1300 2275  

Extra Cardiac class 
introduced and Health 
walks have been very 
popular. 

QRT 

Divisional Objective: To provide a range of accessible arts activities to provide a means of self-expression and support sound mental health 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Organise family-friendly Art attack-
based events  

Number of people (family friendly) participating 30 24  QRT 

Organise participatory arts activities for 
children in School half-term breaks (Art 
Attack) 

Number of children attending Art Attack sessions 
(throughput) 

120 104  

Events take place over 
the school half term 
breaks (3 per year). 

QRT 

Community/Council Aim: Housing that meets the local need 

Objective: To achieve a low level of homelessness 

Division: Housing 

Divisional Objective: To achieve a low level of homelessness 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

By helping to prevent people from 
becoming homeless by housing 
homeless people where appropriate 

Numbers of households prevented from becoming 
homeless each year to 2009 

 
135 138 

35 for 
Q1 

08/09 

Target of 140 for 
2008/09 QRT 

Objective: To enable the provision of affordable housing 

Division: Housing 

Divisional Objective: To enable the provision of affordable housing 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

By maximising the land available for 
new affordable housing. By working in 
partnership with Housing Associations 
to bid for external funding. By making a 
financial contribution to pay for 
affordable homes to be built 

 
 
Number of new affordable homes built by 2010 

 
 

63 
96 

175 
during 
financi
al yr 

08/09 

Annual target for 
2008/09 is 175 

QRT 

Division: Planning 

Divisional Objective: Maximise provision of affordable housing on relevant development sites 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Develop Core Strategy and 
Development Control Policies DPD (to % of housing completions on qualifying sites that 

are affordable (in Cambridge Sub Region) 

 
40 

 
46.1

 
40  YRL 

4
4
2



5 

% if housing completions on qualifying sites that 
are affordable (out of CSR) 

29 46 29  YRL 

set framework)/Adopt Planning 
Obligations SPD (to set specific targets 
and thresholds)/ Negotiate S106 
Agreements (to deliver required 
amounts of affordable housing) 

% of affordable housing (commitments) on 
qualifying sites 

30 21 30 

The figure is low 
because the major 
qualifying site is the 
allocated site east of 
the Railway St Neots, 
the area of 
development decided 
during the quarter was 
one with very little 
planned affordable 
housing in it. This has 
the impact of skewing 
the figures when 
measured over a 
relatively short period 
of time as some 
phases have no 
affordable houses 
planned. 

QRT 

 
 

4
4
3



SERVICE SUPPORT (up to 31st March 2008)                                                                                                                         ANNEX A 
 

Objective   

Achievements: Draft Local Economy action plan has been developed. Marketing plan for Creative Enterprise 
Centre developed and service provider group set up to determine programme of training and 
activities for the Centre. Hosted Town Centre Study tour for neighbouring councils in the East 
Midlands Development Agency Area to share our best practice 

Issues: Delivery of Local Economy action plan dependent on external funding. Creative  Enterprise Centre 
activities dependent on partner involvement and funding opportunities 

To promote 
development 
opportunities in and 
around the market 
towns 

Risks: All Partners need to engage if delivery of strategy is to be successful 

Achievements: Sustainable Transport schemes (including the Market Town Transport strategies) are continuing to 
come to fruition including public transport initiatives being delivered, such as Huntingdon to St. Ives 
Bus priority measures and an updated car parking strategy and action plan to commence delivery 
from Summer 2008. Community Transport schemes continue to operate with coverage over the 
majority of the District 

Issues: CCC ability to adequately resource MTTS may impact upon the planned delivery of schemes. 
Community Transport schemes continue to be reliant on volunteer resources to deliver overall 
objectives 

To enhance public, 
community and 
specialist transport into 
and around the market 
towns 

Risks: Community Transport highly vulnerable to changes in funding streams and grant availability. 
Schemes tend to operate financially via a number of different sources. The loss of any one source 
and the inability to secure alternative funding leaves operational services at high risk of termination 

Achievements: The new customer services team has been established from 1st April and now include customer 
service centres, call centre, community information centres and tourist information.  The new team 
reports to Julia Barber, who’s job title has changed to Head of Customer Services.  This new team 
will start to develop plans to implement the requirements of the recently approved Customer 
Service Strategy. 

Issues:  

To improve access to 
Council services 

Risks:  

Achievements: All services entering data into Performance Management system. 

Issues: Timeliness of data entry necessary to feed into reporting cycle. 

To make our  
performance 
management more 
effective and 
transparent 

Risks: Failure to use performance management data could delay development of comprehensive 
performance management system and affect quality of decision making. 

Achievements: Continued involvement in Camshare, promotion of Cycle Scheme and introduction of pool car fleet 
has assisted in reducing car usage. Eastfield House site specific plan in place 

Issues: Providing officer time to promote travel plan issues and monitoring targets set within corporate and 
site specific plans 

To reduce the number 
of car journeys to work 
by employees 

Risks: Considerable officer time required to roll out site specific travel plans and to monitor and update 
those currently in place within the corporate plan  

4
4
4



Achievements: Construction work is on progress with the basic structure of Building C/D nearing completion.  
 Detailed planning for the relocation of staff into the new building is well advanced.  
A planning consent has been secured for the residential development of the site of the former 
Building A.  A marketing exercise has started and tenders for the purchase of the land are due for 
return in June 2008. 

Issues: Planning conditions relating to the external landscaping have not yet been discharged.  
Negotiations continue with the planners to achieve discharge before the construction programme is 
delayed. 

To build the new 
operations centre and 
headquarters 

Risks: Utilities have been ordered to reduce the risk of delay due to the companies’ failure to provide their 
services to programme.  
The national economy is reducing house sales and this may reduce interest in the residential land. 

Achievements: The numbers of applications received locally imply that we are well thought of as an employer. 

Issues: From staff survey June 07 - 71% Stated that “I am satisfied with Council as my employer” 

To be an employer 
people want to work for 

Risks: If HDC were not well thought of this would impact on number of application received and an 
increasing staff turnover 

Achievements: The Budget and MTP was approved by Council on the 20 February 2008. This produced a 
balanced budget for 2008/9 and reduced the ‘gap’ identified in future years budgets.  
We now anticipate achieving a small surplus in the revenue account for 2007/8. 

Issues: Over the course of the 2008 we will be working on how to address the £500,000 - £2m ‘gap’ in the 
revenue budget which is currently apparent for 2009/10 – 2011/2 

To re-balance saving 
and spending to ensure 
resources are available 
to achieve the 
Council’s priorities 

Risks: We are unable to generate sufficient plans to generate new income or reduce expenditure 

 

4
4
5



 
 
SERVICE SUPPORT (up to 31st March 2008)                                                                                                                                    ANNEX B 

Community/Council Aim: A strong, diverse economy 

Objective: To promote development opportunities in and around the market towns 

Division: Policy and Strategic Services 

Divisional Objective: To promote development opportunities in and around the market towns 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Review the Local Economy strategy & 
identify priorities 

% of LES actions/milestones on track 90 100 100 
 QR

T 

Divisional Objective: To support town centres to be economically viable and vibrant 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Support the sustainable development 
of Town Centre Partnerships 

% of town centre projects on track as 
specified in their annual action plans 

90 100 100 
 QR

T 

Community/Council Aim: Access to Services and Transport 

Objective: To enhance public, community and specialist transport into and around the market towns 

Division: Planning 

Divisional  objective: To encourage more sustainable forms of transport 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Develop car parking strategy 
To complete car parking strategy and 
develop Action plan for post – April 2008 
delivery 

1 1 1  
YR
L 

Membership of Nene and Ouse community 
transport 

850 850 850 
 QR

T 
Development of market town transport 
strategies (to set the policy 
framework)/Develop targeted 
proposals and initiatives (to 
encourage specific provision) 

More than 18.5% modal share for daily 
bus, cycle and pedestrian trips across all 4 
market towns (Ave. Figure) 

18.5 19.5 18 
 

YR
L 

Objective: To improve access to council services 

Division: IMD 

Divisional Objective: To review how customers can access Council Services and, if necessary, to deliver change projects as part of the 
customer First Programme. 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

4
4
6



Deliver elements of the temporary 
Customer Service Centre project as 
defined in the PID 

Progress towards review of the customer 
service strategy and implementation of 
authorised projects on target 

1 1 1 

1=on target IMD delivered 
against the project 
implementation document 
for the temp customer 
service centre on time and 
to budget. The revised 
customer service strategy 
was approved by Cabinet in 
Feb 08.  This measure will 
be removed from IMD 
scorecard. 

QR
T 

Percentage of calls answered with 20 
Seconds 

80 81 80 
 QR

T 
Provide Access to Council Services 
Via the  
 
Call Centre and to deliver Phase 2 – 
Roll-out Services to call Centre (from 
late Autumn 2007) 

Percentage of residents rate access to 
council services as good/excellent in the 
Council-wide annual survey  

70   
Data will be available in due 
course 

YR
L 

To implement and additional Kiosk in 
St Neots 

Progress towards the implementation of a 
temporary customer service centre and St 
Neots kiosk on target 

1 1  Implemented 
QR
T 

Division: Revenue and Benefits 

Divisional Objective: To provide a prompt and effective service to customers 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Average waiting time (in minutes) <5.00 4.2  
Average waiting time per 
customer per day over the 
qrt 

QR
T 

Maximum waiting time (in minutes) <60.00 29  
Maximum waiting time any 
one person had to wait per 
day over the qrt 

QR
T 

Dealing with callers at the CSC 

Number of visitors per quarter 13500 
1568

2 
  

QR
T 

Division: Personnel 

Divisional Objective: To enable e-recruitment  

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Advertise posts via Cambs Jobs 
Portal 

Number of hits (opening and looking at 
post details) per post, per quarter 

80 0  
Data will be available in due 
course once the recruitment 

QR
T 

4
4
7



module in ResourceLink 
had been operational for 3 
months 

Resourcelink – Recruitment Module Project plan – implementation on track 1 1 1  
QR
T 

Community/Council Aim: To improve our systems and practices 

Objective: To build the new operations centre and headquarters 

Division: Technical Services 

Divisional Objective: Deliver Headquarters and other accommodation project ensuring buildings are completed to specification, on time 
and to budget  

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Ensure delivery proceeds in 
accordance with approves programme 

Unauthorised delay relative to items on 
critical path of approved development 
programme 

0 0 0 
 

QR
T 

Ensure developer complies with the 
council’s requirements 

Non-financial/timing disputes referred for 
expert adjudication 

0 0 0 
 QR

T 

Ensure that variations are ordered 
only after additional funding has been 
approved 

Value of unfunded ordered variations 
0 0 0 

 
QR
T 

Objective: To make our performance management more effective and transparent 

Division: Policy and Strategic Services 

Divisional objective: To make our performance management effective and more transparent  

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Link all divisional reports to Council 
and Community objectives 

Reports available for COMT on monthly 
basis 

1 1 1 
1=on target reports 
produced monthly 

QR
T 

Set up, maintain divisional 
reports/Ensure all appropriate data is 
entered into the system in time to 
produce management reports. 
Generate scheduled reports via Corvu 

Reports available for Members on a 
quarterly basis 

1 1 1 
1=on target reports 
produced monthly 

QR
T 

Objective: To reduce the number of car journeys to work by employees 

Division: Technical Services 

Divisional objective: To reduce the number of car journeys to work by employees 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver Key Measure: Target Actu Forec Comments: 

4
4
8



service objective: : al ast 

Introduce site specific travel plans at 
each of the Councils main sites 

Reduce the % of employees who drive to 
work by sole use of car 

68 64 

64 
(06/07 
annual 
survey

) 

Data taken from the Annual 
Travel to Work survey 
published in December 
2007.   

QR
T 

Community/Council Aim: To learn and develop 

Objective: To be and Employer People Wish to Work For 

Division: Personnel 

Divisional Objective: To create a culture via policies and procedures that attracts and retains staff 

Key Activity(s) only to deliver 
service objective: 

Key Measure: 
Target
: 

Actu
al 

Forec
ast 

Comments: 

Policies and procedures that keep up 
to date with modern working patterns 

Biennial staff survey - % level of 
satisfaction 

80 71  

From staff survey June 07 - 
71% Stated that “I am 
satisfied with Council as my 
employer. Next survey due 
in 2009 

YR
L 

Recruitment package % of posts filled within one round of 
recruitment  

90 94  
 QR

T 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4
4
9



 
Improvement Plan Annex C 
 
(Note: the Council’s Improvement Plan is updated and monitored frequently to reflect the 
development areas adopted through external inspection and compliance with statuary guidance.) 
 

Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Learning & 
Knowledge 

Learning across the 
Council and making 
the most of learning 
opportunities to use 
research, consultation 
and knowledge to plan 
services. 
 

CPA 
 

Adopt systematic approaches to 
learning and sharing knowledge 
via the Council’s intranet. 

Council uses learning and 
knowledge and research 
effectively across the 
organisation to improve the 
delivery of services and 
achievement of priorities. 

Member: Mike 
Simpson 
Officer: Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
support 
Head of IMD 
 

Share Point 
project on 
track. 

Capacity and 
Resources 

Sustainability of 
spending plans, 
employee capacity, 
staff turnover. 

CPA Delivery of People Strategy 
 

The Council has the right 
number of employees with the 
right skills to meet its priorities 
and objectives. 

Member: 
Andrew 
Hansard 
Officer: Dir 
Central 
Services 
Support: 
Head of 
Personnel 

People 
Strategy - 35 
actions 
completed 
and 15 in 
progress. 

Partnership 
Working 

Relationship between 
partnerships and 
Council priorities, risks 
and opportunities of 
partnerships, the links 
between the three 
tiers and the extent of 
innovative working to 
improve services. 

Review the financial 
performance (where 
applicable) and 
outputs of its 

CPA 
 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

Monitoring and evaluation of 
partnership success via the 
implementation of the Partnership 
Framework and reviews of 
significant partnerships. 

Development of new Sustainable 
Community Strategy. Review via 
Huntingdonshire Strategic 
Partnership. 

 

 

Strong and effective 
partnerships which enhance 
capacity to delivery priorities.  
Risks relating to partnerships 
will be identified and evaluated 
accordingly. 

The Council is satisfied with 
financial performance and 
outputs of significant 
partnership. 

 

Member: Ian 
Bates 
Member: 
Andrew 
Hansard 
Officer: Dir of 
Central 
Services 
Support: 
Policy and 
Strategic 
Services 

Evaluation of 
strategic 
partnerships 
completed, a 
Health check 
approved, 
procedures 
established 
and a review 
period 
agreed. A 
database of 
all HDC 
partnerships 

In progress Completed 

4
5
0



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

is being 
developed.   
 

significant 
partnerships. 

Risks relating to 
partnerships are 
identified and 
managed. 

 

 

Contribute to the development and 
achievement of Local Area 
Agreements. 

Pilot 
completed 
Autumn 07. 
New LAA will 
be agreed 
Spring/Summ
er 08 

Members role in risk 
management. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

An assessment of risk 
management training 
requirements for Members will be 
completed and training delivered 
accordingly. 

Members adequately trained in 
risk management. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 

Officer: Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

Training 
completed 
March 2008 

Risk 
Management 

How well does the 
Council plan and 
manage their 
Finances. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

Periodic consultation to ensure 
that the Council can demonstrate 
that it is considering the views of a 
range of stakeholders, in making 
its decision whether to continue 
not too publish an annual report. 

The Council plans and 
manages their finances 
effectively. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer: Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

Not actioned 
at this time. 

4
5
1



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Working paper 
requirements should 
be agreed with the 
auditor prior to the 
commencement of the 
final accounts audit. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

Already actioned for 2006/07 final 
accounts. 

The Council plans and 
manages their finances 
effectively. 

Accountancy 
Manager 

Completed for 
2006/07.  Will 
be discussed 
in March 08 
for 2007/08 
audit. 

Financial 
Accounts 

Publication of financial 
information. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

No response to previous 
invitations to the public to identify 
any additional financial information 
they require but invitation will be 
repeated periodically. 

Published financial information 
which meets the needs of 
stakeholders. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

Opportunity 
offered in the 
Autumn 
District Wide 
to comment 
on the 2006/7 
accounts. 3 
responses. 

Financial 
Reporting 

Managing 
Performance Against 
budget. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council will continue to review 
and update its budget monitoring 
processes, ensuring that it is: 

♦ predictive rather than 
backward looking; 

♦ focused on large, high risk or 
volatile budgets; 

♦ related to operational activity 
indicators that are lead 
indicators of spend; and 

♦ informed by a risk assessment. 

Effective budget monitoring 
process. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer: Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

The budget is 
monitored by 
predicting the 
outturn.  
 
Members are 
advised of the 
likelihood of 
contingency 
budgets not 
being spent 
and savings 
achieved. 

 Planned saving and 
efficiency  

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

Planned savings are deducted 
from relevant budgets so that 
monitoring is incorporated into 
budgetary control. 
Efficiency savings have already 
been identified to cover the 
2007/08 target.  The system is 
likely to be fundamentally changed 
by the Government for 2008/09 
onwards. 

The Council meets it’s 
efficiency targets and planned 
savings  

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

Action taken 
in budget 
monitoring in 
2007/08 but 
on-going. 

4
5
2



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Assurance with 
systems of internal 
control. 
 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council will develop and 
implement an assurance 
framework in conjunction with a 
revised Code of Corporate 
Governance. 

Adequate framework of 
assurance in place. 

Member: 
Chris Stevens 
Officer: Dir of 
Central 
Services 
Support: 
Policy and 
Strategic 
Services 

Assurance 
framework 
endorsed by 
Governance 
Panel 26 
March 08 

Compliance with 
constitution. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council will introduce a 
system of monitoring compliance 
with standing orders, standing 
financial instructions and its 
scheme of delegation.  Monitoring 
of the scheme of delegation will be 
considered within relevant internal 
audits. 

Assurance of compliance with 
constitution. 

Member: 
Andrew 
Hansard 
Officer: Dir 
Central 
Services 
Support: 
Head of 
Administration 
Head of Legal 
Head of 
Policy & 
Strategic 
Services 
Head of 
Finance 

Since Aug 
2007, 
compliance 
with the 
scheme of 
delegation, 
codes of 
financial 
management 
and 
procurement 
reviewed in all 
appropriate 
audits. 

Systems of 
Internal 
Control 

Probity and Propriety. Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council will provide clear 
evidence of how its Fraud and 
Corruption Plan has impacted 
upon any proactive counter fraud 
and corruption work, including the 
results of internal audit. 

(F&CP risk assessment scores 
have been used in determining the 
2007-08 audit plan. All high risk 
areas have already been 
reviewed.) 

Successful counter fraud and 
corruption work. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Dir 
Commerce & 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services  

See 
comments in 
brackets. 

4
5
3



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Probity and Propriety. Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

A review process will be 
maintained for appropriate areas 
and any 'lessons that can be 
learnt' or any weaknesses in 
controls will be addressed where 
frauds have been identified. 
(A formal process is not required 
for non-benefit related cases due 
to the low numbers involved. 
Benefit fraud procedures already 
include a 
“lessons learnt” stage.) 

Learning used to improve 
systems. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer: Dir of 
Commerce 
and 
Technology 
Support: 
Revenues 
and Benefits 
 

See 
comments in 
brackets. 

Internal 
Control 

Probity and Propriety. Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council has improved the 
monitoring arrangements for the 
capital programme. 

Effective monitoring of the 
capital programme. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer: Dir of 
Commerce 
and 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

Action taken 
to improve 
budget 
monitoring in 
2007/08 but 
on-going 
improvements 
sought. 

Procurement Improvement in value 
for money through 
procurement. 

Use of 
Resource
s 2006/07 

The Council will demonstrate a 
best-practice approach to 
procurement, that it has identified 
where the greatest benefits can be 
gained and that there is evidence 
that it acts on these effectively. 
Existing joint procurement 
exercises will be built upon and 
developed where appropriate to 
yield further cost savings and 
improvements to value for money. 
 
(Business case developed for e-
Marketplace and Purchase to Pay 
integration and has been agreed 
in principle with Director C&T.  

Improve value for money 
resulting from the approach to 
procurement. 

Member: 
Terry Rogers 
Officer: Dir of 
Commerce 
and 
Technology 
Support: 
Financial 
Services 

See 
comments in 
brackets. 

4
5
4



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Initiation held pending assessment 
the impact of Shared Services 
opportunity (Financial 
Management Systems) currently 
being developed. 
continued progress in the use of 
collaborative contracts.) 

Financial 
Management 
- The Council 
manages 
performance 
against 
budgets 

The Council should 
continue to develop its 
budget monitoring 
processes to ensure 
that it is appropriate 
for the Council and it 
meets the 
requirements of the 
UoR 
criteria which include 
the need to ensure 
monitoring is informed 
by a risk assessment. 

Use of 
Resources 

2007/08 

Significant progress has been 
made but a formal risk 
assessment will be carried out to 
focus further developments. (by 
31 March 08) 
 

   

Internal 
Control - Risk 
Management   
 

Risk management 
training should be 
delivered to 
appropriate officers 
and members prior to 
31 March 2008. 

Use of 
Resources 

2007/08 

All Heads of Service have 
received training. Further Member 
training provided in December 
2007. Any Members who missed 
both training sessions will be 
briefed individually. (by 31 March 
08) 
 

Raise awareness of risk and 
risk management 

 Training 
completed  
March 2008 

Systems of 
Internal 
Control 

The Council should 
develop and 
implement an 
assurance framework. 
Once implemented, 
processes need to be 
put 
in place to ensure that 

Use of 
Resources 

2007/08 

An assurance framework will be 
developed and agreed by the 
Corporate Governance Panel on 
26 March 2008. 
(by 31 March 08) 

Agreed systems/process in 
place to provide assurance 
that the council undertakes it’s 
functions and responsibilities 
with integrity, openness and 
accountability. 

  

4
5
5



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

this a fluid living 
document that is 
updated constantly for 
any changes in 
objectives, risks and 
assurances.  

Internal Audit 
Managers opinion on 
the internal control 
environment. 

Governanc
e 

Assurance 
framework 

Actions identified in the internal 
audit action plan are implemented 
as per the agreed audit timetable. 

Improve the overall assurance 
opinion on the system of 
Internal control. 

 Monitored via 
Performance 
Management 
Framework 
and reported 
Qrt to COMT. 
As at March 
08 
performance 
not improved 

Governance Equalities. Governanc
e 

Assurance 
framework 

Implement and monitor Corporate 
Equality Action Plan. 

Facilitate progress in relation 
to the Local Government 
Standard for Equalities. 

 Level 2 of the 
standard 
achieved. 
Progress to 
level 3 (by 
2010) on 
target 

 Consultation. Governanc
e 

Assurance 
framework 

Adopt and implement consultation 
and engagement strategy. 

Developing consultation and 
engagement with local 
communities. 

 Strategy to go 
to Cabinet in 
Feb 08. 

 Complaints System. Governanc
e 

Assurance 
framework 

Review existing mechanisms for 
responding to harassment e.g. 
Open Out, corporate complaints 
procedure, grievance procedure 
and Dignity at Work Policy. 
 

A corporate complaints system 
that will enable transparent 
non-discriminatory reporting. 

 Review of 
Complaints 
system and 
Grievance 
procedure 
during 08/09 
and Dignity at 
work in 09/10 

 Sustainable 
Community Strategy. 

Governanc
e 

Working to develop a Sustainable 
Community Strategy (SCS). 

Delivery of the outcomes 
identified in the SCS via the 

 Development 
of the new 

4
5
6



Subject Area of Focus 
Referenc

e 
Proposed Action Outcome 

Lead 
Members 
and Officer 

Progress 
March 2008 

Assurance 
framework 

Huntingdonshire Strategic 
Partnership. 

SCS on 
target. Not 
due to be 
completed 
until Summer 
08 

Data Quality Data Quality Use of 
Resources

/VFM 

Action identified in the Data 
Quality action plan are 
implemented as per the agreed 
timetable 

To provide reliable, accurate 
and timely performance 
information with which to 
manage services, inform users 
and account for our 
performance 

  

 
 
 
 
 4

5
7



458

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

CABINET 
             12TH June 2008 
 
 

CORPORATE EQUALITY POLICY – Action Plan Progress 
(Report by the Head of Policy) 

 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform the Cabinet of progress with 

the council’s Corporate Equality Policy (CEP) Action Plan.  
  
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The CEP sets out the Council’s aim and objectives for equality and 

the accompanying action plan sets out the corporate and directorate 
actions and targets. It is supported by three equality schemes (Race, 
Disability and Gender). The action plan combines activities which are 
compatible with the Councils achievement of Level 2 of the Equality 
Standard and the statutory requirements contained within the three 
equality schemes.  

 
2.2 The CEP and action plan shows how the Council will translate its 

statutory responsibilities into objectives and actions in respect of 
equalities; in particular it takes account of: 

• Equalities legislation relating to race, disability and gender 

• The achievement of Level 2 of the Equality Standard 
 

2.3 Having achieved Level 2 and working towards Level 3 of the Equality 
Standard, the Council made a commitment to establish a timetable to 
assess the impact of all services in terms of equality. A three year 
timetable was adopted, those services with a more ‘public facing’ role 
were placed in years 1 and 2. 

 
 2.4 Training on how to conduct equality impact assessments took place 

during 2007 and 2008 and results from these assessments are set 
out in Appendix 3. Equality impact assessments are a statutory 
requirement and they are the primary method by which the Council 
can assess whether it is providing equal access to services in terms 
race, disability and gender. Many of the equality impact assessments 
have also considered sexuality, religious belief and age.   

 
 
3. PROGRESS 
  
3.1 The Corporate Equality Policy identified two outcomes and two  
 measures that will tell us how successful we have been in terms of 
 understanding the diverse needs of local people, that our services 
 meet those needs and that they are provided in a fair and accessible 
 way.  These outcomes and measures are: 
 
 
  

Outcome Measure 2006/07 Target 
(2007/8) 

Actual 
2008/08 

Target 
for 

Agenda Item 12

459



 

2008/09 

That our 
services are 
provided in 
ways that 
meet 
diverse local 
needs 

% of local 
people 
who 
believe 
that 
Council 
services 
meet their 
needs 

* 
baseline 
not 
available 

*75% 84% 85 % 

That the 
Council is 
recognised 
for 
promoting 
equality and 
inclusion in 
communities 

% of local 
people 
who 
believe 
that the 
Council 
promotes 
equality 
and 
inclusion 
in their 
community 

64% 70% 83% 85% 

 
  
3.2 The appended progress report covers: 

Ø the achievement made against the actions and targets set in 
March 2007 

Ø an action plan for 2008/09 
Ø results from equality impact assessments conducted over 

the last 12 months. 
Ø revised timetable for equality impact assessments during 

2008/09 
 

3.3 The Corporate Equality Policy Action Plan contained 107 actions, of 
which: 

Ø 76 have been fully completed 
Ø 26 are on-going 
Ø 2 have not been completed and will be taken forward into the 

new action plan 
Ø 3 actions have been deemed not required  
 

3.4 Eight service areas were selected to undertake equality impact 
 assessments  during 2007/08 (Administration, Housing, 
 Information Management Division,  Environmental Health, Human 
 Resources, Planning, Revenues and Benefits and Technical 
 Services). Two services (Housing and Environmental Health) 
 completed all of  their impact assessments; the other 6 services 
 completed some  of their  impact assessments. Those impact 
 assessments not completed on time have been re-scheduled for 
 completion during 2008/09. A full list of outcomes/actions arising out 
 of completed equality impact assessments is contained in Appendix 
 3. A revised timetable for equality impact assessments during 
 2008/09 is set out in Appendix 4. 
 
3.5 The Corporate Equality Steering Group (comprising officers from all 
 three directorates plus an employee representative) is responsible for 
 overseeing progress with the equality standard and equality impact 

460



 

 assessments. Actions that come out of equality impact 
 assessments will be delivered through individual services  however, 
the steering group will look at all of the  actions and co- ordinate 
activity to ensure there is no duplication of work. The  steering group will 
also monitor the equality impact  assessment timetable. Corporate themes 
arising out of equality  impact assessments during 07/08 include 
monitoring, training and  consultation. 
  
3.6 A stage 1 (or initial assessment) equality impact assessment 
 establishes how the policy or service meets different needs according 
 to race, gender, disability, sexual orientation, religious belief or age. It 
 also examines whether there are any obvious barriers and if any 
 improvements can be made. All of the equality impact 
 assessments that have been conducted over the last 12 months 
 needed only a stage 1 assessment, with the exception of Choice 
 Based Lettings, which will proceed to a stage 2 assessment. A stage 
 2 assessment is  required if any major barriers are identified in stage 
 1; this will  entail a more detailed study; so far only 1 equality impact 
 assessment will  require a stage 2 assessment.  
  
3.7 The Council has a statutory responsibility to report findings from 
 progress  made with the race, disability and gender equality 
 schemes as set out in Appendix 1. Findings from equality impact 
 assessments embrace race, disability, gender, sexuality, age and 
 religious belief.  
 
4. CONCLUSIONS 
 
4.1 Cabinet is asked: 

Ø to note progress made with the corporate equality policy 
action plan (Appendix 1) 

Ø endorse the new corporate equality action plan (Appendix 2) 
Ø to note the findings from equality impact assessments 

conducted during 2007/08 (Appendix 3) 
Ø endorse the revised equality impact assessment timetable 

set out in Appendix 4. 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Corporate Equality Policy 
Appendix 1 - Corporate Equality Policy - Action Plan Progress 
Appendix 2 - Corporate Equality Policy – Action Plan 2008/09 
Appendix 3 – findings from equality impact assessment 2007/08 
Appendix 4 – Equality Impact Assessment timetable (08/09) 
 
Contact Officers:  Ian Leatherbarrow, Head of Policy   
   (01480 388005 
   ian.leatherbarrow@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 
   Louise Sboui, Senior Policy Officer   
   ( 01480 388032 
   louise.sboui@huntsdc.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

461



 

 
 

462



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
1
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 P
o
li
c
y
 -
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

F
or

m
ul

at
e 

&
 a

do
pt

 a
 C

or
po

ra
te

 E
qu

al
ity

 P
ol

ic
y 

M
ak

e 
a 

co
rp

or
at

e 
co

m
m

itm
en

t t
o 

de
ve

lo
p 

a 
co

rp
or

at
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

po
lic

y 
(C

E
P

) 
C

E
P

 to
 b

e 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 a
nd

 s
ig

ne
d 

of
f a

nd
 ta

ke
n 

th
ro

ug
h

 M
em

be
r 

ap
pr

ov
al

 p
ro

ce
ss

 b
y 

 M
ar

ch
 0

7 
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
  

M
on

ito
rin

g 
 

P
ub

lis
h 

co
rp

or
at

e 
eq

ua
lit

y 
pl

an
 

S
te

er
in

g 
gr

ou
p 

to
 s

ig
n 

of
f 

C
E

P
 b

y 
M

ar
ch

 0
7 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

R
ev

ie
w

 C
E

P
 M

ar
ch

 2
01

0 

E
ac

h 
D

iv
is

io
n 

to
 c

om
m

it 
to

 e
ng

ag
e 

in
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
on

 s
e

rv
ic

e 
de

liv
er

y 
C

om
pl

et
ed

  
C

or
po

ra
te

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 c
o-

or
di

na
tio

n 
fo

r 
th

is
 w

he
re

 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

  
E

ns
ur

e 
dr

af
t C

E
P

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
ci

rc
ul

at
ed

 fo
r 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

E
ns

ur
e 

C
E

P
 &

 c
or

po
ra

te
 e

qu
al

ity
 p

ol
ic

y 
is

 s
ub

je
ct

 to
 in

te
rn

al
 &

 e
xt

er
na

l 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

E
st

ab
lis

h 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
w

ith
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

, s
ta

ke
h

ol
de

r 
gr

ou
ps

 
an

d 
w

id
er

 c
om

m
un

ity
 o

n 
al

l a
sp

ec
ts

 o
f e

qu
al

ity
 p

ol
ic

y 
E

st
ab

lis
h 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
w

ith
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

, 
st

ak
eh

ol
de

r 
gr

ou
ps

 a
nd

 w
id

er
 c

om
m

un
ity

 o
n 

al
l a

sp
ec

ts
 o

f 
eq

ua
lit

y 
po

lic
y 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

&
 

E
ng

ag
em

en
t S

tr
at

eg
y 

no
w

 
in

 p
la

ce
 

F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 
de

liv
er

 a
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
&

 
en

ga
ge

m
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y 

E
ng

ag
e 

in
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
w

ith
 M

em
be

rs
, e

m
pl

oy
ee

 r
ep

re
se

nt
at

iv
es

 a
nd

 
se

rv
ic

es
 o

n 
E

IA
 a

nd
 th

e 
C

E
P

 
C

or
po

ra
te

 E
qu

al
ity

 P
ol

ic
y 

to
 b

e 
re

po
rt

ed
 to

 M
em

be
rs

 &
 E

m
pl

oy
ee

 
P

an
el

/E
LA

G
 a

s 
ap

pr
op

ria
te

 fo
r 

co
m

m
en

t. 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

D
iv

is
io

na
l c

om
m

itm
en

t t
o 

co
m

pr
eh

en
si

ve
 e

qu
al

ity
 p

ol
ic

y 
D

ire
ct

or
at

es
 to

 c
om

m
it 

th
ei

r 
se

rv
ic

es
 to

 ta
ke

 a
pp

ro
pr

ia
te

 a
ct

io
n 

to
 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 (

lin
ks

 to
 r

es
ul

ts
 

of
 E

IA
’s

 a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
 

463



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
2
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

co
m

pl
y 

w
ith

 c
or

po
ra

te
 e

qu
al

ity
 p

ol
ic

y,
 R

ac
e,

 D
is

ab
ili

ty
 a

nd
 G

en
de

r 
E

qu
al

ity
 S

ch
em

e’
s 

m
an

ag
em

en
t)

 

D
iv

is
io

na
l c

om
m

itm
en

t t
o 

se
tti

ng
 e

qu
al

ity
 ta

rg
et

s 
D

ire
ct

or
at

es
 to

 c
om

m
it 

se
rv

ic
es

 to
 li

nk
in

g 
th

ei
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

pl
a

ns
 to

 th
e 

C
or

po
ra

te
 E

qu
al

ity
 P

ol
ic

y 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 (

lin
ks

 to
 r

es
ul

ts
 

of
 E

IA
’s

 a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t )
 

 

D
iv

is
io

na
l c

om
m

itm
en

t t
o 

eq
ua

lit
y 

ac
tio

n 
pl

an
ni

ng
 

D
ire

ct
or

at
es

 to
 c

om
m

it 
se

rv
ic

es
 to

 s
et

tin
g 

eq
ua

lit
y 

ta
rg

et
s 

in
 th

ei
r 

se
rv

ic
e 

pl
an

s 
w

he
re

 g
ap

s 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

C
om

pl
et

e 
(li

nk
s 

to
 r

es
ul

ts
 

of
 E

IA
’s

 a
nd

 p
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t)
 

  

O
rg

an
is

e 
co

rp
or

at
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 
C

om
pl

et
ed

– 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 

pr
og

ra
m

m
e 

in
 p

la
ce

 
A

nn
ua

l r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 

D
iv

is
io

na
l c

om
m

itm
en

t t
o 

al
lo

ca
tio

n 
of

 s
pe

ci
fic

 r
es

ou
rc

es
 fo

r 
im

pr
ov

in
g 

eq
ua

lit
y 

pr
ac

tic
e 

 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

    

E
IA

 p
ro

ce
ss

 n
ow

 
co

m
m

en
ce

d.
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

ne
ed

 to
 c

on
si

de
r 

w
he

th
er

 
ac

tio
n 

ar
is

in
g 

ou
t o

f 
E

IA
’s

 
ca

n 
be

 m
et

 w
ith

in
 e

xi
st

in
g 

re
so

ur
ce

s 
A

do
pt

 r
ec

ru
itm

en
t p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
w

hi
ch

 u
se

 n
on

-d
is

cr
im

in
at

or
y 

pr
ac

tic
es

 
A

ny
 g

ap
s 

w
ill

 b
e 

in
cl

ud
ed

 in
 a

n 
ov

er
-a

rc
hi

ng
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t p

ol
ic

y 
A

n 
eq

ua
lit

y 
ob

je
ct

iv
e 

w
ill

 b
e 

bu
ilt

 in
to

 m
an

ag
em

en
t 

co
m

pe
te

nc
ie

s 
an

d 
a 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 fo

r 
m

ea
su

rin
g 

ef
fe

ct
iv

en
es

s 
w

ill
 b

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

 

R
ec

ru
itm

en
t p

ol
ic

y 
ad

op
te

d 
an

d 
 

 A
w

ar
de

d 
P

os
iti

ve
 a

bo
ut

 
D

is
ab

ili
ty

 (
tw

o 
tic

ks
 √

√)
 

st
at

us
  

 

U
nd

er
 r

ev
ie

w
 to

 a
lig

n 
w

ith
 

ro
le

 o
ut

 o
f 

R
es

ou
rc

e 
Li

nk
. 

    C
om

pe
te

nc
ie

s 
be

in
g 

pl
an

ne
d 

fo
r 

in
tr

od
uc

tio
n 

in
 

A
pr

il 
20

09
  

464



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

C
om

m
itm

en
t t

o 
an

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t e
qu

al
ity

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f t
he

 L
oc

al
 

La
bo

ur
 M

ar
ke

t A
re

a 
(c

om
pa

ra
tiv

e 
st

ud
y 

of
 p

ay
, t

er
m

s 
an

d 
co

nd
iti

on
s)

 
C

om
pl

et
ed

 
T

hi
s 

w
ill

 b
ec

om
e 

an
 

on
go

in
g 

re
vi

e
w

 
E

ng
ag

e 
in

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t e
qu

al
ity

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f L
LM

A
 

In
ve

st
ig

at
e 

if 
re

qu
ire

d 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

E
ng

ag
e 

in
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 p
ro

fil
in

g 
an

d 
an

 e
qu

al
 p

ay
 r

ev
ie

w
 

E
qu

al
 p

ay
 a

ud
its

 c
om

pl
et

ed
 a

nn
ua

lly
 fo

r 
in

te
rn

al
 c

om
pa

ris
on

. 
In

ve
st

ig
at

e 
if 

re
qu

ire
d 

to
 c

om
pa

re
 a

ga
in

st
 e

xt
er

na
l c

om
pa

ra
to

rs
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
– 

in
co

rp
or

at
ed

 
in

to
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t a

nd
 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

P
an

el
, p

ub
lis

he
d 

on
 

M
od

er
n.

G
ov

 

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

C
om

m
itm

en
t t

o 
es

ta
bl

is
h 

a 
fa

ir 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t a
nd

 e
qu

al
 p

ay
 p

ol
ic

y 
P

ro
du

ce
 a

n 
ov

er
-a

rc
hi

ng
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t p

ol
ic

y 
C

om
m

itm
en

t t
o 

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 a

n 
eq

ua
l e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t a

nd
 e

qu
al

 p
ay

 
el

em
en

t o
f 

C
E

P
 in

co
rp

or
at

in
g 

th
e 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t r

el
at

ed
 is

su
es

 fr
om

 R
E

S
 

an
d 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

os
e 

as
se

ss
m

en
ts

 o
f 

or
ga

ni
sa

tio
n 

&
 in

di
vi

du
al

 
re

qu
ire

m
en

ts
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

fo
r 

co
m

pl
ia

nc
e 

w
ith

 th
e 

D
D

A
 

P
ro

du
ce

 a
n 

ov
er

-a
rc

hi
ng

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t p
ol

ic
y 

 

C
om

pl
et

ed
 

 C
om

pl
et

ed
  

H
R

 E
qu

al
ity

 P
ol

ic
y 

cu
rr

en
tly

 b
ei

ng
 r

es
ea

rc
he

d 
 

  

C
om

m
itm

en
t t

o 
ad

op
t p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 p
ub

lic
ity

 fo
r 

va
ca

nc
ie

s 
do

es
 n

ot
 u

nf
ai

rly
 r

es
tr

ic
t t

he
 r

an
ge

 o
f a

pp
lic

an
t 

C
om

pl
et

ed
  

E
IA

 o
n 

R
ec

ru
itm

en
t P

ol
ic

y 
on

-g
oi

ng
 

A
do

pt
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 p
ub

lic
ity

 f
or

 v
ac

an
ci

es
 d

o 
no

t u
nf

ai
rly

 
re

st
ric

t t
he

 r
an

ge
 o

f a
pp

lic
an

ts
 

C
on

du
ct

 fu
ll 

E
IA

 if
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 P
ol

ic
y 

to
 b

e 
de

fin
ed

 in
 o

ve
ra

rc
hi

ng
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t p

ol
ic

y.
  

 A
do

pt
 w

rit
te

n 
pr

oc
ed

ur
e 

or
 d

oc
um

en
t e

xi
st

in
g 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 

P
os

iti
ve

 a
bo

ut
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 
st

at
us

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n-
go

in
g 

 
H

R
 E

qu
al

ity
 P

ol
ic

y 
cu

rr
en

tly
 b

ei
ng

 r
es

ea
rc

he
d

 

P
ro

du
ce

 a
 s

ta
nd

ar
d 

ra
ng

e 
of

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
rm

s 
an

d 
jo

b
 d

es
cr

ip
tio

ns
 

A
lre

ad
y 

in
 p

la
ce

 b
ut

 H
R

 to
 c

om
m

it 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

 a
nn

ua
lly

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

D
ev

el
op

 c
or

po
ra

te
 m

ec
ha

ni
sm

 fo
r 

as
se

ss
in

g 
de

ve
lo

pm
en

t o
f 

se
rv

ic
e 

C
om

pl
et

ed
  

O
n-

go
in

g 
re

vi
e

w
 to

 

465



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
4
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

le
ve

l e
qu

al
ity

 o
bj

ec
tiv

e
s 

an
d 

ta
rg

et
s 

 
M

on
ito

rin
g 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
 

in
cl

ud
ed

 w
ith

in
 

P
er

fo
rm

an
ce

 M
an

ag
em

en
t 

sy
st

em
 

es
ta

bl
is

h 
w

he
th

er
 fu

rt
he

r 
de

ta
il 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 m

an
ag

em
en

t 
sy

st
em

 is
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 
C

re
at

e 
st

ru
ct

ur
e 

fo
r 

ov
er

se
ei

ng
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
m

on
ito

rin
g 

sy
st

em
s 

 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
(M

on
ito

rin
g 

re
se

ar
ch

) 
 

 

E
ns

ur
e 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 fo

r 
re

sp
on

di
ng

 to
 h

ar
as

sm
en

t o
n 

gr
ou

nd
s 

of
 r

ac
e,

 
di

sa
bi

lit
y 

an
d 

ge
nd

er
 a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
 

P
la

n/
sc

op
e 

ho
w

 to
 r

ev
ie

w
 e

xi
st

in
g 

m
ec

ha
ni

sm
s 

e.
g.

 O
pe

n 
O

ut
, 

C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

P
ol

ic
y,

 D
ig

ni
ty

 a
t W

or
k,

 G
rie

va
nc

e 
&

 D
is

ci
pl

in
ar

y.
  

   

C
om

pl
et

ed
  

   

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
:  

•
 

C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

po
lic

y 
  

•
 

D
ig

ni
ty

 a
t W

or
k 

po
lic

y 
•
 

G
rie

va
nc

e 
&

 
D

is
ci

pl
in

ar
y 

po
lic

y 
 

•
 

O
pe

n 
O

ut
  

E
ac

h 
di

re
ct

or
at

e 
to

 e
ng

ag
e 

in
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
w

ith
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

, 
st

af
f &

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 g
ro

up
s 

w
he

re
 a

pp
ro

pr
ia

te
 

 D
ire

ct
or

at
es

 to
 c

on
si

de
r 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n/

en
ga

ge
m

en
t w

ith
 d

es
ig

na
te

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

, s
ta

ff
 &

 s
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 g
ro

up
s 

   P
ro

du
ce

 a
 p

la
n 

w
hi

ch
 e

na
bl

es
 D

ire
ct

or
at

es
 to

 p
la

n,
 c

o-
or

di
na

te
, c

on
su

lt 
an

d 
en

ga
ge

 w
ith

 c
om

m
un

ity
, s

ta
ff 

et
c 

 
 

   C
om

pl
et

e 
- 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

&
 

E
ng

ag
em

en
t S

tr
at

eg
y 

no
w

 
in

 p
la

ce
 

    

   F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
re

qu
ire

d 
to

 
de

liv
er

 a
ct

io
ns

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
&

 
en

ga
ge

m
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
 

 E
st

ab
lis

h 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
&

 
en

ga
ge

m
en

t d
at

ab
as

e 
an

d 
ca

le
nd

ar
 

E
ac

h 
di

re
ct

or
at

e 
to

 e
ng

ag
e 

w
ith

 e
qu

al
ity

 im
pa

ct
  a

ss
es

sm
e

nt
, s

cr
ut

in
y 

an
d 

au
di

t o
n 

se
rv

ic
e 

de
liv

er
y 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
  

466



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
5
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

P
ro

du
ce

 a
 p

la
n 

th
at

 d
et

ai
ls

 th
e 

fo
llo

w
in

g 
pr

oc
es

se
s:

 
•
 

T
o 

en
su

re
 th

at
 M

em
be

rs
 u

nd
er

ta
ke

 s
cr

ut
in

y/
au

di
t o

f 
co

rp
or

at
e/

st
ra

te
gi

c 
eq

ua
lit

y 
is

su
es

 
•
 

R
ep

or
tin

g 
is

su
es

 e
m

er
gi

ng
 f

ro
m

 E
IA

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 to
 M

em
b

er
s 

 

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
M

em
be

r 
tr

ai
ni

ng
  

F
irs

t r
ep

or
t d

ue
 M

ay
 2

00
8 

 
E

ng
ag

e 
in

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
t a

nd
 s

er
vi

ce
 a

re
a 

E
IA

 
D

ra
ft

  t
ra

in
in

g 
pl

an
 a

nd
 p

ro
gr

am
m

e 
co

m
pl

et
e 

E
IA

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 c
om

m
en

ce
d 

an
d 

on
-g

oi
ng

  
E

ng
ag

e 
in

 d
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f 

se
rv

ic
e 

le
ve

l e
qu

al
ity

 o
bj

e
ct

iv
es

 a
nd

 ta
rg

et
s 

In
cl

ud
e 

in
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 m

an
ag

em
en

t f
ra

m
ew

or
k 

an
d 

w
or

k 
w

ith
 th

e 
se

rv
ic

e 
pl

an
ni

ng
 p

ro
ce

ss
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
– 

E
IA

 p
ro

ce
ss

 is
 

lin
ke

d 
w

ith
 p

er
fo

rm
an

ce
 

m
an

ag
em

en
t  

 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 s
ho

ul
d 

in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t f

un
ct

io
n

 a
nd

 a
ll 

co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

&
 p

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 a

rr
an

ge
m

en
ts

 
C

on
si

de
ra

tio
n 

of
 a

 p
la

n 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 a
ny

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 in
cl

ud
e 

th
e 

pr
oc

ur
em

en
t f

un
ct

io
n 

an
d 

al
l c

on
tr

ac
te

d 
se

rv
ic

es
 &

 p
a

rt
ne

rs
hi

p 
ar

ra
ng

em
en

ts
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
– 

E
IA

 o
f 

P
ro

cu
re

m
en

t S
tr

at
eg

y 
&

 
P

ar
tn

er
sh

ip
 F

ra
m

ew
or

k 
co

m
pl

et
ed

 

Im
pl

em
en

t a
ct

io
ns

 a
ris

in
g 

ou
t o

f 
P

ro
cu

re
m

en
t 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
E

IA
 

A
do

pt
 p

ro
ce

du
re

s 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 p
ub

lic
ity

 f
or

 v
ac

an
ci

es
 d

o 
no

t u
nf

ai
rly

 
re

st
ric

t t
he

 r
an

ge
 o

f a
pp

lic
an

ts
 

C
on

du
ct

 fu
ll 

E
IA

 if
 r

eq
ui

re
d.

 P
ol

ic
y 

to
 b

e 
de

fin
ed

 in
 o

ve
ra

rc
hi

ng
 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t p

ol
ic

y.
  

 A
do

pt
 w

rit
te

n 
pr

oc
ed

ur
e 

or
 d

oc
um

en
t e

xi
st

in
g 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 

P
os

iti
ve

 a
bo

ut
 D

is
ab

ili
ty

 
st

at
us

 a
ch

ie
ve

d 
O

n-
go

in
g 

 
H

R
 E

qu
al

ity
 P

ol
ic

y 
cu

rr
en

tly
 b

ei
ng

 r
es

ea
rc

he
d

 

P
ro

du
ce

 a
 s

ta
nd

ar
d 

ra
ng

e 
of

 a
pp

lic
at

io
n 

fo
rm

s 
an

d 
jo

b
 d

es
cr

ip
tio

ns
 

A
lre

ad
y 

in
 p

la
ce

 b
ut

 H
R

 to
 c

om
m

it 
to

 r
ev

ie
w

 a
nn

ua
lly

 
   

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

467



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
6
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

R
a
c
e
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
R
E
S
) 
- 
A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
6
 –
 2
0
0
9
 

 A
c
ti
o
n
 

p
ro
g
re
s
s
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 
o
n
-

g
o
in
g
 w
o
rk
 

In
iti

al
 li

st
in

g 
an

d 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f f

un
ct

io
ns

/p
ol

ic
ie

s 
fo

r 
re

le
va

nc
e 

to
 

ge
ne

ra
l d

ut
y 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

of
 R

E
S

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

E
qu

al
ity

 Im
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 to

 c
om

m
en

ce
  

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f g
ui

da
nc

e 
fo

r 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f p

ro
po

se
d 

po
lic

ie
s 

fo
r 

im
pa

ct
 o

n 
ra

ce
 a

nd
 o

th
er

 e
qu

al
ity

 a
re

as
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
&

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f 
ex

is
tin

g 
po

lic
ie

s 
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

co
ns

ul
tin

g 
on

 p
ro

po
se

d 
po

lic
ie

s 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

sy
st

em
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 e
th

ni
c 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
re

se
ar

ch
 o

n 
co

rp
or

at
e 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
 

R
ep

or
t o

n 
R

E
S

 to
 C

ab
in

et
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
P

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 R
E

S
  

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
E

st
ab

lis
h 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ta

l e
qu

al
ity

 w
or

ki
ng

 g
ro

up
s 

N
ot

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
 

 
E

va
lu

at
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 to
 d

at
e 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

A
nn

ua
l r

ev
ie

w
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f t

ra
in

in
g 

pl
an

 fo
r 

em
pl

oy
ee

s 
(li

nk
ed

 in
to

 e
qu

al
ity

 
st

an
da

rd
 tr

ai
ni

ng
) 

e.
g.

 fo
r 

 
F

or
 e

qu
al

ity
 s

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
F

or
 m

an
ag

er
s/

ge
ne

ra
l s

ta
ff

 
M

em
be

rs
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 r

es
ul

ts
 o

f e
qu

al
ity

 im
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 

468



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
7
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

E
xa

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
s 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t (

eq
ua

lit
y 

m
o

ni
to

rin
g)

 d
at

a 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
In

co
rp

or
at

ed
 in

to
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t s

ub
m

itt
ed

 to
 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t P
an

el
 a

nd
 

pu
bl

is
he

d 
vi

a 
M

od
er

n.
G

ov
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

A
nn

ua
l a

ct
iv

ity
 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t m

on
ito

rin
g 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

In
co

rp
or

at
ed

 in
to

 a
n 

an
nu

al
 r

ep
or

t s
ub

m
itt

ed
 to

 
E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t P

an
el

 a
nd

 
pu

bl
is

he
d 

vi
a 

M
od

er
n.

G
ov

 

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

A
nn

ua
l a

ct
iv

ity
 

A
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t o
n 

pr
og

re
ss

 to
 d

at
e 

in
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 R
E

S
 ta

rg
et

s 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
S

pr
in

g 
20

08
 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 A

nn
ua

l r
ep

or
t o

n 
w

eb
si

te
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
pr

oc
ur

em
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 r
ac

e 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

co
m

pl
ai

nt
s 

pr
oc

ed
ur

e 
in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 r
ac

e,
 g

en
de

r 
&

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 

 
O

n-
go

in
g 

E
IA

 o
f C

or
po

ra
te

 
C

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
P

ol
ic

y 
no

w
 r

e-
sc

he
du

le
d 

08
/0

9 

D
is
a
b
il
it
y
 E
q
u
a
li
ty
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
D
E
S
) 
- 
A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
6
 –
 2
0
0
9
 

 In
iti

al
 li

st
in

g 
an

d 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f f

un
ct

io
ns

/p
ol

ic
ie

s 
fo

r 
re

le
va

nc
e 

to
 

ge
ne

ra
l d

ut
y 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

on
 D

E
S

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

P
ro

ce
ss

 o
f i

m
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 to

 b
eg

in
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

eq
ua

lit
y 

im
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t o
f p

ro
po

se
d 

p
o
li
c
ie
s

  
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
&

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f 
ex

is
tin

g 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

469



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
8
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

po
lic

ie
s 

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f g
ui

da
nc

e 
fo

r 
co

ns
ul

tin
g 

on
 p

ro
po

se
d 

po
lic

ie
s 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
sy

st
em

s 
an

d 
pr

oc
ed

ur
es

 in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 m
on

ito
rin

g 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
re

se
ar

ch
 o

n 
co

rp
or

at
e 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
 

R
ep

or
t o

n 
D

E
S

 to
 C

hi
ef

 O
ff

ic
er

s,
 O

ve
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

&
 C

ab
in

et
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
P

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 D
E

S
  

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
E

st
ab

lis
h 

de
pa

rt
m

en
ta

l e
qu

al
ity

 w
or

ki
ng

 g
ro

up
s 

N
ot

 r
eq

ui
re

d 
 

 
E

va
lu

at
e 

eq
ua

lit
y 

tr
ai

ni
ng

  
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
A

nn
ua

l r
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f t
ra

in
in

g 
pl

an
 fo

r 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

(li
nk

ed
 in

to
 e

qu
al

ity
 

st
an

da
rd

 tr
ai

ni
ng

) 
e.

g.
 fo

r 
 

F
or

 e
qu

al
ity

 s
te

er
in

g 
gr

ou
p 

F
or

 m
an

ag
er

s/
ge

ne
ra

l s
ta

ff
 

M
em

be
rs

 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t a

nd
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 r
es

ul
ts

 o
f e

qu
al

ity
 im

pa
ct

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
E

xa
m

in
at

io
n 

of
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

ye
ar

s 
em

pl
oy

m
en

t (
eq

ua
lit

y 
m

o
ni

to
rin

g)
 d

at
a 

C
om

pl
et

e 
- 

In
co

rp
or

at
ed

 
in

to
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

P
an

el
 a

nd
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

vi
a 

M
od

er
n.

G
ov

 

 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t m

on
ito

rin
g 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

C
om

pl
et

e 
- 

In
co

rp
or

at
ed

 
in

to
 a

n 
an

nu
al

 r
ep

or
t 

su
bm

itt
ed

 to
 E

m
pl

oy
m

en
t 

P
an

el
 a

nd
 p

ub
lis

he
d 

vi
a 

M
od

er
n.

G
ov

 

 

A
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t o
n 

pr
og

re
ss

 to
 d

at
e 

in
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 D
E

S
 ta

rg
et

s 
to

 C
hi

ef
 

O
ff

ic
er

s,
 O

ve
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

&
 C

ab
in

et
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 

470



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
9
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t o

n 
w

eb
si

te
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
pr

oc
ed

ur
e 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 r

ac
e,

 g
en

de
r 

&
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 
 

E
IA

 o
f  

C
or

po
ra

te
 

C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

P
ro

ce
du

re
 r

e-
sc

he
du

le
d 

fo
r 

08
/0

9 
C

on
si

de
r 

fin
di

ng
s 

fr
om

 D
E

S
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n:
 

•
 

E
ac

h 
se

rv
ic

e 
to

 c
on

si
de

r 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
 a

nd
 fi

nd
in

gs
 o

f 
D

E
S

 
co

ns
ul

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
id

en
tif

y 
ac

tio
ns

 

P
ar

tia
l a

ch
ie

ve
m

en
t –

 n
ot

 
al

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
re

sp
on

de
d 

C
on

si
de

ra
tio

n 
to

 b
e 

gi
ve

n 
by

 a
ll 

se
rv

ic
es

 

M
or

e 
ed

uc
at

io
n 

an
d 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 fo
r 

em
pl

oy
ee

s 
to

 r
ai

se
 a

w
a

re
ne

ss
 a

nd
 

ch
an

ge
 a

tti
tu

de
s 

to
 d

is
ab

le
d 

pe
op

le
: 

•
 

Li
nk

ed
 w

ith
 d

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f t
ra

in
in

g 
pl

an
 fo

r 
em

pl
oy

ee
s 

•
 

S
pe

ci
fic

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 fo
r 

fr
on

tli
ne

 s
ta

ff
 o

n 
di

sa
bi

lit
y 

is
su

es
 –

 to
 b

e 
as

se
ss

ed
 th

ro
ug

h 
P

er
so

na
l D

ev
el

op
m

en
t R

ev
ie

w
s 

C
om

pl
et

e 
– 

ge
ne

ra
l 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 p
ro

gr
am

m
e 

on
-

go
in

g.
  

  

S
pe

ci
fic

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 (
if 

re
qu

ire
d)

 to
 b

e 
id

en
tif

ie
d 

sp
rin

g 
20

08
 

 

A
 d

ed
ic

at
ed

 d
ep

ar
tm

en
t f

or
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 is
su

es
 th

at
 is

 a
cc

es
si

b
le

 a
nd

 
w

id
el

y 
pu

bl
ic

is
ed

 a
s 

a 
ce

nt
re

 fo
r 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

Im
pr

ac
tic

al
 to

 s
up

po
rt

 th
is

 
ho

w
ev

er
 th

e 
P

ol
ic

y 
D

iv
is

io
n 

&
 th

e 
E

qu
al

ity
 

S
te

er
in

g 
G

ro
up

 c
an

 
pa

rt
ia

lly
 f

ul
fil

 th
is

 r
ol

e
  

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

Im
pr

ov
e 

ph
ys

ic
al

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 H

D
C

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 

 
O

n-
go

in
g 

  
Im

pr
ov

ed
 tr

an
sp

or
ta

tio
n 

in
 r

ur
al

 a
re

as
 w

ith
 a

dj
us

tm
en

ts
 to

 a
cc

es
s 

fo
r 

di
sa

bl
ed

 p
eo

pl
e 

on
 b

us
es

: 
C

om
pl

et
ed

 a
nd

 r
ef

er
re

d 
to

 
C

am
bs

 L
oc

al
 T

ra
ns

po
rt

 
P

la
n 

an
d 

H
un

tin
gd

on
sh

ire
 

A
cc

es
si

bi
lit

y 
A

ct
io

n 
P

la
n 

 

D
ed

ic
at

ed
 p

ar
ki

ng
, g

re
at

er
 p

en
al

tie
s 

fo
r 

an
ti-

so
ci

al
 p

a
rk

in
g 

in
 d

is
ab

le
d 

(a
cc

es
si

bl
e)

 b
ay

s 
an

d 
ad

ju
st

m
en

ts
 to

 r
oa

ds
 a

nd
 p

av
in

g 
C

on
si

de
re

d 
as

 p
ar

t o
f 

th
e 

C
ar

 P
ar

ki
ng

 S
tr

at
eg

y 
  

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

 

471



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
1
0
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

  
A

 tr
an

sp
ar

en
t c

om
pl

ai
nt

s 
pr

oc
ed

ur
e,

 w
el

l t
ra

in
ed

 s
ta

ff
 w

ith
 a

n 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g 

of
 th

e 
ne

ed
s 

of
 d

is
ab

le
d 

pe
op

le
. 

 
O

n-
go

in
g 

- 
E

IA
 o

f 
C

or
po

ra
te

 C
om

pl
ai

nt
s 

P
ro

ce
du

re
 d

ue
 0

8/
09

 

B
et

te
r 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

an
d 

flo
w

 o
f i

nf
or

m
at

io
n 

on
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

fu
nd

in
g 

an
d 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
fo

r 
di

sa
bl

ed
 p

eo
pl

e 
C

om
pl

et
e 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

re
qu

ire
m

en
ts

 o
f d

is
ab

le
d 

pe
op

le
 w

er
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 r
ev

ie
w

 o
f t

he
 

C
us

to
m

er
 S

er
vi

ce
 

S
tr

at
eg

y 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
 

M
or

e 
de

di
ca

te
d 

le
is

ur
e 

fa
ci

lit
ie

s 
w

ith
 im

pr
ov

ed
 a

cc
es

s 
an

d
 s

up
po

rt
 

av
ai

la
bl

e:
 

•
 

C
on

si
de

r 
th

e 
ex

te
nt

 to
 w

hi
ch

 s
ui

ta
bl

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s 

an
d 

ac
tiv

iti
es

 c
an

 
be

 p
ro

vi
de

d 
by

 le
is

ur
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 a
nd

 le
is

ur
e 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t 

 

G
oo

d 
pr

og
re

ss
 h

as
 b

ee
n 

m
ad

e 
O

n-
go

in
g 

 

G
re

at
er

 a
cc

es
s 

to
 IT

 a
nd

 In
te

rn
et

 fo
r 

di
ss

em
in

at
io

n 
of

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n:

 
•
 

E
ac

h 
se

rv
ic

e 
to

 c
on

si
de

r 
ho

w
 to

 im
pr

ov
e 

ac
ce

ss
 to

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
ab

ou
t  

th
ei

r 
se

rv
ic

e 
us

in
g 

th
e 

In
tr

an
et

/In
te

rn
et

 

C
om

pl
et

e 
in

 te
rm

s 
of

 IM
D

  
O

n-
go

in
g 

- 
in

di
vi

du
al

 
se

rv
ic

es
 to

 c
on

tin
ue

 to
 

co
ns

id
er

 
Lo

ng
 te

rm
 in

vo
lv

em
en

t w
ith

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 s

up
po

rt
 g

ro
up

s 
a

nd
 in

di
vi

du
al

s 
re

ga
rd

in
g 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

an
d 

en
ga

ge
m

en
t: 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

&
 

E
ng

ag
em

en
t S

tr
at

eg
y 

O
n-

go
in

g 
ac

tio
n 

472



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
1
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

•
 

H
D

C
 w

ill
 c

om
m

it 
to

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n 

an
d 

en
ga

ge
m

en
t w

ith
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 
su

pp
or

t g
ro

up
s 

an
d 

in
di

vi
du

al
s 

 

co
m

pl
et

e 
 

C
on

si
de

r 
ho

w
 to

 c
on

su
lt 

w
ith

 le
ar

ni
ng

 d
is

ab
le

d 
in

 fu
tu

re
 D

E
S

 a
nd

 a
ct

io
n 

pl
an

 c
on

su
lta

tio
n:

 
•
 

F
ur

th
er

 w
or

k 
to

 e
ns

ur
e 

th
at

 g
ro

up
s/

in
di

vi
du

al
s 

re
pr

es
en

tin
g 

th
e 

ne
ed

s 
of

 le
ar

ni
ng

 d
is

ab
le

d 
ar

e 
in

cl
ud

ed
 in

 a
ny

 f
ut

ur
e 

co
ns

ul
ta

tio
n 

on
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 
  

N
ot

 c
om

pl
et

e 
O

n-
go

in
g 

 

G
e
n
d
e
r 
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
G
E
S
) 
2
0
0
6
-0
9
 –
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

 In
iti

al
 li

st
in

g 
an

d 
as

se
ss

m
en

t o
f f

un
ct

io
ns

/p
ol

ic
ie

s 
fo

r 
re

le
va

nc
e 

to
 

ge
ne

ra
l d

ut
y 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

on
 G

E
S

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

P
ro

ce
ss

 o
f i

m
pa

ct
 a

ss
es

sm
en

ts
 to

 c
om

m
en

ce
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
D

ev
el

op
m

en
t o

f g
ui

da
nc

e 
fo

r 
eq

ua
lit

y 
im

pa
ct

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f p
ro

po
se

d 
po

lic
ie

s 
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
&

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t o

f 
e

xi
st

in
g 

po
lic

ie
s 

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f g

ui
da

nc
e 

fo
r 

co
ns

ul
tin

g 
on

 p
ro

po
se

d 
po

lic
ie

s 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
 

R
ev

ie
w

 o
f 

sy
st

em
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 in

 r
el

at
io

n 
to

 g
en

de
r 

m
on

ito
rin

g 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 
re

se
ar

ch
 o

n 
co

rp
or

at
e 

m
on

ito
rin

g  
R

ep
or

t o
n 

G
E

S
 to

 C
hi

ef
 O

ff
ic

er
s,

 O
ve

rv
ie

w
 &

 S
cr

ut
in

y 
&

 C
ab

in
et

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
S

pr
in

g 
20

08
 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 G

E
S

  
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
S

pr
in

g 
20

08
 

E
st

ab
lis

h 
de

pa
rt

m
en

ta
l e

qu
al

ity
 w

or
ki

ng
 g

ro
up

s 
N

ot
 r

eq
ui

re
d 

 
 

473



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
1
2
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t o
f t

ra
in

in
g 

pl
an

 fo
r 

em
pl

oy
ee

s 
(li

nk
ed

 in
to

 e
qu

al
ity

 
st

an
da

rd
 tr

ai
ni

ng
) 

e.
g.

 fo
r 

 
F

or
 e

qu
al

ity
 s

te
er

in
g 

gr
ou

p 
F

or
 m

an
ag

er
s/

ge
ne

ra
l s

ta
ff

 
M

em
be

rs
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

A
ss

es
sm

en
t a

nd
 p

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 r
es

ul
ts

 o
f e

qu
al

ity
 im

pa
ct

 a
ss

es
sm

en
ts

 
C

om
pl

et
e 

 
S

pr
in

g 
20

08
 

E
xa

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 p
re

vi
ou

s 
ye

ar
s 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t (

eq
ua

lit
y 

m
o

ni
to

rin
g)

 d
at

a 
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

A
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t 
P

ub
lic

at
io

n 
of

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t m
on

ito
rin

g 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
co

m
p

le
te

 
A

nn
ua

l r
ep

or
t 

F
ur

th
er

 to
 a

na
ly

si
s 

of
 e

m
pl

oy
m

en
t m

on
ito

rin
g 

da
ta

 (
05

/0
6)

 m
or

e 
re

se
ar

ch
 in

 te
rm

s 
of

: 
•
 

P
ay

 g
ap

 
•
 

Im
po

rt
ed

 d
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n 

•
 

E
nc

ou
ra

gi
ng

 m
or

e 
fe

m
al

es
 in

to
 h

ig
h 

gr
ad

es
 

•
 

E
nc

ou
ra

gi
ng

 m
or

e 
m

al
es

 in
to

 p
os

iti
on

 g
ra

de
d 

8 
– 

13
  

In
iti

al
 c

om
pa

ris
on

 m
ad

e 
of

 
in

te
rn

al
 c

om
pa

ris
on

s 
– 

an
 

an
nu

al
 a

na
ly

si
s 

w
ill

 n
ow

 
be

 in
co

rp
or

at
ed

 in
to

 th
e 

re
po

rt
 m

ad
e 

an
nu

al
ly

 to
 

E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t P
an

el
 a

nd
 

pu
bl

is
he

d 
th

er
ef

or
e 

on
 

M
od

er
n.

G
ov

 

O
n-

go
in

g 

A
na

ly
si

s 
of

 tr
ai

ni
ng

 ta
ke

 u
p 

by
 g

en
de

r 
us

in
g 

R
es

ou
rc

eL
in

k 
C

ur
re

nt
ly

 a
w

ai
tin

g 
re

p
or

t 
w

hi
ch

 w
ill

 th
en

 e
na

bl
e 

an
nu

al
 r

ev
ie

w
 a

nd
 

co
m

pa
ris

on
 to

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
 

ba
se

 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 

A
nn

ua
l r

ep
or

t o
n 

pr
og

re
ss

 to
 d

at
e 

in
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 G
E

S
 ta

rg
et

s 
to

 C
hi

ef
 

O
ff

ic
er

s,
 O

ve
rv

ie
w

 &
 S

cr
ut

in
y 

&
 C

ab
in

et
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
pr

in
g 

20
08

 

P
ub

lic
at

io
n 

of
 A

nn
ua

l R
ep

or
t o

n 
w

eb
 s

ite
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

S
p

rin
g 

20
08

 
R

ev
ie

w
 o

f 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
pr

oc
ed

ur
e 

in
 r

el
at

io
n 

to
 r

ac
e,

 g
en

de
r 

&
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 
 

E
IA

 o
f c

or
po

ra
te

 
co

m
pl

ai
nt

s 
po

lic
y 

re
-

474



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 1
  

 
1
3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  
 

P
ro
g
re
s
s
  

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
r 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 w
o
rk
  

sc
he

du
le

d 
fo

r 
08

/0
9 

C
on

su
lt 

w
ith

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

 
C

on
du

ct
 c

on
su

lta
tio

n 
w

ith
 E

LA
G

./e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

on
 G

en
de

r 
E

qu
al

ity
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

R
ev

ie
w

 p
er

so
nn

el
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

 
E

ns
ur

e 
ge

nd
er

 e
qu

al
ity

, e
qu

al
 p

ay
 a

nd
 u

nd
er

-r
ep

re
se

nt
ed

 a
re

 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 a
s 

pa
rt

 o
f 

re
vi

e
w

 o
f p

er
so

nn
el

 p
ol

ic
ie

s 

A
s 

pa
rt

 o
f 

E
IA

 ti
m

et
ab

le
 a

ll 
H

R
 p

ol
ic

ie
s 

an
d 

pr
oc

ed
ur

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
re

vi
e

w
ed

 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 

M
on

ito
r 

ke
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t a

nd
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 p
ro

fil
es

 b
y 

ge
nd

er
, a

ge
, e

th
ni

c 
or

ig
in

, d
is

ab
ili

ty
, s

ex
ua

l o
rie

nt
at

io
n,

 r
el

ig
io

n 
an

d 
be

lie
f 

 
O

n-
go

in
g 

R
ai

se
 g

en
er

al
 a

w
ar

en
es

s/
m

on
ito

r/
ev

al
ua

te
 d

iff
er

en
t w

or
ki

ng
 p

at
te

rn
s 

an
d 

w
or

k 
lif

e 
ba

la
nc

e 
op

tio
ns

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
to

 b
ot

h 
m

al
e 

a
nd

 fe
m

al
e 

em
pl

oy
ee

s.
 

 
O

n-
go

in
g 

D
ev

el
op

 C
on

su
lta

tio
n 

&
 E

ng
ag

em
en

t s
tr

at
eg

y 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 G
E

S
 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 
O

pe
n 

O
ut

 r
ep

or
tin

g 
st

at
io

ns
 a

cr
os

s 
th

e 
di

st
ric

t h
av

e 
th

e 
ab

ili
ty

 to
 r

ec
or

d 
H

at
e 

cr
im

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

ge
nd

er
 r

el
at

ed
 c

rim
e 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 fu

rt
he

r 
w

or
k 

to
 c

on
si

de
r 

w
hy

 e
m

pl
oy

ee
s 

do
 n

ot
 fe

el
 c

on
fid

en
t 

re
po

rt
in

g 
ge

nd
er

 d
is

cr
im

in
at

io
n 

 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 

U
nd

er
ta

ke
 fu

rt
he

r 
w

or
k 

to
 e

xp
lo

re
 fu

rt
he

r 
th

e 
re

as
on

s 
w

hy
 p

eo
pl

e 
fe

el
 

th
at

 th
ey

 h
av

e 
be

en
 d

is
cr

im
in

at
ed

 a
ga

in
st

 
 

O
n-

go
in

g 

In
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
la

tin
g 

to
 fl

ex
ib

le
 w

or
ki

ng
 to

 b
e 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 a

s 
pa

rt
 o

f 
th

e 
re

vi
e

w
 o

f 
th

e 
F

le
xi

bl
e 

W
or

ki
ng

 P
ol

ic
y 

C
om

pl
et

e 
 

 

A
ny

 f
ut

ur
e 

em
pl

oy
ee

 s
ur

ve
ys

 n
ee

d 
to

 c
on

si
de

r 
th

e 
di

ff
ic

ul
tie

s 
in

 
ob

ta
in

in
g 

a 
re

pr
es

en
ta

tiv
e 

sa
m

pl
e 

fr
om

 a
cr

os
s 

th
e 

w
ho

le
 o

f 
th

e 
C

ou
nc

il 
  

N
ex

t e
m

pl
oy

ee
 s

ur
ve

y 
du

e 
20

09
 

 

O
n-

go
in

g 

 

475



476

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
1
 

A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
  

T
a
rg
e
t 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
ra
in
in
g
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 M
e
m
b
e
r 
tr
a
in
in
g
) 

•
 
E
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 t
o
 d
a
te
  

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
lin
k
in
g
 w
it
h
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
tr
a
in
in
g
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 

•
 
S
p
e
c
if
ic
 t
ra
in
in
g
 f
o
r 
fr
o
n
tl
in
e
 s
ta
ff
 o
n
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 –
 t
o
 b
e
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 

th
ro
u
g
h
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
R
e
v
ie
w
s
 

P
S
S
D
 &
 H
R
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
0
8
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 I
m
p
a
c
t 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 c
a
n
 b
e
 m
e
t 
w
it
h
in
 e
x
is
ti
n
g
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 –
 a
 c
o
-o
rd
in
a
te
d
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 

to
 b
e
 a
d
o
p
te
d
 w
h
e
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

A
ll 
 

 

K
e
e
p
 R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 u
n
d
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
o
 a
lig
n
 w
it
h
 r
o
le
 o
u
t 
o
f 
R
e
s
o
u
rc
e
 L
in
k
. 

E
n
s
u
re
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
o
m
p
e
te
n
c
ie
s
  

H
R
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

E
x
a
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
rs
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
(e
q
u
a
lit
y
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
) 
d
a
ta
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 a
n
d
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 p
ro
fi
le
s
 b
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 c
a
te
g
o
ri
e
s
 f
o
r:
 

•
 
a
p
p
lic
a
n
ts
 f
o
r 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t,
 t
ra
in
in
g
 a
n
d
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
 

•
 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

•
 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 b
e
n
e
fi
t 
o
r 
s
u
ff
e
r 
d
e
tr
im
e
n
t 
a
s
 a
 r
e
s
u
lt
 o
f 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
th
o
s
e
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 g
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 a
re
 t
h
e
 s
u
b
je
c
t 
o
f 
d
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 
th
o
s
e
 w
h
o
 l
e
a
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 

H
R
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

O
n
g
o
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
lo
c
a
l 
la
b
o
u
r 
m
a
rk
e
t 

a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
(L
L
M
A
) 

H
R
/P
S
S
D
 

O
c
to
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 H
R
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 

H
R
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
  

C
o
m
p
le
te
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
P
o
lic
y
 

H
R
 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
to
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 d
a
ta
 m
o
re
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f:
 

•
 
P
a
y
 g
a
p
 

•
 
Im

p
o
rt
e
d
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

477



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
2
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
  

T
a
rg
e
t 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 m

o
re
 f
e
m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 h
ig
h
 g
ra
d
e
s
 

•
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
in
g
 m

o
re
 m
a
le
s
 i
n
to
 p
o
s
it
io
n
 g
ra
d
e
d
 8
 –
 1
3
  

E
n
s
u
re
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
, 
e
q
u
a
l 
p
a
y
 a
n
d
 u
n
d
e
r-
re
p
re
s
e
n
te
d
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 a
s
 

p
a
rt
 o
f 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
p
e
rs
o
n
n
e
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

R
a
is
e
 g
e
n
e
ra
l 
a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
/m
o
n
it
o
r/
e
v
a
lu
a
te
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
w
o
rk
in
g
 p
a
tt
e
rn
s
 a
n
d
 w
o
rk
 

lif
e
 b
a
la
n
c
e
 o
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 b
o
th
 m
a
le
 a
n
d
 f
e
m
a
le
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
. 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
y
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
fe
e
l 
c
o
n
fi
d
e
n
t 

re
p
o
rt
in
g
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
ti
o
n
  

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
x
p
lo
re
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
th
e
 r
e
a
s
o
n
s
 w
h
y
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
e
e
l 
th
a
t 

th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 d
is
c
ri
m
in
a
te
d
 a
g
a
in
s
t 

H
R
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

A
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 n
e
e
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 d
if
fi
c
u
lt
ie
s
 i
n
 o
b
ta
in
in
g
 a
 

re
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
 s
a
m
p
le
 f
ro
m
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 w
h
o
le
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
  

H
R
 

N
e
x
t 
e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 

s
u
rv
e
y
 d
u
e
 2
0
0
9
O
n
-

g
o
in
g
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
  
 

A
n
n
u
a
l 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
f 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
  

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
g
e
n
e
ra
l 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 

P
S
S
D
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
1
0
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 

P
S
S
D
 

S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

U
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
: 

•
 
C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 c
o
m
p
la
in
ts
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
  

•
 
D
ig
n
it
y
 a
t 
W
o
rk
 p
o
lic
y
 

•
 
G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 &
 D
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 p
o
lic
y
  

•
 
O
p
e
n
 O
u
t 

 A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 

H
R
 

H
R
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 I
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 t
o
 d
e
liv
e
r 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

P
S
S
D
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

R
e
p
o
rt
 o
n
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 w
it
h
 r
a
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 a
n
d
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 t
a
rg
e
ts
 t
o
 C
h
ie
f 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
, 
O
v
e
rv
ie
w
 &
 

P
S
S
D
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
 

478



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 2
 

 
3
 

A
c
ti
o
n
  

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
il
it
y
  

T
a
rg
e
t 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 &
 C
a
b
in
e
t 

P
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
ra
c
e
/d
is
a
b
ili
ty
/g
e
n
d
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 

P
S
S
D
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
u
b
lic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
re
s
u
lt
s
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 

P
S
S
D
 

S
p
ri
n
g
 2
0
0
8
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
fi
n
d
in
g
s
 f
ro
m
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
c
h
e
m
e
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
: 

•
 
R
e
-l
a
u
n
c
h
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 

•
 
E
a
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 f
in
d
in
g
s
 o
f 
D
E
S
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 

 P
S
S
D
 

A
ll 

 

 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r 
2
0
0
8
 

M
o
re
 d
e
d
ic
a
te
d
 l
e
is
u
re
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 w
it
h
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
: 

•
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 e
x
te
n
t 
to
 w
h
ic
h
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 b
y
 l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 l
e
is
u
re
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
  

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
&
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

  M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

G
re
a
te
r 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 I
T
 a
n
d
 I
n
te
rn
e
t 
fo
r 
d
is
s
e
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
: 

•
 
E
a
c
h
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
h
o
w
 t
o
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
n
d
 

in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
b
o
u
t 
 t
h
e
ir
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 I
n
tr
a
n
e
t/
In
te
rn
e
t 

C
o
m
p
le
te
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 

IM
D
 -
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

to
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 

th
is
.  
 

  

L
o
n
g
 t
e
rm

 i
n
v
o
lv
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 r
e
g
a
rd
in
g
 

c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t:
 

•
 
c
o
m
m
it
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

a
n
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 

•
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
/i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
ls
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 

o
f 
le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 a
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
n
y
 f
u
tu
re
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

P
S
S
D
 

     

P
ro
g
re
s
s
 t
o
 b
e
 m
a
d
e
 

b
y
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
s
e
lf
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
a
g
a
in
s
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
m
e
n
ts
 o
f 
L
e
v
e
l 
3
 o
f 
th
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 

S
ta
n
d
a
rd
. 
P
ro
d
u
c
e
 a
c
ti
o
n
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
a
c
h
ie
v
in
g
 L
e
v
e
l 
3
 (
if
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
) 

P
S
S
D
 

 
M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
 r
e
v
ie
w
 t
o
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 d
e
ta
il 
w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
 i
s
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

P
S
S
D
 

M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 

479



480

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
1
 

E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
ts
 c
o
n
d
u
c
te
d
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 –
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
r 
is
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
rs
o
n
s
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

C
o
n
fi
rm

 t
h
e
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 o
f 
B
M
E
 p
o
p
u
la
ti
o
n
. 
A
g
e
d
 1
6
-2
5
 

•
 

D
e
v
is
e
 a
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 s
y
s
te
m
 t
o
 r
e
c
o
rd
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 q
u
e
ri
e
s
 f
ro
m
 l
e
s
b
ia
n
, 

g
a
y
, 
b
is
e
x
u
a
l 
o
r 
tr
a
n
s
g
e
n
d
e
r 
c
lie
n
ts
. 
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 e
x
te
n
t 
to
 w
h
ic
h
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 c
o
m
p
le
x
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
re
 n
o
t 
c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 

s
c
o
p
e
 o
f 
th
is
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
s
e
x
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
lig
io
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 
 T
h
is
 i
s
 r
e
g
a
rd
e
d
 a
s
 a
 c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 i
s
s
u
e
 f
o
r 
th
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 s
te
e
ri
n
g
 g
ro
u
p
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r.
 

•
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 t
h
e
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
a
l 
m
a
te
ri
a
l 
a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 a
ll 
re
lig
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 p
ro
m
o
te
d
. 

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 a
n
d
 r
e
fe
rr
a
l 
a
g
e
n
c
ie
s
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 i
f 
th
e
y
 b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
r 

u
n
fa
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 b
y
 c
e
rt
a
in
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

2
0
0
9
 

R
e
n
t 
D
e
p
o
s
it
 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 

•
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
o
f 
E
IA
 r
e
s
u
lt
s
 t
o
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
’ 
F
o
ru
m
 

•
 

T
o
 c
h
e
c
k
 t
a
k
e
-u
p
 o
f 
s
c
h
e
m
e
 b
y
 c
lie
n
ts
 (
fo
r 
w
h
o
m
 E
n
g
lis
h
 i
s
 n
o
t 
th
e
ir
 1

s
t  l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
) 
to
 

a
s
c
e
rt
a
in
 u
ti
lit
y
 o
f 
tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 
fo
rm

 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 i
n
to
 P
o
lis
h
 a
n
d
 P
o
rt
u
g
u
e
s
e
 

2
0
0
9
 

H
o
m
e
le
s
s
n
e
s
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

N
o
 i
m
m
e
d
ia
te
ly
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 o
th
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
tr
a
n
s
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 

a
d
v
ic
e
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
 i
n
to
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
 a
n
y
 t
re
n
d
s
 i
n
 h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
in
g
 t
h
is
 s
e
rv
ic
e
. 

N
/A
 

C
h
o
ic
e
 B
a
s
e
d
 

L
e
tt
in
g
s
 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 

•
 

T
o
 a
s
c
e
rt
a
in
 w

h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 a
im

s
 o
f 
th
e
 C

B
L
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
re
 c
o
m
p
a
ti
b
le
 w

it
h
 t
h
e
 

c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 
ta
rg
e
ts
, 
a
s
 
w
e
ll 
a
s
 
C
B
L
 
e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 
re
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
e
d
 
b
y
 
th
e
 

D
C
L
G
 a
n
d
 E
H
R
C
 

•
 

T
o
 d
e
c
id
e
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
to
 t
ra
n
s
la
te
 a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 C
B
L
 m

a
te
ri
a
ls
 i
n
to
 o
th
e
r 
la
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 

•
 

T
o
 a
s
c
e
rt
a
in
 w

h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 C

B
L
 p
o
lic
y
 w

ill
 a
ff
e
c
t 
a
n
y
 o
f 
th
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 u
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 E

IA
 

p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

•
 

T
o
 f
ra
m
e
 a
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p

ro
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 s
c
ru
ti
n
is
e
 t
h
e
 e
ff
e
c
ts
 o
f 
th
e
 s
h
if
t 
o
f 
p
o
lic
y
 t
o
 C

B
L
, 
a
n
d
 

2
0
0
9
  

481



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
2
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

d
ir
e
c
t 
le
ts
 

•
 

T
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
th
e
 u
ti
lis
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
m
e
d
ia
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 C

B
L
 s
e
rv
ic
e
  

•
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
 t
a
k
e
 u
p
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
o
th
e
r 
m
e
d
ia
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

•
 

T
o
 m

a
k
e
 a
n
y
 r
e
c
o
m
m
e
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
a
t 
w
ill
 w

id
e
n
 a
c
c
e
s
s
, 
a
n
d
 t
o
 f
ra
m
e
 a
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

th
a
t 
w
ill
 t
ra
c
k
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 b
y
 a
ff
e
c
te
d
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

E
n
a
b
li
n
g
 n
e
w
 

d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

•
 

A
s
k
 H

o
u
s
in
g
 A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
s
 i
f 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 a
n
y
 E
IA
’s
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
h
o
m
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 a
n
d
 f
o
r 

th
o
s
e
 i
n
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 a
re
 i
n
 l
in
e
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
e
d
 n
e
e
d
, 
p
ro
 r
a
ta
, 
a
n
d
 m

o
n
it
o
r 

th
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 a
v
a
ila
b
le
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
u
c
h
 s
c
h
e
m
e
s
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 s
h
a
re
d
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

o
p
ti
o
n
) 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
a
d
h
e
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 L
if
e
ti
m
e
 H
o
m
e
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 r
o
lle
d
 o
u
t 
fu
rt
h
e
r 
in
 

th
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 
a
s
 a
 p
o
lic
y
. 
T
h
is
 w
ill
 f
o
llo
w
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
to
 l
o
c
a
l 
R
S
L
 p
o
lic
y
, 
n
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
p
o
lic
y
, 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
o
s
t 
a
n
a
ly
s
is
. 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 r
o
le
 o
f 
lo
w
 c
o
s
t 
h
o
m
e
 o
w
n
e
rs
h
ip
 i
n
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
 o
f 
ta
rg
e
t 
g
ro
u
p
s
 b
y
 

a
n
a
ly
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
s
e
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 d
is
c
u
s
s
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
s
s
u
e
 w
it
h
 l
e
a
d
 c
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 o
f 

h
e
a
lt
h
 a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
c
a
re
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
h
o
w
 u
p
 t
o
 d
a
te
 t
h
e
 d
a
ta
 i
s
 t
h
a
t 
is
 u
s
e
d
 i
n
 t
h
e
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 i
s
. 
Id
e
n
ti
fy
 

a
n
y
 s
e
c
o
n
d
a
ry
 d
a
ta
 o
r 
p
re
v
a
le
n
c
e
 d
a
ta
 t
h
a
t 
c
o
u
ld
 a
ls
o
 b
e
 u
s
e
d
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

 t
h
e
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
 w
it
h
 H

o
u
s
in
g
 C
o
rp
o
ra
ti
o
n
/R
S
L
s
/O

th
e
rs
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
ty
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 o
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

2
0
0
9
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 2
0
0
6
-

2
0
1
1
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
th
e
 n
e
e
d
 f
o
r 
th
e
 p
ro
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 t
ra
n
s
la
te
d
 i
n
to
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 o
r 

p
ro
d
u
c
e
d
 i
n
 l
a
rg
e
 t
y
p
e
 o
r 
ta
p
e
d
. 

•
 

R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 o
f 
th
is
 E
IA
 t
o
 S
u
b
 R

e
g
io
n
a
l 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 G

ro
u
p
s
 

2
0
0
9
 

482



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
3
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

O
ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
 

A
g
e
in
g
 W
e
ll
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
s
e
x
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
lig
io
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
if
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 m

a
te
ri
a
l 
p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
s
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
re
lig
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 

o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 
 

•
 

A
s
k
 o
th
e
r 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 s
im

ila
r 
E
IA
s
. 

•
 

E
x
p
lo
re
 w
h
a
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
e
d
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 a
re
 a
v
a
ila

b
le
 f
o
r 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 

le
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 m

e
n
ta
l 
h
e
a
lt
h
 n
e
e
d
s
. 
 

•
 

Q
u
a
n
ti
fy
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
rs
 o
r 
p
re
v
a
le
n
c
e
 r
a
te
 o
f 
o
ld
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 a
 l
e
a
rn
in
g
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 a
n
d
 

e
n
d
u
ri
n
g
 m

e
n
ta
l 
ill
 h
e
a
lt
h
. 
  
  

2
0
0
9
 

D
is
a
b
le
d
 

F
a
c
il
it
ie
s
 G
ra
n
ts
 
•
 

D
a
ta
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
a
n
c
e
lla
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
im

e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
y
 

e
th
n
ic
it
y
, 
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 g
e
n
d
e
r 
to
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 c
e
rt
a
in
 g
ro
u
p
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 

d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
y
 g
ro
u
p
. 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 c
o
u
ld
 ‘
fa
ll 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 n
e
t’
 i
f 
th
e
y
 a
re
 n
o
t 
lit
e
ra
te
 i
n
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 d
o
 n
o
t 
re
tu
rn
 f
o
rm

s
. 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
s
e
x
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
lig
io
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 O

c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
is
ts
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 i
f 
th
e
y
 b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
d
 o
r 

u
n
fa
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 b
y
 c
e
rt
a
in
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 
 

•
 

A
s
k
 o
th
e
r 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 s
im

ila
r 
E
IA
`s
 

2
0
0
9
 

E
m
p
ty
 H
o
m
e
s
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
o
f 
E
IA
 t
o
 L
a
n
d
lo
rd
s
’ 
F
o
ru
m
 

•
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 O

ff
ic
e
r 
to
 r
e
c
o
rd
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
o
r 
n
o
t 
a
n
y
 a
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 w
a
s
 r
e
q
u
e
s
te
d
 o
r 

g
iv
e
n
 t
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

2
0
0
9
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
 R
e
p
a
ir
s
 

A
s
s
is
ta
n
c
e
 

•
 

D
a
ta
 a
n
a
ly
s
is
 o
f 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
, 
c
a
n
c
e
lla
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 t
im

e
 t
a
k
e
n
 t
o
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 b
y
 

e
th
n
ic
it
y
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 f
ro
m
 c
e
rt
a
in
 g
ro
u
p
s
 d
o
 n
o
t 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
y
 g
ro
u
p
. 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
p
e
o
p
le
 c
o
u
ld
 ‘
fa
ll 
th
ro
u
g
h
 t
h
e
 n
e
t’
 i
f 
th
e
y
 a
re
 n
o
t 
lit
e
ra
te
 i
n
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
fo
re
 d
o
 n
o
t 
re
tu
rn
 f
o
rm

s
 

2
0
0
9
 

483



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
4
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

•
 

C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
w
h
e
th
e
r 
s
e
x
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 r
e
lig
io
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 o
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 f
o
rm

s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

fu
tu
re
. 
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
 s
ta
ff
 a
n
d
 O

c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
T
h
e
ra
p
is
ts
 t
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 i
f 
th
e
y
 b
e
lie
v
e
 t
h
a
t 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 o
r 

u
n
fa
v
o
u
ra
b
le
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 c
o
u
ld
 b
e
 e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
d
 b
y
 c
e
rt
a
in
 g
ro
u
p
s
. 

•
 

A
s
k
 o
th
e
r 
C
o
u
n
c
ils
 w
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 f
o
u
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
in
g
 s
im

ila
r 
E
IA
s
. 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

&
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
re
 a
re
 l
in
k
s
 b
e
tw
e
e
n
 t
h
e
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
s
 &
 M

a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 E
q
u
a
lit
y
 P
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 c
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 i
d
e
n
ti
ty
 a
n
d
 l
o
g
o
 a
re
 c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 

•
 

R
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 i
n
to
 h
o
w
 o
th
e
r 
c
o
u
n
c
ils
 h
a
v
e
 i
n
c
o
rp
o
ra
te
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
to
 t
h
e
ir
 C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 

&
 M

a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 

2
0
0
9
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 &
 

E
n
g
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
  
 

•
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
 t
h
e
 b
a
rr
ie
rs
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
g
e
n
d
e
r,
 r
e
lig
io
u
s
 b
e
lie
f 

a
n
d
 s
e
x
u
a
l 
o
ri
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

•
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
is
 E
IA
 a
ft
e
r 
1
 y
e
a
r 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

•
 

A
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 a
d
d
e
d
 t
o
 t
h
e
 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 S
e
rv
in
g
 t
h
e
 P
u
b
lic
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 H

e
a
lt
h
 c
h
e
c
k
 (
d
o
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 s
h
a
re
 t
h
e
 s
a
m
e
 a
p
p
ro
a
c
h
 t
o
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
s
 H
D
C
; 
h
o
w
 d
o
 

th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
s
 o
f 
th
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 l
in
k
 i
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 n
e
e
d
s
 a
ro
u
n
d
 r
a
c
e
, 
g
e
n
d
e
r 
a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 

•
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 (
a
ft
e
r 
1
2
 m

o
n
th
s
) 
to
 e
s
ta
b
lis
h
 h
o
w
 s
u
c
c
e
s
s
fu
l 
th
e
 2
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
. 
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

   A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

A
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

p
o
li
c
y
 

(s
ic
k
n
e
s
s
 p
o
li
c
y
)  

•
 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
re
 d
e
a
lt
 w
it
h
 e
q
u
it
a
b
ly
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 

re
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
. 

•
 

T
o
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 e
v
a
lu
a
te
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 H

D
C
  

•
 

E
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
in
g
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 b
e
n
c
h
m
a
rk
in
g
 e
x
te
rn
a
lly
 

a
s
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 

•
 

T
o
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 a
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 b
u
ild
in
g
 o
n
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
c
ro
s
s
 t
h
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

b
u
ilt
 o
n
: 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
c
u
rr
e
n
t 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 u
s
a
g
e
 

•
 

Id
e
n
ti
fi
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
e
c
to
r 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
  

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

484



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
5
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 r
e
fl
e
c
ti
n
g
 t
h
e
 c
u
lt
u
re
 a
n
d
 a
im

s
 o
f 
th
e
 o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

F
o
llo
w
in
g
 a
d
o
p
ti
o
n
 o
f 
a
 p
o
lic
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 o
f 

tr
a
in
in
g
/a
tt
e
n
d
a
n
c
e
 a
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
rs
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 t
h
a
t 
im

p
le
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 i
s
 a
p
p
lie
d
 e
q
u
it
a
b
ly
 i
n
 a
ll 
a
re
a
s
 

L
e
is
u
re
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
: 

o
 
E
n
s
u
re
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 i
s
 r
e
v
ie
w
e
d
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
. 
E
n
s
u
re
 n
e
w
 s
ta
ff
 

m
e
m
b
e
rs
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 r
e
fe
rr
a
ls
 f
ro
m
 a
ll 
s
e
c
ti
o
n
s
 o
f 
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 t
o
 E
x
e
rc
is
e
 R
e
fe
rr
a
l 
b
y
 h
ig
h
lig
h
ti
n
g
 

o
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 t
o
 h
e
a
lt
h
 p
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
: 

o
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 m

o
n
it
o
r 
re
fe
rr
a
ls
 b
y
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 i
f 
n
u
m
b
e
rs
 f
a
ll 
b
e
lo
w
 e
x
p
e
c
te
d
 r
a
ti
o
s
 

p
o
s
it
iv
e
ly
 p
ro
m
o
te
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 

o
 
E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
re
g
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 a
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
w
it
h
 H
e
a
lt
h
 P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
ls
 e
n
s
u
re
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 f
ro
m
 p
o
in
t 

o
f 
re
fe
rr
a
l 
fo
r 
a
ll 
th
e
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 w
h
e
re
 t
h
e
ir
 m

e
d
ic
a
l 
c
o
n
d
it
io
n
 a
llo
w
s
. 

 E
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 f
o
r 
p
u
b
lic
: 

o
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
lit
e
ra
tu
re
. 

o
 
C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 u
s
e
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 r
o
le
 m

o
d
e
ls
 i
n
 p
ro
m
o
ti
o
n
s
. 

o
 
F
u
lly
 u
ti
lis
e
 a
ll 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 c
h
a
n
n
e
ls
 –
 w
e
b
 t
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
, 
e
m
a
il,
 h
a
rd
 c
o
p
y
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
, 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
 e
tc
. 

In
c
re
a
s
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
c
lu
b
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
r 
p
a
rt
n
e
rs
: 

o
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
c
lu
b
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
a
c
h
e
s
 t
o
 u
n
d
e
rt
a
k
e
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
: 
A
 C
lu
b
 

fo
r 
A
ll,
 E
q
u
it
y
 i
n
 Y
o
u
r 
C
o
a
c
h
in
g
 a
n
d
 C
o
a
c
h
in
g
 D
is
a
b
le
d
 P
e
rf
o
rm

e
rs
. 

o
 
W
o
rk
 t
o
w
a
rd
s
 o
n
ly
 w

o
rk
in
g
 w

it
h
 p
a
rt
n
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
 c
o
m
m
it
m
e
n
t 
to
 

e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 w
h
o
 h
a
v
e
 a
tt
e
n
d
e
d
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
. 

o
 
P
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 a
v
a
ila
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
tr
a
in
in
g
 c
o
u
rs
e
s
 i
n
 c
o
n
ju
n
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 L
iv
in
g
 S
p
o
rt
 

A
ll 
a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 o
n
-

g
o
in
g
 

L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
C
a
re
 

P
o
li
c
y
  
 

•
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 t
o
 s
h
o
w
 t
h
e
 f
u
ll 
ra
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

o
ff
e
re
d
 b
y
 t
h
e
 l
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

485



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
6
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

U
n
a
u
th
o
ri
s
e
d
 

e
n
c
a
m
p
m
e
n
t 

&
 T
ra
v
e
ll
e
rs
 

P
o
li
c
y
  

T
h
e
 p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 a
ll 
s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 w
it
h
 G

y
p
s
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 a
re
 u
n
d
e
r 
c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 

a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
 p
la
c
e
 t
o
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 a
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
is
s
u
e
s
. 

S
ta
g
e
 2
 n
o
t 
re
q
u
ir
e
d
 a
n
d
 n
o
 f
u
rt
h
e
r 
o
b
je
c
ti
v
e
s
 c
re
a
te
d
. 

N
/A
 

 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 

S
a
fe
ty
 

P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
  

•
 

S
e
e
k
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 f
o
r 
th
e
 O

p
e
n
 O

u
t 
C
o
-o
rd
in
a
to
r 
p
o
s
t 
(f
o
r 
n
e
x
t 
5
 y
e
a
rs
) 

•
 

A
s
s
e
s
s
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
lin
k
in
g
 t
h
e
 O

p
e
n
 O

u
t 
C
o
-o
rd
in
a
to
r 
p
o
s
t 
m
o
re
 c
lo
s
e
ly
 t
o
 H
D
C
 a
n
d
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C
o
n
s
ta
b
u
la
ry
’s
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
a
fe
ty
 u
n
it
s
  
 

•
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 O

p
e
n
 O

u
t 
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

F
ro
m
 A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
8
 

A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

A
rt
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 

 
T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
u
lt
u
re
s
 h
a
v
e
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
rt
s
 e
v
e
n
ts
 &
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
: 

o
 
Id
e
n
ti
fy
 &
 l
ia
is
e
 w
it
h
 “
c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
” 
to
 a
c
t 
a
s
 2
-w

a
y
 c
o
n
d
u
it
s
 o
f 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 

to
 g
ro
u
p
s
 o
f 
p
e
o
p
le
 f
ro
m
 m

in
o
ri
ty
 c
u
lt
u
re
s
 

o
 
F
o
llo
w
in
g
 w
o
rk
 w

it
h
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 c
h
a
m
p
io
n
s
, 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 f
o
r 
ta
rg
e
t 

g
ro
u
p
s
, 
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 i
d
e
n
ti
fi
a
b
le
 n
e
e
d
, 
c
a
p
a
c
it
y
 &
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 

o
 
P
ro
v
id
e
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
p
ri
n
t 
fo
r 
th
e
 p
ro
je
c
ts
 i
n
 t
a
rg
e
te
d
 l
a
n
g
u
a
g
e
s
 

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
o
p
le
 w
it
h
 d
is
a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 e
q
u
a
l 
a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 o
n
 a
rt
s
 e
v
e
n
ts
 &
 

a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
: 

o
 
E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
g
ro
u
p
s
 &
 s
o
c
ie
ti
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 r
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 

v
e
n
u
e
s
 o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 o
w
n
 p
ri
n
t 
&
 p
u
b
lic
it
y
 

  M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 

S
ta
tu
to
ry
 

n
u
is
a
n
c
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

 

T
h
e
 p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
v
o
lv
e
d
 i
n
 

re
la
ti
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 s
p
e
c
ia
lis
t 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 o
f 
S
ta
tu
to
ry
 n
u
is
a
n
c
e
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
 g
iv
e
n
 d
u
e
 c
o
n
s
id
e
ra
ti
o
n
 

h
o
w
e
v
e
r 
a
 m

o
re
 d
e
ta
ile
d
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 e
x
e
rc
is
e
 i
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 

N
/A
 

  

H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 S
a
fe
ty
 

(e
x
te
rn
a
l)
 

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
n
y
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
h
e
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 

a
b
le
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
  
o
r 
b
e
e
n
 t
re
a
te
d
 u
n
fa
ir
ly
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
: 

o
 
T
o
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
a
 C

u
s
to
m
e
r 
a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
lla
te
 d
a
ta
. 

  J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

486



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
7
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

o
 
T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 l
ia
is
e
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 f
o
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
rs
: 

o
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
d
v
is
o
ry
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
. 

o
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 f
ro
m
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 S
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
: 

o
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

o
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
ro
fi
le
 

(P
D
P
).
 C

o
n
s
id
e
r 
u
s
e
 o
f 
q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

o
 
E
IA
 a
s
 a
 s
ta
n
d
in
g
 i
te
m
 o
n
 t
e
a
m
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

o
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
E
IA
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
e
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 

o
 
6
 S
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 F
o
o
d
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 A
g
e
n
c
y
 (
F
S
A
) 
e
n
d
o
rs
e
d
 f
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 f
a
it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

 o
 
M
e
m
b
e
r 
S
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 I
s
la
m
ic
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 d
a
y
, 
a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 r
e
s
t 
o
f 

te
a
m
 

0
8
/0
9
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

If
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

  C
o
m
p
le
te
/o
n
-g
o
in
g
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
/o
n
-g
o
in
g
 

C
o
u
rs
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 F
e
b
 

0
8
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

F
o
o
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 

T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 w
h
e
th
e
r 
th
e
re
 a
re
 a
n
y
 a
re
a
s
 o
f 
th
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 w
h
e
re
 p
e
o
p
le
 f
e
e
l 
th
e
y
 h
a
v
e
 n
o
t 
b
e
e
n
 

a
b
le
 t
o
 a
c
c
e
s
s
 i
t 
o
r 
b
e
e
n
 t
re
a
te
d
 u
n
fa
ir
ly
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
: 

o
 
T
o
 c
o
n
d
u
c
t 
a
 C

u
s
to
m
e
r 
a
n
d
 b
u
s
in
e
s
s
 s
u
rv
e
y
 a
n
d
 c
o
lla
te
 d
a
ta
. 

o
 
T
o
 i
d
e
n
ti
fy
 a
n
d
 l
ia
is
e
 w
it
h
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
 

E
n
s
u
re
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 f
o
r 
b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
u
m
e
rs
: 

o
 
T
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
d
v
is
o
ry
 l
it
e
ra
tu
re
. 

o
 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 t
o
 b
e
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
in
 l
ig
h
t 
o
f 
c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 f
ro
m
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 S
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
: 

o
 
R
e
v
ie
w
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
n
 e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
s
id
e
r 
a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

o
r 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 
a
p
p
ra
is
a
l 
p
ro
c
e
s
s
 a
n
d
 P
D
P
. 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
u
s
e
 o
f 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
 t
o
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 s
ta
ff
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 

o
 
E
IA
 a
s
 s
ta
n
d
in
g
 i
te
m
 o
n
 t
e
a
m
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
  

o
 
C
o
n
s
id
e
r 
E
IA
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 p
e
e
r 
re
v
ie
w
 p
ro
c
e
s
s
e
s
. 

  J
a
n
 2
0
0
8
 

0
8
/0
9
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

If
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
 

  O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

 C
o
m
p
le
te
/o
n
-g
o
in
g
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
/o
n
-g
o
in
g
 

487



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
8
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

o
 
6
 S
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 F
S
A
 e
n
d
o
rs
e
d
 f
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 f
a
it
h
 t
ra
in
in
g
 s
e
s
s
io
n
 

 o
 
M
e
m
b
e
r 
S
ta
ff
 t
o
 a
tt
e
n
d
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 I
s
la
m
ic
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 d
a
y
, 
a
n
d
 f
e
e
d
b
a
c
k
 t
o
 r
e
s
t 
o
f 

te
a
m
 

C
o
u
rs
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
d
 F
e
b
 

0
8
 

C
o
m
p
le
te
  

P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

R
e
v
ie
w
 g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
b
e
s
t 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 i
n
 t
e
rm

s
 o
f 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 

•
 

A
m
e
n
d
 t
h
e
 d
ra
ft
 P
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 

•
 

Im
p
ro
v
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 t
e
rm

s
 i
n
 t
o
 C

o
u
n
c
ils
 s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 T
e
rm

s
 &
 C
o
n
d
it
io
n
s
. 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
 t
h
e
 E
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 e
le
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
tr
a
in
in
g
. 

•
 

A
m
e
n
d
 ‘
E
x
p
re
s
s
io
n
s
 o
f 
In
te
re
s
t’
 a
n
d
 ‘
P
re
-Q

u
a
lif
ic
a
ti
o
n
 Q

u
e
s
ti
o
n
n
a
ir
e
’ 
to
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 

a
s
p
e
c
ts
. 

•
 

W
ri
te
 a
n
d
 p
u
b
lis
h
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
. 

•
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
te
c
h
n
iq
u
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
re
 g
iv
e
n
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 w
e
ig
h
t 
in
 

e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
s
. 

•
 

A
m
e
n
d
 w
e
b
s
it
e
: 

•
 

In
tr
a
n
e
t 
to
 l
in
k
 t
o
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 d
o
c
u
m
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
. 

•
 

In
te
rn
e
t 
to
 e
x
p
la
in
 C

o
u
n
c
il’
s
 e
q
u
a
lit
ie
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
c
u
re
m
e
n
t 
p
o
lic
y
. 

•
 

A
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 c
a
m
p
a
ig
n
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
O
ff
ic
e
rs
. 

•
 

In
tr
o
d
u
c
e
 c
o
n
tr
a
c
t 
m
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
. 
 

 

W
e
b
 &
 I
n
tr
a
n
e
t 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

T
a
rg
e
t 
o
f 
A
A
A
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
9
8
%
 o
f 
p
a
g
e
s
 b
y
 2
0
0
9
 (
s
u
b
je
c
t 
to
 a
p
p
ro
p
ri
a
te
 f
u
n
d
in
g
 a
n
d
 

re
s
o
u
rc
in
g
 +
 m

ig
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
it
e
 t
o
 n
e
w
 M

ic
ro
s
o
ft
 S
h
a
re
P
o
in
t 
P
la
tf
o
rm

) 

•
 

M
o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 o
f 
w
e
b
s
it
e
 a
n
d
 a
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
s
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
c
a
p
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
d
 i
n
 a
ll 

v
id
e
o
 f
ile
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
re
 p
la
c
e
d
 o
n
 t
h
e
 I
n
te
rn
e
t 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 e
d
u
c
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
A
u
th
o
rs
 a
n
d
 E
d
it
o
rs
 o
n
 A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
. 

•
 

C
o
n
ti
n
u
e
d
 a
d
h
e
re
n
c
e
 (
a
n
d
 a
u
d
it
in
g
) 
o
f 
th
e
 W

e
b
 A
u
th
o
ri
n
g
 p
o
lic
y
 t
h
ro
u
g
h
 d
ro
p
 i
n
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

s
e
s
s
io
n
s
 a
n
d
 p
h
o
n
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
. 

•
 

IM
D
 w

ill
 i
n
v
e
s
ti
g
a
te
 v
a
lu
e
 o
f 
“p
a
id
 f
o
r”
 a
u
to
m
a
ti
c
 t
ra
n
s
la
ti
o
n
. 
  

2
0
0
9
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
 

 O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

 0
8
/0
9
 

488



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 3
 

 
9
 

N
a
m
e
 o
f 
P
o
li
c
y
 

o
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 a
re
a
 

A
c
ti
o
n
s
/i
s
s
u
e
s
 a
ri
s
in
g
 o
u
t 
o
f 
a
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
 

T
a
rg
e
t/
d
a
te
 f
o
r 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 

•
 

T
o
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
 t
o
 a
d
v
is
e
 w
e
b
 a
u
th
o
rs
 c
re
a
ti
n
g
 s
u
rv
e
y
s
 t
o
 c
o
n
ta
c
t 
P
o
lic
y
 s
o
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
y
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

c
h
e
c
k
e
d
 f
o
r 
E
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 D
is
a
b
ili
ty
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
. 

•
 

IM
D
/ 
C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
o
 s
u
rv
e
y
 “
h
a
rd
 t
o
 r
e
a
c
h
” 
g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 o
th
e
rs
 w
h
o
 d
o
 n
o
t 
u
s
e
 w
e
b
 

s
e
rv
ic
e
s
. 
W
e
b
s
it
e
 s
u
rv
e
y
 t
o
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 e
th
n
ic
it
y
 a
n
d
 d
is
a
b
ili
ty
 m

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g
 q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
s
 

O
n
-g
o
in
g
  

  A
p
ri
l 
2
0
0
9
 

 

R
e
c
o
v
e
ry
 P
o
li
c
y
 

T
h
e
 p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
  

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
  
–
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
  

N
/A
  

B
e
n
e
fi
ts
 

P
ro
s
e
c
u
ti
o
n
 

P
o
li
c
y
 

•
 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
re
s
e
a
rc
h
 a
n
d
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 g
a
th
e
ri
n
g
 t
o
 d
e
m
o
n
s
tr
a
te
 h
o
w
 c
u
rr
e
n
t 
p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 a
re
 

e
q
u
it
a
b
le
 a
n
d
 f
a
ir
. 

J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
8
 

C
a
s
h
 p
a
y
m
e
n
ts
  

T
h
e
 p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 e
v
id
e
n
c
e
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
a
ll 
re
le
v
a
n
t 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 a
n
d
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 h
a
v
e
 b
e
e
n
  

c
o
n
s
id
e
re
d
  
–
 n
o
 a
c
ti
o
n
s
 a
re
 r
e
q
u
ir
e
d
  

N
/A
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 –
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

C
o
n
tr
o
l 
(i
n
fo
rm
a
l 

d
is
c
u
s
s
io
n
 w
it
h
 

a
p
p
li
c
a
n
ts
) 

•
 

A
d
d
 a
 s
e
c
ti
o
n
 o
n
 t
h
e
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 p
a
g
e
 (
In
te
rn
e
t)
 t
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 t
h
e
 p
re
lim

in
a
ry
 e
n
q
u
ir
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

(P
E
N
Q
) 

•
 

T
e
a
m
 l
e
a
d
e
rs
 t
o
 r
e
v
ie
w
 P
E
N
Q
 r
e
p
ly
 p
ro
g
re
s
s
 a
s
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
th
e
ir
 w
e
e
k
ly
 c
a
s
e
w
o
rk
 r
e
v
ie
w
s
 

•
 

A
m
e
n
d
 I
n
te
rn
e
t 
p
a
g
e
s
 t
o
 c
le
a
rl
y
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
 t
h
a
t 
in
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 a
lt
e
rn
a
ti
v
e
 f
o
rm

a
ts
 c
a
n
 b
e
 

p
ro
v
id
e
d
 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
  

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 P
o
li
c
y
 

•
 

U
s
e
 p
la
in
 E
n
g
lis
h
 a
n
d
 m

in
im

is
e
 j
a
rg
o
n
 

•
 

G
a
th
e
r 
a
d
v
ic
e
 i
n
 r
e
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 f
o
r 
G
y
p
s
ie
s
 a
n
d
 T
ra
v
e
lle
rs
 

•
 

E
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 w
o
m
e
n
 t
o
 r
e
s
p
o
n
d
 t
o
 c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 

P
u
t 
in
 p
la
c
e
 a
 m

e
c
h
a
n
is
m
 t
o
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
 c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 i
n
 d
if
fe
re
n
t 
fo
rm

a
ts
 

•
 

B
e
tt
e
r 
in
v
o
lv
e
 c
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 y
o
u
n
g
 p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
 r
e
le
v
a
n
t 
is
s
u
e
s
 

T
o
 b
e
 c
o
n
fi
rm

e
d
 

 

489



490

This page is intentionally left blank



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 

 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
1
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
ie
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

C
e
n
tr
a
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 D
ir
e
c
to
ra
te
 

P
o
li
ti
c
a
l 
M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
S
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 &
 

S
u
p
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 m

a
n
a
g
e
 p
o
lit
ic
a
l 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
s
y
s
te
m
s
 

a
n
d
 t
o
 s
u
p
p
o
rt
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
o
n
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
le
c
to
ra
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

B
ro
u
g
h
t 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 0
7
/0
8
 

N
o
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 –
 w
ill
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
/f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
  

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

B
ro
u
g
h
t 
o
v
e
r 
fr
o
m
 0
7
/0
8
 

o
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 P
o
lic
y
 

o
 

S
ta
te
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
G
a
m
b
lin
g
 P
o
lic
y
 

O
th
e
r 
lic
e
n
s
in
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 (
e
.g
. 
ta
x
i,
 s
tr
e
e
t 
c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 e
tc
) 
c
a
n
 b
e
 

a
s
s
e
s
s
e
d
 s
e
p
a
ra
te
ly
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
  

T
o
 o
ff
e
r 
a
 w
id
e
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
s
p
o
rt
, 
re
c
re
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
n
d
 s
o
c
ia
l 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 f
o
r 
a
ll 
a
g
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
b
ili
ti
e
s
 

In
d
iv
id
u
a
l 
L
e
is
u
re
 C
e
n
tr
e
s
’ 
B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 P
la
n
s
. 

L
e
is
u
re
 c
e
n
tr
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
la
n
s
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
c
a
re
 p
o
lic
y
?
 

Im
p
re
s
s
io
n
s
 m
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 p
la
n
?
 

J
u
n
io
r 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 &
 c
rè
c
h
e
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 

N
O
P
 &
 E
A
P
 P
o
lic
ie
s
 

N
e
w
 e
m
p
lo
y
e
e
 r
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
&
 i
n
d
u
c
ti
o
n
 p
o
lic
y
  

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

   

H
R
  

R
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
le
 f
o
r 
p
a
y
 &
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
, 

re
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
&
 s
e
le
c
ti
o
n
, 
g
o
o
d
 e
m
p
lo
y
m
e
n
t 
&
 

fo
s
te
r 
a
 c
u
lt
u
re
 o
f 
in
n
o
v
a
ti
o
n
 i
n
 s
e
rv
ic
e
 

d
e
liv
e
ry
 

F
le
x
ib
le
 w
o
rk
in
g
 h
o
u
rs
 f
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 r
e
la
te
d
 p
a
y
 

P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
re
v
ie
w
s
 

D
is
c
ip
lin
a
ry
 a
n
d
 c
a
p
a
b
ili
ty
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
  

G
ri
e
v
a
n
c
e
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 

J
o
in
t 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 (
E
L
A
G
) 

J
o
b
 e
v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
 s
c
h
e
m
e
  

L
e
a
v
e
 a
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 f
o
r 
p
a
rt
 t
im
e
 s
ta
ff
  

R
e
d
u
n
d
a
n
c
y
 p
o
lic
y
 

M
o
b
ile
 a
n
d
 h
o
m
e
 w
o
rk
in
g
  

P
e
o
p
le
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

R
e
c
ru
it
m
e
n
t 
s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

M
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
d
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
 

R
e
ta
in
 I
IP
 A
c
c
re
d
it
a
ti
o
n
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
s
ta
te
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
  

T
h
e
 m

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
in
d
u
s
tr
ia
l/
c
o
m
m
e
rc
ia
l 

p
ro
p
e
rt
ie
s
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 
a
d
v
ic
e
 a
n
d
 

v
a
lu
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

491



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 

 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
2
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
ie
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

H
e
a
lt
h
 &
 S
a
fe
ty
 

T
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 a
 s
a
fe
 a
n
d
 h
e
a
lt
h
y
 w
o
rk
fo
rc
e
 

a
n
d
 w
o
rk
in
g
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

T
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 g
ro
w
th
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 

b
u
s
in
e
s
s
e
s
 a
n
d
 a
tt
ra
c
t 
in
w
a
rd
 i
n
v
e
s
tm
e
n
t,
 

in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
ic
a
ti
o
n
 &
 M
a
rk
e
ti
n
g
 

C
o
d
e
 o
f 
p
ra
c
ti
c
e
 o
n
 l
o
c
a
l 
g
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
p
u
b
lic
it
y
 

C
o
rp
o
ra
te
 b
ra
n
d
in
g
 

P
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

In
fo
rm

a
lly
 –
 e
v
e
n
t 
m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
&
 s
c
ru
ti
n
y
 o
f 
p
re
s
s
 r
e
le
a
s
e
s
 

 

P
o
li
c
y
  

In
te
rn
a
l 
s
u
p
p
o
rt
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
, 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t,
 e
x
te
rn
a
l 
fu
n
d
in
g
, 
c
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 

&
 r
e
s
e
a
rc
h
, 
e
q
u
a
lit
y
 &
 d
iv
e
rs
it
y
. 

 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 o
ff
e
rs
 a
 g
o
o
d
 

q
u
a
lit
y
 v
is
it
o
r 
e
x
p
e
ri
e
n
c
e
, 
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 f
o
r 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 

 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 &
 T
e
c
h
n
o
lo
g
y
  

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
F
ir
s
t 
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 i
n
 s
p
e
c
if
ic
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
n
e
w
 s
y
s
te
m
  

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 i
n
c
lu
d
in
g
: 

   C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

 R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 s
li
p
p
a
g
e
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 

  

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 s
tr
a
te
g
y
 

C
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
e
rv
ic
e
 c
e
n
tr
e
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 

C
a
ll 
c
e
n
tr
e
 t
ra
in
in
g
 

 N
o
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 –
 w
ill
 a
s
s
e
s
s
 t
h
e
 2
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 i
n
fo
rm

a
ti
o
n
 c
e
n
tr
e
s
 a
n
d
 

c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 P
la
n
 

 A
n
y
 r
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 (
m
a
y
 i
n
c
lu
d
e
 

in
c
o
m
e
 -
 d
e
b
t 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 a
n
d
 s
ta
ff
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
/g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 n
o
te
s
–
 

w
h
ic
h
 i
s
 n
o
w
 p
a
rt
 o
f 
fi
n
a
n
c
ia
l 
s
e
rv
ic
e
s
) 

 

492



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 

 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
3
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
ie
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

                 F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

 

F
ra
u
d
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
C
o
n
d
u
c
t 

F
ra
u
d
 T
e
rm

s
 o
f 
R
e
fe
re
n
c
e
 

F
ra
u
d
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

A
u
th
o
ri
s
e
d
 O
ff
ic
e
r’
s
 P
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
 x
 2
 

R
e
c
o
rd
 R
e
te
n
ti
o
n
 &
 D
e
s
tr
u
c
ti
o
n
 P
o
lic
y
 

O
v
e
rp
a
y
m
e
n
ts
 P
o
lic
y
 

B
e
n
e
fi
t’
s
 T
a
k
e
-u
p
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

L
a
n
d
lo
rd
’s
 P
o
lic
y
 

R
IP
A
 &
 S
P
O
C
 G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 N
o
te
s
 

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
s
 S
e
rv
ic
e
 S
ta
n
d
a
rd
s
 

B
a
ili
ff
s
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
C
o
n
d
u
c
t 

P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to
rs
 M

a
n
u
a
l 

G
u
id
a
n
c
e
 o
n
 m

a
k
in
g
 S
p
e
c
ia
l 
A
rr
a
n
g
e
m
e
n
ts
 

D
is
c
re
ti
o
n
a
ry
 R
e
lie
f 

H
a
rd
s
h
ip
 R
e
lie
f 

B
a
ili
ff
s
 C
o
d
e
 o
f 
C
o
n
d
u
c
t 

P
ro
p
e
rt
y
 I
n
s
p
e
c
to
rs
 m

a
n
u
a
l 

 D
e
b
t 
re
c
o
v
e
ry
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

S
ta
ff
 p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
s
/g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 n
o
te
s
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
&
 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

C
a
ra
v
a
n
 &
 C
a
m
p
in
g
 s
it
e
s
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
s
it
e
s
 a
re
 s
u
it
a
b
le
 f
o
r 

o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

P
ri
v
a
te
 S
e
c
to
r 
H
o
u
s
in
g
  

M
a
x
im
is
e
 f
it
n
e
s
s
 f
o
r 
o
c
c
u
p
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
d
w
e
lli
n
g
s
 

a
n
d
 r
e
g
u
la
te
 l
a
n
d
lo
rd
 t
e
n
a
n
t 
o
b
lig
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
  

 

A
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 o
n
 e
n
e
rg
y
 e
ff
ic
ie
n
c
y
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
fe
s
s
io
n
a
l 
D
e
s
ig
n
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
  

T
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il’
s
 

C
a
p
it
a
l 
P
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

B
u
il
d
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
l 
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

493



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 

 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
4
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
ie
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 b
u
ild
in
g
 w
o
rk
 c
o
m
p
lie
s
 w
it
h
 

b
u
ild
in
g
 r
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 c
o
n
d
it
io
n
, 

a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 a
re
 p
ro
te
c
te
d
 i
n
 

re
s
p
e
c
t 
o
f 
d
a
n
g
e
ro
u
s
 s
tr
u
c
tu
re
s
 

R
e
fu
s
e
 C
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
/r
e
c
y
c
li
n
g
 P
ro
v
is
io
n
 o
f 

d
o
m
e
s
ti
c
 r
e
fu
s
e
 c
o
lle
c
ti
o
n
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

C
h
a
rt
e
r 
M
a
rk
e
ts
  

T
o
 e
n
s
u
re
 t
h
e
 v
ia
b
ili
ty
 o
f 
w
e
e
k
ly
 m

a
rk
e
ts
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

A
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 V
e
h
ic
le
s
 

T
o
 r
e
m
o
v
e
 a
b
a
n
d
o
n
e
d
 v
e
h
ic
le
s
 f
ro
m
 w
it
h
in
 

th
e
 d
is
tr
ic
t 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

C
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

T
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
s
 e
n
jo
y
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 

a
c
c
e
s
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 c
o
u
n
tr
y
s
id
e
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

P
a
rk
s
 &
 O
p
e
n
 S
p
a
c
e
s
 

T
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 t
h
e
 u
s
e
 o
f 
p
a
rk
s
 a
n
d
 o
p
e
n
 

s
p
a
c
e
s
, 
to
 p
ro
m
o
te
 a
 r
a
n
g
e
 o
f 
a
c
ti
v
it
ie
s
 t
o
 

e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 w
id
e
 u
s
e
 a
n
d
 t
o
 e
n
c
o
u
ra
g
e
 u
s
e
 

b
y
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 g
ro
u
p
s
 a
n
d
 v
o
lu
n
ta
ry
 

o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
s
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

R
e
fu
s
e
 C
o
ll
e
c
ti
o
n
  
(s
tr
a
te
g
y
) 
M
in
im
is
e
 

w
a
s
te
 a
n
d
 i
n
c
re
a
s
e
 a
w
a
re
n
e
s
s
 o
f 
lit
te
r 
a
n
d
 

re
c
y
c
lin
g
 i
s
s
u
e
s
 

 
2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

H
o
u
s
in
g
  

A
n
y
 h
o
u
s
in
g
 E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 

 

H
e
ri
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
  

T
o
 p
ro
m
o
te
 a
n
 u
n
d
e
rs
ta
n
d
in
g
 o
f 
th
e
 h
is
to
ri
c
 

e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 
a
n
d
 e
n
g
a
g
e
 t
h
e
 p
u
b
lic
 i
n
 o
rd
e
r 

to
 s
h
a
re
 t
h
e
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ty
 o
f 
s
te
w
a
rd
s
h
ip
 o
f 

th
e
 h
is
to
ri
c
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

•
 

C
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 A
re
a
 C
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
S
ta
te
m
e
n
ts
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
c
o
n
tr
o
l 
 

D
e
te
rm

in
in
g
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 a
n
d
 

p
ro
v
id
in
g
 p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

•
 

D
e
te
rm

in
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
  

•
 

C
o
n
s
u
lt
in
g
 o
n
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

•
 

P
re
-a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
 a
d
v
ic
e
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

494



A
p
p
e
n
d
ix
 4
 E
IA
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 

 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
E
q
u
a
li
ty
 I
m
p
a
c
t 
A
s
s
e
s
s
m
e
n
t 
ti
m
e
ta
b
le
 

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 Y
e
a
r 
2
 t
im

e
ta
b
le
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

E
IA
’s
 b
ro
u
g
h
t 
fo
rw
a
rd
 f
ro
m
 0
7
/0
8
 h
ig
h
lig
h
te
d
 i
n
 r
e
d
 

 
5
 

F
u
n
c
ti
o
n
/p
o
li
c
y
/p
ro
c
e
d
u
re
 

E
x
is
ti
n
g
/p
ro
p
o
s
e
d
 p
o
li
c
ie
s
 r
e
la
te
d
 t
o
 f
u
n
c
ti
o
n
 

P
ri
o
ri
ty
  

 
 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
la
n
s
 

T
o
 c
re
a
te
 p
o
lic
ie
s
 a
n
d
 g
u
id
a
n
c
e
 t
o
 h
e
lp
 i
n
 

th
e
 c
re
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 c
o
m
m
u
n
it
ie
s
 

 

•
 

L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
 

•
 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 p
o
lic
y
 

•
 

S
C
I 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 

T
o
 a
s
s
is
t 
in
 t
h
e
 c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th
e
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
, 
to
 d
e
v
e
lo
p
 

th
e
 C
y
c
lin
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 a
d
v
ic
e
 t
o
 

T
o
w
n
 C
e
n
tr
e
 i
n
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 

•
 

M
a
rk
e
t 
T
o
w
n
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 S
tr
a
te
g
ie
s
 

•
 

A
c
c
e
s
s
ib
ili
ty
 A
c
ti
o
n
 P
la
n
 

•
 

C
y
c
lin
g
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 

•
 

C
a
m
b
s
 T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 P
la
n
 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 E
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 

•
 

E
n
fo
rc
e
m
e
n
t 
o
f 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 r
e
g
u
la
ti
o
n
s
 

 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

U
rb
a
n
 D
e
s
ig
n
, 
T
re
e
s
 a
n
d
 L
a
n
d
s
c
a
p
e
 

•
 

U
rb
a
n
 D
e
s
ig
n
 F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk
s
 

 

2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

 

495



496

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

  
 

CABINET 12 JUNE 2008 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PANEL 24 JUNE 2008  
  
  
  
 

BENEFIT FRAUD PROSECUTION POLICY & PROCEDURES  
(Report by Head of Customer Services)  

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1         This report is to formalise the outcome of a review of the existing 

procedure for the sanction and prosecution of those persons found 
to be committing benefit fraud.  The existing procedures for disposal 
of these matters are contained in the council’s Anti-Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy. 

 
1.2         The Fraud Team undertakes investigation of allegedly fraudulent 

applications for housing benefit and council tax benefit.  This work 
complies with various legislative requirements as well as providing 
protection of the public purse.  

 
1.3         The Team are part of the Benefit Service and report through the 

Benefit Manager to the Head of Customer Services. 
 
2. SANCTIONS & PROSECUTIONS  
 
2.1         All cases of Benefit Fraud identified following investigation are 

referred to the Head of Customer Services (HoS) by the Fraud 
Manager (FM) in accordance with the Prosecution Policy.  The FM 
will make recommendation on disposal of every case based on the 
public interest and evidential test and the HoS will approve or 
amend these in line with the existing procedures and the likelihood 
of securing a conviction.   

  
2.2         The council currently brings all prosecutions through the Head of 

Legal   Services.  The council’s Solicitor either then presents the 
cases in court or instructs other High Street solicitors to act as 
agents, or in Crown Court matters instructs counsel through 
recommended chambers.   

 
2.3         All others sanctions, in relation to Benefit Fraud Matters, short of 

prosecution which are allowed by legislation or Home Office 
guidance are conducted by the Fraud Manager (FM), once such 
disposal has been agreed by the Head of Customer Services (HoS).    

 
2.4         Where partner organisations are involved (for example, the 

Department for Work and Pensions) they will sometimes lead on 
any sanction or prosecution as agreed as part of the partnership 
working arrangements in place.  These actions will include any 
offences identified by the Fraud Team. 

 

Agenda Item 13

497



 

 2 

2.5         The Fraud Team undertake in excess of 400 investigations into 
alleged benefit fraud each year.   The success rate of these 
investigations resulted in 109 sanctions and prosecutions 
2006/2007 and 120 in 2007/2008, this number continues to increase 
year on year. Sanctions include Formal Cautions and Administrative 
Penalties (fines) as well as prosecutions. 

 
2.6 The Fraud Team provide a service to the Benefit Section.  However, 

its expertise and specialist knowledge has led to its use by the Local 
Taxation and Housing Departments. There are no formal 
arrangements in place to allow such investigations and no funding 
or internal recharges made for this type of work by the Fraud Team. 

 
3. PROPOSAL  
 
3.1. Having undertaken a review of the council’s prosecution policy and 

procedures, and noting the year on year increase in fraud detection 
and sanction activity, it is proposed that the issuing of lesser 
sanctions (Formal Cautions & Administrative Penalties) be delegated 
to the Fraud Manager, and that these changes are reflected in the 
Prosecution Policy.  The number of cases being dealt with in this 
manner cannot be undertaken by the HoS due to volume and 
requirement to manage the process throughout. 

 
3.2. The volume of cases passed to the councils Legal Services Team 

has resulted in some delays in cases being brought to court.  A pilot 
scheme was introduced in early 2007 to train and then allow the 
Fraud Manager to present some matters in court for first, plea and 
sentencing hearings where the cases are relatively straight forward.  
This has been found to be very successful and reference to the 
council’s own solicitor, where legal advice was required, has been 
maintained. It is proposed that this delegation be formally agreed 
and included in the constitution. 

 
3.3. The Fraud Team need to have in place an agreed process for 

reporting on other types of council fraud and for this activity to be 
funded by way of recharges to those services. 

 
5. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
5.1 It is  
 
 RECOMMENDED  
 
 that the Chief Officers/Panel/Cabinet 

 
(a) note the content of this report; 

 
(b)  agree and authorise the revised Prosecution Policy attached at 

Annexe A;  
 

(c) authorise the amendment of the Delegated Functions within the     
Council Constitution to allow the Fraud Manager to undertake 
court hearings and issue appropriate sanctions as detailed in 
paragraph 3.1; 

 

498



 

 3 

(d) amend the same functions to allow the Fraud Team staff to 
undertake investigations in fraud affecting other District Council 
services and report to the relevant HoS on the outcomes, 
findings and recommendations  of these investigations. 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The Social Security Administration Act 1992, as amended.   
The Fraud Act 2006 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 
Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 
Local Government Acts 1972, as amended 
Local Government Finance Act 1992, as amended 
Housing Act 1996 
HDC- Anti-Fraud and Corruption Strategy  
 
 
Contact Officer: Julia Barber – Head of Customer Services 
 (((( 01480 388105 
 

499



500

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 1 

Annex A 
 
 
HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Benefits Prosecution Policy 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Huntingdonshire District Council (the council) is committed to the 

professional delivery of housing and council tax benefit services to its 
customers and the contribution that this service can make to the corporate 
objective of having low levels of poverty in the district. Benefit is for those 
who are most vulnerable in society and the Council therefore has two main 
aims:   

 
- To deliver the correct amount to the correct person as soon as 

possible. 
 

- To ensure that benefits are taken up by those who are entitled to 
them.  

 
1.2 The Council also has a duty to protect the public funds it administers from 

abuse and is aware of the risks within the benefits system for fraud, error 
or other irregularity. In carrying out this duty, the authority may use 
information provided to it for the purpose of the prevention and detection of 
fraud. It may also share this information with other bodies administering 
public funds solely for these purposes.  
 

1.3 The Council will, wherever possible incorporate effective internal controls 
to minimise the risk of fraud occurring. However, despite this fraud can be 
perpetrated and appropriate procedures need to be in place.  

 
1.4 The Council understands that some people will attempt to obtain benefit to 

which they are not entitled and sometimes this is done deliberately. Where 
an investigation has revealed this is the case, the Council will consider the 
individual circumstances of the case and where appropriate will consider 
criminal prosecution, alternatively an Administrative Financial Penalty or a 
Formal Caution may be applied. 

 
1.5 The Social Security Administration Act 1992, as amended, allows 

authorities to consider offering offenders a financial penalty or a formal 
caution as an alternative to prosecution. Such sanctions can only be 
offered if the case could be brought to court. However, should the offender 
refuse to accept such sanction then the Council must consider instigating 
proceedings against the individual concerned. 

 
1.6 The Council’s policy outlines the procedures to be followed with regard to 

the prosecution of benefit claimants, landlords, employees and members 
who have committed benefit fraud. It will serve as a policy statement that is 

501



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 2 

supported by members of the Council who have endorsed the Fraud and 
Corruption Strategy, and as an operational guide for Investigating Officers.  

 
1.7     The council will always have regard to the circumstances of the individual it 

is dealing with when considering any case following an investigation into 
alleged benefit fraud.  Every case will be treated on its own merits and 
know distinction will be made due to gender, sexual orientation, religion or 
race.  The council will, however, have regard to any extenuating and 
relevant circumstances of the individual including age, disability or 
language difficulties which may have contributed to apparent offending. 

 
1.8      The term Sanction refers to any penalty that can be imposed by the 

council and allowed by legislation where offending contrary to the Social 
Security Administration Act 1992, Theft Act 1938, or the Fraud Act 2006 
appears in the councils opinion to have occurred. 

 
2.  The Policy 
 
2.1 The Investigation Officers must adhere, at all times, to the requirements of 

the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984, the Social Security 
Administration Act 1992 (as amended), the Code of Practice for Crown 
Prosecutors and the Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996, and 
any other relevant legislation.  
 

2.2 All cases that fall into the criteria outlined in 2.4, regardless of the level of 
the overpaid benefit, will be passed to the Fraud Manager who will decide,  
unless there are exceptional circumstances, whether a sanction is 
appropriate and the type.  Where criminal proceedings are to be 
considered in any case a recommendation will be made to the Head of 
Customer Service on such disposal for that officers agreement.  A monthly 
list of all non-prosecution matters will be provided by the Fraud Manager to 
be agreed by the Head of Service.  

 
- That prosecution is referred to the most appropriate organisation, 

i.e. where the primary fraud appears to have been perpetrated. 
This could be the Department for Work & Pensions, the Police, the 
Councils Legal Department, The councils Fraud Team or any other 
body deemed appropriate. 
 

- Imposition of an administrative penalty (this can only be offered 
where there are sufficient grounds to prosecute but the penalty 
option is preferred). 
 

- Imposition of a formal caution (this can only be offered where there 
are sufficient grounds to prosecute and the offence has been 
admitted at interview). 
 

- Closure of the case without sanction, as it would not be in the 
public interest to pursue the particular case. However, the reasons 
should be fully documented and authorised by the Head of 

502



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 3 

Customer Services.  
 
2.3 The First Test of Public Interest.  To be considered in all cases 

regardless of the method of sanction chosen. 
 

The public interest factors can increase the need to prosecute or may 
suggest an alternative course of action. The factors will vary from case to 
case. Not all the factors will apply to each case and there is no obligation 
to restrict consideration to the factors listed. In making a decision to 
prosecute all available information must be carefully considered.  

 
The points outlined in 2.4 and 2.5 should be taken into consideration when 
determining whether or not to prosecute. 

 
2.4 Common Public Interest Factors in Favour of a prosecution  
 

a) The defendant is alleged to have committed the offence whilst under 
an order of the court.   
 

b) The defendant has previous convictions or cautions that are relevant to 
the present offence. 
c) A conviction is likely to result in a significant sentence. 
 
d) The defendant is in a position of trust. 
 

e)  There is evidence that the offence was premeditated. 
 

f) There are grounds to believe that the defendant was motivated 
solely by personal gain. 
 

g) There are grounds for believing that the offences were likely to be 
continued or repeated e.g. by a history of recurring conduct. 
 

h) The offence is alleged to have occurred over a long period of time 
involving more than one period of deception. 
 

i) The offence, although not serious in itself, is widespread in the area 
where it is committed. 
 

j) There is evidence that the offence was carried out by more than one 
person. 
 

k) The evidence shows that the suspect was a ringleader or an 
organiser of the offence. 
 

l) The overpayment of benefit is in excess of £2,000.00 or the fraud 
spans a period exceeding 52 weeks. 
 

m) A good prima facie case has been established and clear reports 
have been compiled at every stage of the investigation. 

503



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 4 

 
2.5 Common Public Interest Factors Against a prosecution 
 

a) There has been a long delay between the offence taking place and 
the date of the trial, unless  
- the offence is serious 
- the delay has been caused in part by the defendant 
- the offence has only recently come to light. 

 
b) The defendant is elderly or is, or was at the time of the offence, 
suffering from significant mental or physical ill health, unless the 
offence is serious or there is a real possibility that it may be 
repeated. 
 

c) The offence was committed as a result of a genuine mistake or 
misunderstanding (these factors must be balanced against the 
seriousness of the offence).  
 

d) It is a first offence and the loss or harm can be considered minor 
(based on each individual case) particularly if it was caused by 
misjudgement.  
 

e) The amount of the overpayment is less than £2,000.00 and the 
period spans less than 52 weeks. 
 

f) The court is likely to impose a very small or nominal penalty. 
 

g) The defendant admitted the offence at the first opportunity and 
made an offer of repayment. Failure to honour such an agreement 
will result in the continuance of initiated action.  
 

h) The defendant (whether it is a landlord or tenant) has put right the 
loss or harm that was caused. However, simply because the 
defendant can pay compensation does not mean that s/he can avoid 
prosecution.   
 

i) Maladministration or delay of the housing/council tax benefit scheme 
has occurred at some period during the offence. 

 
3. Alternatives to Prosecution 
 
3.1 Only cases that qualify for court on both the strength of evidence and the 

public interest factors can be considered for an alternative to prosecution. 
In essence, this means that the collated evidence must be sufficient to 
enable criminal proceedings to be initiated. If the evidence is insufficient 
then no alternative should be offered. In addition to strong independent 
evidence, there must be an admission of guilt at the interview under 
caution for a formal caution to be considered. Investigations, which fail to 
meet the above criteria, must be closed without sanction. 

 

504



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 5 

3.2 The defendant must give his informed consent to the alternative procedure 
to prosecution being offered. If the offer is declined the Council must 
always be in a position to instigate criminal proceedings should it wish to 
do so. This means that an investigation must have been undertaken as if it 
was the intention to prosecute if the case is proved. It would be a serious 
misuse of power to offer an alternative to prosecution in any case where a 
prosecution would be unlikely to succeed in court.   

 
3.3 As a general rule the following cases should not normally be considered for 

an alternative to prosecution: 
 

a) The defendant is a council member, employee or an employee of 
another welfare organisation. 
 

b) The defendant has declined to accept or has withdrawn from their 
agreement to accept an administrative penalty. 
 

c) The defendant has declined a formal caution. 
 

d) The defendant has already received an administrative penalty or 
formal caution for a previous offence. 
 

e) The defendant is subject to a prosecution by another agency for a 
similar offence. 
 

f) The defendant has previous convictions for similar offences. 
 
g) Where there is evidence that the defendant has used alias/es to 
claim benefit. 
 

4. Formal Caution 
 
4.1 A formal caution is an oral or written warning given, to a person who has 

committed an offence, as an alternative to prosecution. In any case 
selected for caution there must be evidence to prove the offence, an 
admission at an interview under caution and the person being cautioned 
must give informed consent. A formal caution is a deterrent, and does not 
affect the recipient except if by re-offending when it may be cited in court 
on conviction for future offences. Where a caution has been declined the 
case must then be considered for criminal proceedings. 

 
4.2 The Fraud Manager, or other delegated Fraud Team Member in 

consultation with the Head of Customer Services will offer a formal caution 
in appropriate cases. These will include:  

 
a) A first offence that was disclosed by the defendant at the first 
opportunity.  
 

b) A first offence where the overpayment does not exceed £2,000 
unless there are exceptional circumstances.  In such circumstances 

505



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 6 

the agreement of the Head Of Service must be sought before such a 
sanction is offered. 

 
C)  Where a genuine mistake or oversight contributed to the offence. 

 
5.        Administrative Penalty 
 
5.1 Section 115a of the Social Security Administration Act 1992, as amended 

by section 15 of the Social Security Administration (Fraud) Act 1997 
introduced financial administrative penalties as an alternative to 
prosecution. A financial penalty amounting to 30% of the gross adjudicated 
overpayment can be offered in a fraud case if the following conditions are 
met: 

 
a) There is a recoverable overpayment of benefit as defined by the  
Social Security Administration Act 1992 
 

b) The cause of the overpayment is attributed to an act or omission on 
the part of the defendant, and 
 

c) There are grounds for instituting criminal proceedings for an offence 
relating to the overpayment upon which a penalty is based.  

 
d) The person to offered such a penalty has the ability to repay it 

within a reasonable timescale and the imposition of such a penalty 
will not over-burden them if they have existing priority debts. 

 
  e)  Penalties will be only be offered where the overpayment does not 

exceed £2000 unless there are exceptional circumstances.  In 
such circumstances the agreement of the Head Of Service must 
be sought before such a penalty is offered. 

 
5.2 If the offender declines the offer of an administrative penalty or the 

offender withdraws his agreement to pay the penalty the case must  be 
considered for prosecution.  Where the person signs the agreement but 
then defaults on repayment of the Penalty this will also be treated as a 
withdrawal of the agreement by that person. 

 
5.3 The Fraud Manager or other delegated Fraud Team officer in consultation 

with the Head of Customer Services will offer an Administrative Penalty in 
appropriate cases. These will include:  

 
a) An offence where the overpayment is significant enough to 

consider that the claimant be prosecuted, but also dependant on 
the length of time over, which the overpayment arose. 

 
b) Whether or not there has been an admission at an interview under 

caution. 
 

c)  What action the Department of Social Security is taking on any part 

506



  

Version 4 Jan 2008 7 

of the benefit it administers. 
 
 
6.        Recording Sanctions and Prosecutions 
 
6.1 For an effective regime of sanctions to be successful it is highly desirable 

that accurate records of all convictions, administrative penalties and formal 
cautions are maintained. This will enable the correct decisions to be made 
taking full account of the defendant’s background. Therefore, it is important 
that an acceptance record of each is maintained.  

 
6.2 All sanctions must be recorded by the Council and copies of all documents 

used to consider and issue the sanction retained.  Relevant paperwork 
must also be sent to the Department for Work and Pensions to update the 
central database on sanction activity. 

 
7. Publicity   
 
7.1 It is the Council’s intention to positively promote this policy as well as the 

outcome of any prosecutions, which will deter others from fraudulent 
activity.  
 

8. Reporting and Review 
 
8.1 Summary information on cases and action taken will be reported to the 

Head of Customer Services and the Executive Councillor for Finance on a 
quarterly basis. 

 
8.2 This policy will be reviewed annually or when changes in legislation require 

it. 
 
 
 

507



508

This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET 12TH JUNE 2008 
 

REPRESENTATION ON ORGANISATIONS/ 
APPOINTMENT OF CHAMPIONS 

(Report by the Head of Administration) 
 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Council’s representation on a variety of organisations is reviewed 

annually.  Listed in the attached schedule are those organisations to 
which the Council has been invited to nominate representatives for 
2008/09. 

 
1.2 At the same time, Members’ attention is drawn to a vacancy as 

Training Champion (previously former Councillor K Reynolds) and to 
a request from Councillor L M Simpson to step down as Oxmoor 
Champion. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 The Cabinet are therefore invited to make their nominations where 

required to the organisations referred to in the schedule appended 
hereto and to appoint new Champions for Oxmoor and for Training. 

 
2.2 In the event that changes are required to the District Council’s 

representation during the course of the year the Chief Executive, after 
consultation with the Deputy Leader and Vice Chairman of the 
Cabinet, be authorised to nominate alternative representatives as 
necessary. 

 
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
File held in the Administration Division of the Central Services Directorate. 
 
 
Contact Officer:   Helen Taylor, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
   (01480) 388008 

Agenda Item 14

509



510

This page is intentionally left blank



  

 

R
E
P
R
E
S
E
N
T
A
T
IO
N
 O
N
 O
R
G
A
N
IS
A
T
IO
N
S
 2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

 
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

A
IC

H
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 -
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

re
im

b
u
rs
e
s
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 

M
rs
 M

 W
h
e
e
le
r 

C
llr
. 
M
rs
 M

 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

A
rc
h
iv
e
s
 C

o
u
n
ty
 A
d
v
is
o
ry
 G

ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 -
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
, 
W
is
b
e
c
h
, 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 

C
llr
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 

A
rt
s
 F
o
ru
m
 f
o
r 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 a
n
d
 P
e
te
rb
o
ro
u
g
h
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

a
n
d
 H

e
a
d
 o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
&
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
: 
 

 C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

a
n
d
 H
e
a
d
 o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 
&
 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 H
e
a
lt
h
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
: 
  

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 A
g
e
 C

o
n
c
e
rn
 L
ia
is
o
n
 C

o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

A
G
M
 -
 C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 1
 

 
H
a
lf
 y
e
a
rl
y
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
 -
 E
ly
 1
 

 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
/f
o
ru
m
 –
 C
h
a
tt
e
ri
s
 2
 

 
M
e
m
b
e
rs
 m

e
e
ti
n
g
/f
o
ru
m
 –
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 1
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C

h
a
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
C
o
m
m
e
rc
e
 –
  

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 A
re
a
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C

o
u
n
ty
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 –
  

M
e
m
b
e
r 
F
o
ru
m
 o
n
 W

a
s
te
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 C

 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

C
llr
 C
 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

(S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G

ro
u
p
 f
o
r 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 E
n
te
rp
ri
s
e
 A
g
e
n
c
y
) 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 H

o
ri
z
o
n
s
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C

 B
a
te
s
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 M

u
s
e
u
m
s
 A
d
v
is
o
ry
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
 (
A
G
M
) 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 

C
llr
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 O

ld
e
r 
P
e
o
p
le
's
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 R

 W
e
s
t 

C
llr
 R
 W

e
s
t 

C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 S
a
fe
ty
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

511



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

 

C
ro
m
w
e
ll 
M
u
s
e
u
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
C
tt
e
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 M

 G
 B
a
k
e
r 
a
n
d
 

T
 D
 S
a
n
d
e
rs
o
n
 

C
llr
s
 M

 G
 B
a
k
e
r 
a
n
d
 

T
 D

 S
a
n
d
e
rs
o
n
 

D
IA
L
 D

ru
g
lin
k
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 M

 W
h
e
e
le
r 

C
llr
. 
M
rs
 M

 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

E
a
s
t 
o
f 
E
n
g
la
n
d
 –
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

7
/8
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C

 B
a
te
s
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
s
: 
  
 

C
llr
s
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

a
n
d
 

L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 a
n
d
 

C
llr
 G

 H
a
rp
e
r 
 

[L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
F
e
n
la
n
d
 

D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il]
) 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

(S
u
b
s
ti
tu
te
s
: 
  
 

C
llr
s
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

a
n
d
 

L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 a
n
d
 

C
llr
 G

 H
a
rp
e
r 
 

[L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
F
e
n
la
n
d
 

D
is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il]
) 

E
n
v
a
r 
L
td
, 
S
t 
Iv
e
s
 C

o
m
p
o
s
ti
n
g
 F
a
c
ili
ty
 –
  

S
it
e
 L
ia
is
o
n
 F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M

 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 

C
llr
 M

 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 

G
re
a
t 
F
e
n
 P
ro
je
c
t 
S
te
e
ri
n
g
 G

ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

G
re
a
te
r 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
 D

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C

 B
a
te
s
 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

H
o
m
e
 I
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
A
g
e
n
c
y
 –
 A
d
v
is
o
ry
 C

o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/5
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 B
u
s
in
e
s
s
 A
g
a
in
s
t 
C
ri
m
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 F
re
e
m
e
n
's
’ 
C
h
a
ri
ty
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

1
1
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 D
 F
e
ll 

C
llr
 J
 D
 F
e
ll 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 C

it
iz
e
n
s
’ 
A
d
v
ic
e
 B
u
re
a
u
**
**
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
 –
 4
 

T
ru
s
te
e
 B
o
a
rd
 –
 1
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
  

(G
e
n
e
ra
l 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
) 
a
n
d
  

M
r 
T
 F
 H
a
y
w
a
rd
 

(T
ru
s
te
e
 B
o
a
rd
) 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
  

(G
e
n
e
ra
l 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
) 
a
n
d
  

M
r 
T
 F
 H
a
y
w
a
rd
 

(T
ru
s
te
e
 B
o
a
rd
) 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 F
e
d
e
ra
ti
o
n
 o
f 
V
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
B
u
re
a
u
x
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 F
lo
o
d
 F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

 
O
&
S
 (
P
&
F
) 

1
 

S
 &
 T
 

 
 

H
u
n
tin
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 L
o
c
a
l S

tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 –
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 a
n
d
 Y
o
u
n
g
 P
e
o
p
le
 

 
6
 

 
C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

C
u
lt
u
re
 a
n
d
 L
e
is
u
re
 

 
4
 

 
C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

 
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
ic
 F
o
ru
m
 

 
8
 

 
C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 C

 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

C
llr
 C
 R
 H
y
a
m
s
 

 
 

G
ro
w
th
 &
 I
n
fr
a
s
tr
u
c
tu
re
 

 
4
 

 
n
/a
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

 
 

H
e
a
lt
h
, 
H
o
u
s
in
g
 &
 S
o
c
ia
l 
C
a
re
 

 
 

 
C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

 
 

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
 a
n
d
 A
c
c
e
s
s
 

 
1
 

 
C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 P
e
rs
o
n
a
l 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 D

e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

L
e
a
rn
in
g
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 C
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 R

e
g
io
n
a
l 
C
o
lle
g
e
 B
o
a
rd
 –
 u
n
ti
l 
1
/3
/0
9
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 S
o
c
ie
ty
 f
o
r 
th
e
 B
lin
d
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
 -
 A
m
b
u
ry
 R
o
a
d
 D
a
y
 C
e
n
tr
e
, 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

H
u
n
tin
g
d
o
n
s
h
ir
e
 S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

4
/5
 v
a
ri
o
u
s
 l
o
c
a
ti
o
n
s
 –
 

h
o
s
te
d
 b
y
 m

a
in
 p
a
rt
n
e
rs
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 C

 B
a
te
s
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
  

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

C
llr
 I
 C
 B
a
te
s
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
  

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

512



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

 

In
te
rn
a
l 
D
ra
in
a
g
e
 B
o
a
rd
s
 -
 u
n
ti
l 
1
.6
.0
5
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

A
lc
o
n
b
u
ry
 a
n
d
 E
lli
n
g
to
n
 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 K
 M

 B
a
k
e
r,
 

M
 G

 B
a
k
e
r,
 

L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

M
e
s
s
rs
 C
 A
lle
n
 a
n
d
 

E
 K
 H

e
a
d
s
 

C
llr
s
 K
 M

 B
a
k
e
r,
 

M
 G

 B
a
k
e
r,
 

L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

M
e
s
s
rs
 C
 A
lle
n
 a
n
d
 

E
 K
 H
e
a
d
s
 

 
 

B
e
n
w
ic
k
 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

B
lu
n
ti
s
h
a
m
 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

C
o
n
in
g
to
n
 a
n
d
 H

o
lm

e
 

 
1
/2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 P

 G
 M

it
c
h
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

J
 S
 W

a
tt
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

C
llr
s
 P

 G
 M

it
c
h
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

J
 S
 W

a
tt
 t
o
g
e
th
e
r 
w
it
h
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 F
ir
s
t 
(H

o
llo
w
) 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 F
o
u
rt
h
 (
M
id
d
le
 M

o
o
r)
 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 
P
 
A
 
S
w
a
le
s
 
a
n
d
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

C
llr
 
P
 
A
 
S
w
a
le
s
 
a
n
d
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
, 
U
p
w
o
o
d
 a
n
d
 G

re
a
t 
R
a
v
e
le
y
 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

C
llr
s
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 
a
n
d
 

 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
  

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

S
a
w
tr
y
 

 
1
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 
a
n
d
 

 L
 W

 M
c
G
u
ir
e
, 
 

 M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
, 
 *
**
  

C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
a
w
tr
y
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

C
llr
s
 J
 E
 G

a
rn
e
r 
a
n
d
 

 L
 W

 M
c
G
u
ir
e
, 
 

 M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
, 
 *
**
  

C
h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
a
w
tr
y
 

P
a
ri
s
h
 C
o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

 
 

S
u
tt
o
n
 a
n
d
 M

e
p
a
l 

 
2
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

T
h
e
 R

a
m
s
e
y
 

 
1
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r,
  

P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r,
  

P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 a
n
d
 

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
 

 
 

W
a
rb
o
y
s
, 
S
o
m
e
rs
h
a
m
 a
n
d
 P
id
le
y
 

 
2
/3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 P
 M

 D
 G

o
d
fr
e
y
 

a
n
d
 M

 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
  

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
  

C
llr
s
 P
 M

 D
 G

o
d
fr
e
y
 

a
n
d
 M

 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
  

M
r 
I 
L
a
c
k
  

 
 

W
h
it
tl
e
s
e
y
 

 
4
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

M
r 
C
 A
lle
n
 

 
 

W
o
o
d
w
a
lt
o
n
 

 
1
/2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 

C
llr
 J
 T
 B
e
ll 

L
it
tl
e
 G

ra
n
s
d
e
n
 A
e
ro
d
ro
m
e
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 C

o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 R

 J
 W

e
s
t 

C
llr
 R
 J
 W

e
s
t 

L
o
c
a
l 
A
re
a
 A
g
re
e
m
e
n
t 
B
o
a
rd
 f
o
r 
C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

L
o
c
a
l 
G
o
v
e
rn
m
e
n
t 
A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 –
 

 
C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 
 

G
e
n
e
ra
l 
A
s
s
e
m
b
ly
 

 
 

 
L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

L
e
a
d
e
r 
o
f 
th
e
 C
o
u
n
c
il 

 
 

R
u
ra
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
 

 
2
 

 
C
llr
 K
 M

 B
a
ke
r 

C
llr
 K
 M

 B
a
ke
r 

  
 

S
tr
a
te
g
ic
 A
v
ia
ti
o
n
 S
p
e
c
ia
l 
In
te
re
s
t 
G
ro
u
p
 

 
4
 

 
C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 H

o
m
e
s
 G

ro
u
p
 *
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

8
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 M

 G
 B
a
k
e
r,
  

M
rs
 M

 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
, 

K
 J
 C

h
u
rc
h
ill
, 
a
n
d
  

M
rs
 C
 G
o
d
le
y
 a
n
d
  

M
r 
J
 B
u
rn
is
to
n
 

C
llr
s
 M

 G
 B
a
k
e
r,
  

M
rs
 M

 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
, 

K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
, 
a
n
d
  

P
 K
 U
rs
e
ll 
a
n
d
  

1
 v
a
c
a
n
c
y
 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 H

o
m
e
s
 *
* 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

  
  
  
 

L
u
m
in
u
s
 (
p
a
re
n
t)
 

 
5
 

 
C
llr
 K
 B
a
k
e
r 

C
llr
 K
 B
a
k
e
r 

  
  
  
  

O
a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 (
s
h
e
lt
e
re
d
/c
h
a
ri
ta
b
le
) 
  
 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 I
 R

 M
u
ir
 

C
llr
 I
 R
 M

u
ir
 

M
id
d
le
 L
e
v
e
l 
C
o
m
m
is
s
io
n
e
rs
 –
 u
n
ti
l 
1
.6
.0
8
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
 (
a
n
d
 A
n
n
u
a
l 
In
s
p
e
c
ti
o
n
) 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

M
rs
 J
 D
a
y
 

513



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 

S
a
ili
n
g
 

A
c
a
d
e
m
y
 

P
ro
je
c
t 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

a
t 

G
ra
fh
a
m
 W

a
te
r 
C
e
n
tr
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 a
t 
G
ra
fh
a
m
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
r 
A
 H

 D
u
b
e
rl
y
 

M
r 
A
 H
 D
u
b
e
rl
y
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 P
a
n
e
ls
 -
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
 

 
 

 
E
y
n
e
s
b
u
ry
 

 
6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
N
o
rt
h
 H

u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 t
h
e
 O

x
m
o
o
r 
S
R
B
 

P
ro
je
c
t 
A
re
a
 a
n
d
 a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
ta
rg
e
te
d
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 

N
o
rt
h
 &
 E
a
s
t 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
) 

 
6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
s
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

a
n
d
 

J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

 
R
a
m
s
e
y
 (
in
c
lu
d
in
g
 B
u
ry
 a
n
d
 U

p
w
o
o
d
) 

 
6
 

S
  
&
 T
 

C
llr
 I
 R
 M

u
ir
 

C
llr
. 
S
w
a
le
s
 

N
e
ig
h
b
o
u
rh
o
o
d
 P
o
lic
in
g
 P
a
n
e
ls
  

(f
o
rm
e
rl
y
 P
o
lic
e
 L
o
c
a
l 
C
o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
o
n
 G
ro
u
p
s
) 
 –
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 
 

E
y
n
e
s
b
u
ry
 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

 
 

O
x
m
o
o
r 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

 
 

Y
a
x
le
y
 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 M

rs
 M

 B
a
n
e
rj
e
e
 

v
a
c
a
n
t 

 
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 

 
3
 

 
C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

 
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
 

 
4
 

 
C
llr
 P
 H
 D
a
k
e
rs
 

C
llr
.M

rs
 J
  
A
 D
e
w
 

 
 

S
t 
N
e
o
ts
 

 
3
/4
 

 
C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

O
x
m
o
o
r 
C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 A
c
ti
o
n
 G

ro
u
p
 (
O
C
A
G
) 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
. 
J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

O
x
m
o
o
r 
O
p
p
o
rt
u
n
it
ie
s
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 F
o
ru
m
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
 

C
llr
. 
J
 J
 D
u
tt
o
n
 

P
e
n
s
io
n
s
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 G

ro
u
p
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

2
/3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 

C
llr
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 

R
a
m
s
e
y
 A
re
a
 P
a
rt
n
e
rs
h
ip
 B
o
a
rd
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

R
e
d
 T
ile
 W

in
d
 F
a
rm

 C
o
m
m
u
n
it
y
 F
u
n
d
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

R
o
a
d
 S
a
fe
ty
 C

o
m
m
it
te
e
s
 –
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 
 
N
o
rm

a
n
 C

ro
s
s
 A
re
a
  

 
1
2
 

 
C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
  

J
 S
 W

a
tt
 

C
llr
s
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
  

J
 S
 W

a
tt
 

 
 
S
t.
 I
v
e
s
 A
re
a
  

 
6
 

 
C
llr
s
, 
M
 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 

a
n
d
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 a
n
d
  

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

C
llr
s
, 
M
 F
 N
e
w
m
a
n
 

a
n
d
 T
 V
 R
o
g
e
rs
 a
n
d
  

M
rs
 J
 C
h
a
n
d
le
r 

S
t.
 N

e
o
ts
 M

u
s
e
u
m
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 

v
a
c
a
n
t 

S
t.
 N

e
o
ts
 V
o
lu
n
te
e
r 
B
u
re
a
u
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

5
 &
 A
G
M
 

S
 &
 T
 

M
rs
 P
 J
 L
o
n
g
fo
rd
 

C
llr
 D
 H
a
rt
y
 

S
ti
lt
o
n
 

C
h
ild
re
n
 

a
n
d
 

Y
o
u
n
g
 

P
e
o
p
le
's
 

F
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 

A
s
s
o
c
ia
ti
o
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 

S
 &
 T
  

C
llr
 P
 G

 M
it
c
h
e
ll 

C
llr
 P
 G

 M
it
c
h
e
ll 

T
h
e
 L
a
w
 C

e
n
tr
e
, 
H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
  

C
a
b
in
e
t 

6
 -
 H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

S
 &
 T
 

O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

re
im

b
u
rs
e
s
 t
ra
v
e
lli
n
g
 

M
rs
 M

 W
h
e
e
le
r 

V
a
c
a
n
c
y
 

514



O
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
/ 

A
p
p
o
in
ti
n
g
 P
a
n
e
l 

A
p
p
ro
x
 N
o
. 
o
f 
M
e
e
ti
n
g
s
 

P
e
r 
A
n
n
u
m
 

A
ll
o
w
a
n
c
e
 P
a
y
a
b
le
 

S
 –
 S
u
b
s
is
te
n
c
e
 

T
 -
 T
ra
v
e
ll
in
g
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
7
/2
0
0
8
 

R
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
(s
) 
fo
r 

2
0
0
8
/2
0
0
9
 

 

T
o
w
n
 C

e
n
tr
e
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m
e
n
t 
In
it
ia
ti
v
e
s
 –
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

 
S
 &
 T
 

 
 

 
 

H
u
n
ti
n
g
d
o
n
 

 
1
2
 

 
C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

C
llr
 J
 M

 S
a
d
le
r 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
 

C
llr
 L
 M

 S
im

p
s
o
n
) 

 
 

 
R
a
m
s
e
y
 

 
1
2
 

 
C
llr
 I
 R

 M
u
ir
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
 

C
llr
 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
) 

C
llr
 P
 A
 S
w
a
le
s
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
 

C
llr
 I
 R
 M

u
ir
) 

 
 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
 

 
1
2
 

 
C
llr
 D

 B
 D
e
w
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
  

C
llr
 M

rs
 D
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
) 

C
llr
 D
 B
 D
e
w
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
  

C
llr
  
M
rs
 D
 R
e
y
n
o
ld
s
) 

 
 

S
t 
N
e
o
ts
 

 
1
2
 

 
C
llr
 K
 J
 C
h
u
rc
h
ill
 

(D
e
p
u
ty
: 
v
a
c
a
n
t)
 

C
llr
. 
M
rs
 M

 J
 T
h
o
m
a
s
 

T
ru
s
te
e
s
 o
f 
K
im

b
o
lt
o
n
 S
c
h
o
o
l 
F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

C
a
b
in
e
t 

3
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 J
 A
 G

ra
y
 

C
llr
 J
 A
 G

ra
y
 

C
a
m
b
ri
d
g
e
s
h
ir
e
 C

o
n
s
u
lt
a
ti
v
e
 G

ro
u
p
  

fo
r 
th
e
 F
le
tt
o
n
 B
ri
c
k
w
o
rk
s
 I
n
d
u
s
tr
y
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 E
 R
 B
u
tl
e
r 
a
n
d
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

L
it
tl
e
 B
a
rf
o
rd
 P
o
w
e
r 
S
ta
ti
o
n
 L
ia
is
o
n
 C

tt
e
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 A
 H
a
n
s
a
rd
 a
n
d
  

D
ir
e
c
to
r 
o
f 
O
p
e
ra
ti
o
n
a
l 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

 

N
e
e
d
in
g
w
o
rt
h
 Q

u
a
rr
y
 L
o
c
a
l 
L
ia
is
o
n
 C

tt
e
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

4
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
 
T
 
V
 
R
o
g
e
rs
 
a
n
d
 

M
r 
K
 R

e
y
n
o
ld
s
 

 

S
t 
Iv
e
s
/F
e
n
 D

ra
y
to
n
 Q

u
a
rr
ie
s
 R

e
s
to
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
ft
e
r 
u
s
e
 

fo
ru
m
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

2
 

S
 &
 T
 

C
llr
s
 D

 D
e
w
 a
n
d
 

 S
 
J
 
C
ri
s
w
e
ll 
to
g
e
th
e
r 

w
it
h
 

H
e
a
d
 o
f 
P
la
n
n
in
g
 S
e
rv

ic
e
s
 

 

W
a
rb
o
y
s
 L
a
n
d
fi
ll 
L
o
c
a
l 
L
ia
is
o
n
 C

tt
e
e
 

L
ic
e
n
s
in
g
 &
 P
ro
te
c
ti
o
n
 

 
 

H
e
a
d
 

o
f 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
ta
l 

H
e
a
lt
h
 

S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 

a
n
d
 

o
f 

P
la
n
n
in
g
 
S
e
rv
ic
e
s
 
(o
r 

th
e
ir
 n
o
m
in
e
e
s
) 

C
llr
 P
 L
 E
 B
u
c
k
n
e
ll 

 

 * 
F
iv
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 D

is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
fr
o
m
 w
h
ic
h
 o
n
e
 w
ill
 b
e
 n
o
m
in
a
te
d
 t
o
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H

H
P
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 L
u
m
in
u
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 O

a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
 

**
 

F
iv
e
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 b
e
 a
p
p
o
in
te
d
 d
ir
e
c
tl
y
 b
y
 t
h
e
 H

H
P
 B
o
a
rd
 t
o
 L
u
m
in
u
s
 a
n
d
 t
h
e
 O

a
k
 F
o
u
n
d
a
ti
o
n
. 

**
* 

N
o
m
in
a
ti
o
n
 s
h
o
u
ld
 b
e
 C

h
a
ir
m
a
n
 o
f 
S
a
w
tr
y
 P
a
ri
s
h
 C

o
u
n
c
il 
a
n
d
 n
o
t 
n
a
m
e
d
 i
n
d
iv
id
u
a
l.
 

**
**
 

In
 n
o
m
in
a
ti
n
g
 t
w
o
 r
e
p
re
s
e
n
ta
ti
v
e
s
 t
o
 t
h
e
 B
u
re
a
u
 i
n
 t
h
is
 w
a
y
 t
h
e
 D

is
tr
ic
t 
C
o
u
n
c
il 
is
 a
c
c
e
p
ti
n
g
 i
ts
 r
e
s
p
o
n
s
ib
ili
ti
e
s
 a
s
 a
 m

e
m
b
e
r 
o
rg
a
n
is
a
ti
o
n
 

515



516

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	3 Treasury Management Annual Report 2007/08
	4 Budget and MTP Process 2009-2014
	5 The East of England Plan - revision of the Regional Spatial Strategy for the East of England
	6 Local Development Framework - the Core Strategy for submission to the Secretary of State
	Sub_Vol1_30-05-08
	Sub_Vol2_02-06-08

	7 Prosperous Places: Taking Forward the Sub National Review of Economic Development and Regeneration consulation document
	8 Eco-Towns: Living a greener future - response to the department of communities & Local Government consultation
	9 Earith Conservation Area: Boundary Review and Character Assessment Statement
	earithAppendix 1

	10 The Hemingfords Conservation Area: Boundary Review and Character Assessment Statement
	hemsAppendix 1

	11 Growing Success - Performance Monitoring
	12 Corporate Equality Policy: Action Plan progress
	Appendix 1 CEP action plan progress
	CEPappendix 2 Action Plan 2008 09
	CEPappendix 3 Results from EIAs
	CEPappendix 4 EIA timetable Year 2 2008 2009

	13 Benefit fraud prosecution policy and procedures
	HDC Benefits Prosecution Policy 2008

	14 Representatives on Organisations 2008/09
	Reps on Organisations 08-09


